# UNCLASSIFIED

# AD NUMBER

# AD905910

# NEW LIMITATION CHANGE

TO

Approved for public release, distribution unlimited

# FROM

Distribution authorized to U.S. Gov't. agencies only; Test and Evaluation; MAR 1972. Other requests shall be referred to Army Aviation Systems Command, St Louis, MO 63166.

# AUTHORITY

USAAVSCOM ltr, 12 Nov 1973

THIS PAGE IS UNCLASSIFIED



AD\_\_\_\_\_\_RDTE PROJECT NO. 1X123625D192 AVSCOM PROJECT NOS. 70-02 and 71-17 USAASTA PROJECT NOS. 70-02 and 71-17

# ARMY PRELIMINARY EVALUATION I

# AND

# **RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACCEPTANCE TEST I**

# **AH-56A CHEYENNE COMPOUND HELICOPTER**

FINAL REPORT

C FILE COPY

AD90591

FLOYD L. DOMINICK JR. PROJECT ENGINEER

GARY L. BENDER PROJECT ENGINEER

RANDY D. McCLELLAN ENGINEER GARY C. HALL LTC, TC US ARMY PROJECT OFFICER/PILOT

PAUL G. STRINGER MAJ, CE US ARMY PROJECT PILOT DDC MARVIN W. BUSS PROJECT PILOT DEC 26 1972

**MARCH 1972** 

Distribution limited to US Government agencies <u>only</u>; test and evaluation, March 1972. Other requests for this document must be referred to the Commanding General, AVSCOM, ATTN: AMSAV-EF, PO Box 209, St. Louis, Missouri 63166:

US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS TEST ACTIVITY EDWARDS AIR FORCE BASE, CALIFORNIA 93523

# DISCLAIMER NOTICE

The findings of this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

## **REPRODUCTION LIMITATIONS**

Reproduction of this document in whole or in part is prohibited except with permission obtained through the Commanding General, AVSCOM, ATTN: AMSAV-EF, PO Box 209, St. Louis, Missouri 63166. DDC is authorized to reproduce the document for United States Government purposes.

## DIS->>>SITION INSTRUCTIONS

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.

# TRADE NAMES

The use of trade names in this report does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use of the commercial hardware and software.



16 RDT/E-1-X-123625-D-192, USAAVSCOM-78-02 RDTE PROJECT NO. 1X123625D192 AVSCOM\_PROJECT NOS. 70-02 and 71-17 USAASTA PROJECT NOS. 70-02 and 71-17 -02, VSAASTA - 71 - 17ARMY PRELIMINARY EVALUATION I RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACCEPTANCE TEST 1, AH-56A CHEYENNE COMPOUND HELICOPTER . FINAL REPET. 3\$ Jan - 23 Dec 71, GARY C./HALL FLOYD L. DOMINICK JR. , GARY L. BENDER PAUL G./STRINGER RANDY D./McCLELLAN, (II) MAR 346p. Distribution limited to US Government agencies only; test and evaluation, March 1972. Other requests for this document must referred to the Commanding General, AVSCOM, be ATTN: AMSAV-EF, PO Box 209, St. Louis, Missouri US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS TEST ACTIVITY EDWARDS AIR FORCE BASE, CALIFORNIA 93523 iΗ \$36 471

# FOREWORD

During the testing of the AH-56A compound helicopter at Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona, the aircraft and special instrumentation were maintained by Lockheed-California Company personnel. Structural engineering support was provided by the Flight Standards and Qualification Directorate, US Army Aviation Systems Command.

i v

÷

### ABSTRACT

The Army Preliminary Evaluation I and a portion of the Research and Development Acceptance Test I were conducted periodically on the AH-56A Cheyenne compound helicopter by the US Army Aviation Systems Test Activity between 30 January and 23 December 1971. These engineering tests were divided into five distinct phases to permit Army evaluation of the aircraft at various stages of the contractor development program. Primary test objectives were to gather stability and control data to provide an early assessment of the AH-56A, to assist in determining flight envelopes for future Army tests, and to examine previously identified problem areas. None of the rotor dynamic instabilities previously encountered in the contractor's development program were noted during these tests. Lateral control migration with airspeed was not objectionable. The capability of the pusher propeller to provide rapid deceleration and to control airspeed independently of dive angle is an excellent feature. Five deficiencies and 54 shortcomings were identified. The deficiencies are (1) excessive pilot workload due to unacceptable static lateral-directional stability characteristics at low airspeed seriously impairs the capability to operate at minimum altitudes unaffected by conditions of darkness or adverse weather, (2) uncommanded aircraft motion and loss of control during some maneuvering flight conditions, (3) rapid rate of rotor speed decay following simulated engine failures which allows the rotor speed to drop below the present transient limit, (4) inadequate directional control margins in sideward flight, and (5) excessive vibration levels in portions of the flight envelope. Correction of the deficiencies should be a prerequisite for an airworthiness release for operational Army aviators, and correction of the shortcomings is desirable. Two deficiencies warrant a reduction of the flight envelope size for future Army tests until correction of those deficiencies is accomplished. Further testing of the AH-56A is recommended.



ş

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY HEADQUARTERS, US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS COMMAND PO BOX 209, ST. LOUIS, MD 63166

2 2 JUN 1972

AMSAV-EFT

SUBJECT: Army Prelimitary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56 Cheyenne Compound Helicopter

Project Manager Advanced Attack Helicopter PO Box 209 St. Louis, Missouri 63166

1. The purpose of this letter is to transmit with the subject report, AVSCOM comments on the deficiencies, shortcomings and recommendations presented by the test agency as the result of their airworthiness testing of the AH-56. The developmental nature of the test vehicle must be kept in mind, however, successful completion of contractor and Army test efforts are intended to substantiate airworthiness of the vehicle for production consideration except where configuration changes of the production design preclude substantiation. Additionally, it should be noted that due to funding and schedule restraints on the restructured RD&E contract, the amount of airworthiness testing conducted by the Army on the AH-56 to date is somewhat less than for normal programs.

2. Analysis of the deficiencies listed in paragraph 148 is as follows:

a. The uncommanded aircraft motion and occasional loss of control during maneuvering flight resulting from blade moment stall is the most serious deficiency. Even though safety may be enhanced by furthen restricting the flight envelope in terms of reduced maneuver load factors, correction of this problem is a valid prerequisite for airworthiness release to operational Army units. The upcoming program with the advanced mechanical control system is intended to provide acceptable solutions to this aircraft limitation.

b. Although important vibration improvements have been made throughout the AH-56 development program, compliance with specification vibration requirements remains essential to an adequate reliable weapon system with proper man-machine interface. SUBJECT: Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56 Cheyenne Compound Helicopter

c. The severity of the poor static lateral-directional stability below 100 knots is dependent on the amount of nap-of-the-earth operation intended under night or adverse weather conditions. Since this problem is the culmination of several stability weaknesses (directional stability, dihedral effect, and side-force characteristics) improvement in any one could provide an airworthy vehicle for such low speed, poor visibility operation with acceptable pilot workload.

d. The incorporation of the automatic propeller pitch reduction with low rotor speed provides a tool for potential elimination of the high rotor speed decay deficiency thru proper optimization of the system. Modified pilot technique from normal helicopter operations is not unreasonable for a compound helicopter. Further understanding and test of the rotor system may permit a reduction in the minimum permissible RPM operation range. The current 15% operations limit is quite small compared to other Army helicopters. Therefore, several alternatives appear open to eliminate this deficiency.

e. The sideward flight control limitations appear to be the easier of the stated deficiencies to eliminate in that additional tail rotor blade angle would provide more control for the same pedal displacement. Evaluation of a 2-1/2 degree increase in travel is part of the Armed Helicopter Requirements Evaluation. This includes testing at the more critical high altitude condition. The safety of flight release for these tests did not include the recommended reduction in the maximum allowed speed per the subject report.

3. The shortcomings, specification nonconformance and recommendations, paragraphs 149, 150, 151 and 153 thru 167 respectively, are covered in the inclosure to this letter. We have commented in these areas only if we disagreed with the findings as stated in the report or felt additional commentary was necessary for emphasis. It is noted that the majority of the shortcomings identified fall into the category of handling qualities correctable thru control system optimization or reliability and maintainability.

4. The report will be released as is for publication and distribution on 6 July 1972 unless you desire to make any additions to it by footnotes or indorsement.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

1 Incl as

AMSAV-EFT

In C Georg JOHN C. GEARY

Colonel, GS Director of Research, Development and Engineering

### AH-56A APE I and RDAT I

#### Review Comments

1. Paragraph 149 (Shortcomings Affecting Mission Accomplishment).

a. Subpara a thru f and o - The prime area for improvement as relates to these items is one of control system optimization and as such should be pursued in conjunction with the Advanced Mechanical Control System (AMCS) effort.

b. Subpara g - It is agreed that the static longitudinal stability is weak above 150 KCAS; however, it is not considered deserving of any special emphasis beyond that relating or resulting from the AMCS effort.

c. Subpara h thru j - It is agreed that the collective results of these items contribute to the objectionable lateral-directional characteristics; however, the weak side force characteristic in itself is not considered a problem of such significance as to require correction nor is the inherent sideslip considered excessive. It is of interest to note that the AH-IG exhibits a right inherent sideslip of 2 to 4 degrees in level ball centered flight (turn and bank indicator) and increased to 5 to 5.5 degrees for a true wings level (zero roll angle) attitude. Increased pilot workload is required to optimize rocket firing accuracy by firing at zero sideslip; however, rocket firing accuracy is believed to be adequate.

d. Subpara k and 1 - The specification indicates a preference for a pull force with increasing sideslip; however, it is not in fact a requirement. The longitudinal trim shift with a sideslip should not result in a pull force greater than 10 lb. or a push force greater than 3 lb. which is a MIL-F-8785 specification requirement.

e. Subpara m - Aircraft control by the pilot is essentially related to stick free maneuvering characteristics as opposed to stick fixed; therefore, the emphasis should be placed on improving the stick free characteristics during the AMCS effort (see paragraph 152.6).

f. Subpara n - Emphasis should be placed in minimizing the lift/roll coupling during the AMCS effort.

g. Subpara p - As a minimum, efforts should be iniciated to provide to the pilot a warning of uncommanded aircraft response resulting from blade moment stall. If, for example, the boundary can be defined in terms of collective, normal load factor, and mirspeed, then condition these to activate a warning device.

h. Subpara v and aj - This has also been a problem when accelerating from low speed flight. AVSCOM will investigate possible technique and equipment to monitor atmospheric and engine condition parameters to limit beta input and display power margin for the pilot. i. Subpara x These were random instances where conditions were not repeated in any case. The apparent cause of this problem is the lack of crew station sealing and lack of ECU flow volume.

j. Subpara y thru af and ar thru bb - These .re essentially reliability and maintainability problems, the correction of which can only be made possible at reduced cost if they are uncovered early in the airworthiness qualification program.

k. Subpara ag - finace the engine condition lever is not normally used in flight AVSCor recommends that this control be installed as a throttle type lever adjacent to the left console.

1. Subpara ai - The major portion of this problem lies in the location of this control switch. The use of the alternate  $N_f$  control becomes most critical when gross power changes are made. This creates a requirement that the increase/decrease switch be located on the collective correct head so that it can be operated when the pilot is using his corrective and mate controls. The impact of using the current trim switch for this function and relocating the alternate  $N_f$  selector switch to the definition of the system.

m. Subpar . - The pilot's annunciator panel contains the major portion of the caution lights with the exception of the fault locating panel located on the right rear bulkhead of the copilot/gunner's station. "ecause of the copilot/gunner's task load during a target tracking or firing station, the fault locating panel should be located in the pilot's station in direct view of the pilot. With the panel in this position, the pilot will have all caution lights within his visual envelope. If this change is incorporated, this feature will no longer be a problem.

n. Subpara ao - The restructured program did not provide for EMC/EMI testing as such. These types of tests would be required for complete airworthiness qualification to identify and correct such problems.

2. Paragraph 151 (Specification Nonconformance).

a. Subpara b - It is agreed that MIL-H-8501A may be interpreted such that the longitudinal control position and force stability with respect to speed did not meet the requirement; however, the specification does not indicate whether it is applicable to the local gradients or average gradient and the velocity range from trim is not set forth.

b. Subpara d - It is agreed that the sideslip angles required by MIL-H-8501A were outside the flight envelope released; however, within

the range tested pedal position about zero sideslip was stable and essentially linear while the dihedral effect was essentially zero near 60 kCAS and became slightly positive at increased speeds. Future qualification should be directed toward a greater high speed sideslope envelope.

3. Recommendations - This Command is in general agreement with the recommendations set forth subject to the following additional comments:

1. Para 153 and 154 - Correction of deficiencies and shortcomings and comments chereto are provided under the appropriate paragraph.

b. Para 155 - Additional testing and analysis should be conducted to:

(1) Completely define the blade moment stall boundary and aircraft response to same throughout the flight envelope.

(2) Identify the best pilot technique for recovery from blade moment stall.

(3) Provide a warning to the pilot of impending uncommanded aircraft response due to blade moment stall.

c. Para 156 - The high speed maneuvering capability should be improved to meet the initial normal load factor requirement of 2.0g's at 150 KCAS per the QMR.

d. Para 163 - Testing sufficient to establish a sideward and rearward flight speed envelope for appropriate ranges of gross weight and density altitudes should be conducted.

e. Para 167 - A special design review as such of the tail boom is not warranted until a production design is available.

f. General Comment - The additional flight testing recommended is considered applicable only the the AMCS effort. During such testing, emphasis should be placed on blade moment stall characteristics, optimization of roll response and control characteristics, improved lateral-directional characteristics, improved high speed maneuvering capability, and autorotation/entry. descent, and landing characteristics.



DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY PROJECT MANAGER, ADVANCED ATTACK HELICOPTER, AMC PO BOX 209, ST. LOUIS, MO 63366

AMCPM-AAH-TM-T

8 August 1972

SUBJECT: Indorsement to Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Final Report, March 1972

Commanding General US Army Aviation Systems Command

1. The following analysis pertains to the validity of the major findings, conclusions and recommendations of the Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Report as submitted to Project Manager of the Advanced Attack Helicopter.

2. The objectives of these engineering tests of the AH-56A Cheyenne with the Improved Control System (ICS) were not intended to provide an airworthiness qualification for operational use. The primary objective has been to assess the flying qualities of the AH-56A in order to provide timely information required for successful completion of the development program. Further development of the AH-56A aircraft is scheduled under terms of Development Contract DAAE11-66-C-3667(H) before commitment to a production configuration is made.

3. The five (5) characteristics reported as deficient have been analyzed and the following conclusions reached regarding validity as they affect crew or aircraft safety, mission capability and planned testing:

a. STATIC LATERAL DIRECTIONAL STABILITY

(1) DEFICIENCY: Excessive pilot workload due to the unacceptable static lateral directional stability characteristics below 100 KIAS seriously impairs the capability to operate at minimum altitudes unaffected by conditions of darkness or adverse weather.

(2) ANALYSIS:

(a) Three static lateral directional characteristics (directional stability, dihedral effect, and sideforce) were reported individually as

AMCPM-AAH-TM-T

SUBJECT: Indorsement to Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Final Report, March 1972

shortcomings with improvement desired to enhance the mission capability of the AH-56A. These characteristics have been compared to the same characteristics reported for other helicopter gunships in the US Army inventory. The results of the quantitative comparison are shown in Figures I and II attached. This comparison reveals that the AH-56A is as good or better than these aircraft which were all reported as having satisfactory handling qualities for the armed helicopter mission.

(b) The evaluation of the static lateral directional stability characteristics of the AH-56A was conducted inder day, visual flight conditions only. The conclusion of deficient mission capability is based on projected characteristics under conditions not evaluated during these tests. The front seat pilot location; the non-standard instruments; instrument panel layout and controls; the lack of mission equipment; the lack of a trained copilot/gunner in the other seat and the lack of any simulated mission flight profiles in the test program are all significant factors in considering the validity of this conclusion. Based on the above, the static lateral directional stability characteristics are considered to be incorrectly classified and this deficiency should be deleted.

(c) It is agreed that improvement in the lateral directional stability characteristics of all helicopter gunships will enhance the mission capability under night and/or limited visibility conditions. Furthermore, a need exists for a design and evaluation specification for helicopters that encompasses all handling qualities under these operating conditions. Present planning calls for actual testing of the handling characteristics at airspeeds less than 100 KCAS under simulated instrument meteorological conditions. This testing will be accomplished using both the AH-56A man-in-the-loop simulator and the AMCS configured AH-56A aircraft to evaluate mission capability and requirements.

b. BLADE MOMENT STALL

(1) DEFICIENCL: Uncommanded aircraft motion and loss of control during maneuvering flight.

(2) ANALYSIS:

(a) This is an effect or consequence of entering blade moment stall. The combinations of conditions (gross weight, density altitude airspeed, collective blade angle, load factor, and the size and rate of cyclic control inputs) that define the boundary where blade moment stall will occur ΛΝΟΡΜ-ΛΛΗ-ΤΜ-Τ

SUBJECT: Indorsement to Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Final Report, March 1972

do not allow full utilization of the high airspeed, high-g capability of the AH-56A.

(b) Three (3) additional effects of the blade moment stall deficiency were included in this report as shortcomings. These are: "lack of satisfactory warning of uncommanded pitchup," "inability to perform operational maneuvers at high airspeeds," "poor stick-fixed maneuvering stability." These three shortcomings should be declassified since they are directly related to the stated deficiency.

(c) While we concur that this characteristic is a deficiency, the production control configuration advanced mechanical control system (AMCS) will prevent the unacceptable discraft reaction to blade moment stall by eliminating the rotor blade feathering feedback to the control gyro and will, therefore, correct this deficiency and related shortcomings. Two of the development aircraft are presently being modified to incorporate this control system and will be flight evaluated beginning September 1972.

#### c. KOTOR SPEED DECAY RATE

(1) DEFICIENCY: Rapid rate of rotor speed decay following simulated engine failures which allows the rotor to drop below the present transient limit.

(2) ANALYSIS:

(a) This is an invalid conclusion as reported. The "present transient minimum rotor speed" referenced in this report is not based on any known rotor or flying quality limit. The limit was suggested by the Contractor for flight test purposes because no lower rotor speeds had been evaluated during the envelope expansion tests preceeding this APE. Approaching or exceeding such limits does not substantiate classification as deficient unless a true aircraft or pilot limit is reached. No rotor or flying quality limits have been approached and reported during any of the autorotation entry tests conducted by the Army or Contractor which would seriously impair the safety of the crew aircraft.

(b) The minimum rotor speed experienced during this test was reported in Paragraph 116 as 91% well above the APE transient limit of 85%. The reported decay rates of 10-14% per second are not considered valid for extrapolating the minimum rotor speed after a two second delay because:

AMCPM-AAH-TM-T

SUBJECT: Indorsement to Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Final Report, March 1972

(1) simulated engine failure tests on other rotorcraft have shown that rotor speed decay is a non-linear function with respect to time; (2) decay rate after activation of the Delta Beta system (automatic pusher propellor blade angle reduction) will be reduced significantly.

(c) It is agreed that further testing is required to optimize the time and rate of activation and effect of the Delta Beta system and to evaluate the number, type and adequacy of pilot cues following sudden, complete engine failure for all flight conditions authorized. Thus, the characteristics reported do not constitute a deficiency which impairs safety or operational capability and should be declassified with the recommendation that further testing be conducted.

### d. DIRECTIONAL CONTROL MARGIN

(1) DEFICIENCY: Inadequate directional control margin in sideward flight.

(2) ANALYSIS:

(a) Adequate or inadequate implies that there was a definition of the required performance in the applicable design, requirements or test specification. Since conditions of aircraft configuration, gross weight, density altitude were not defined, which would establish satisfactory mission capability, the classification of deficient is invalid. No actual or impending loss of aircraft control was reported because of this characteristic. At the most critical condition in sideward flight, as reported herein, sufficient directional control power is available to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.6, MIL-H-8501A. Therefore, this deficiency is invalid as developed in the report and should be declassified.

(b) The sideward flight performance has been improved to meet proposed new tactical profiles for anti-armor missions. A tail rotor control change was made subsequent to this test which provides 2° more tail rotor blade angle at the full left directional control position. The results of this change will be evaluated and reported by the Army during subsequent tests.

e. VIBRATION CHARACTERISTICS

(1) DEFICIENCY: Excessive 4/rev and 8/rev vibration levels.

AMCPM-AAH-TM-T

SUBJECT: Indorsement to Army Preliminary Evaluation I and Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Final Report, March 1972

. (2) ANALYSIS: The levels reported in the test aircraft, S/N66-8834 are acknowledged as being high. The unique configuration of this aircraft (pilot's seat in the forward position containing a downward ejection seat and ballast to compensate for lack of nose and belly turrets), must be considered when evaluating the vibration characteristics of AH-56A aircraft. The vibration levels are reported as significantly lower in AH-56A S/N 66-8831, a more representative operational configuration. No impairment of the mission capability has been reported because of vibration levels during weapons testing accomplished in S/N 66-8831 and S/N 66-8832 by the Army, (Army Preliminary Evaluation II, III and Research and Development Acceptance Test I). Therefore, the classification of deficiency due to excessive vibration is considered invalid. No action is considered warranted since operational configurations have not been evaluated as deficient and none of the planned testing on aircraft S/N 66-8834 is impaired by this level of vibration.

4. In summary, four (4) of the five (5) deficiencies reported are incorrectly classified. The one deficiency remaining (Blade Moment Stall) must be corrected for operational acceptability. Continued development including incorporation of the production main rotor control system (Advanced Mechanical Control System) will correct this remaining deficiency. Testing scheduled during CY 73 will confirm this and the other improvements to the handling qualities and performance of the AH-56A.

HENRY H. BOLZ, JR.

Brigadier General, USA Advance Attack Helicopter Project Manager

2 Incl as

÷,

いたというというというないのなど、「「ない」ないないで、

11 COP TESS - SPARE 17 B217 - CRU 5714 ЩЩ ATREPT ATRAPT ATREPT ATRAPT ₩hĦ DESIT: A15. 4700 4350 **4** 248 324 **4**#1 4550 5000 1 22 4 124 THED \*\*\*\* NILLA NILLA . ..... -411 -----ĦH ----..... ΞĒ: 2 1 Ē :11 nttiit ..... -----1 \_ 畊 1-11-56 (19 KT +UII-1C [56 RT 11 e Fille 111 11111 

<u>ен</u> 

and the second second

anter Cours 4

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# INTRODUCTION

1

Background .																•							1
Test Objectives		•			•			•					•						•	•			2
Description			•										•										2
Scope of Test		•	•					•			•			•									4
Methods of Test		•	•	•					•	•	•		•	•		•		•					6
Chronology	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	6

# **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Genera <sup>1</sup>
Flying Qualities
General
Control Positions in Trimmed Forward Flight
Trimmability
Static Longitudinal Stability
Static Lateral-Directional Stability
Maneuvering Stability
General
Stick-Fixed Maneuvering Stability
Stick-Free Maneuvering Stability 17
Lift/Roll Coupling 17
Pitch Due to Sideslin
Riade Moment Stall
Controllability 20
General 78
Longitudinal Controllability <b>70</b>
Longitudinai Controllability
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Directional Controllability
$Cross-Coupling \dots \dots$
Pitch Due to Sideslip
Roll Due to Lift (Lift/Roll Coupling)
Pitch Due to Roll (Pitch/Roll Coupling)
Interaction of Cross-Coupling and Effects
on Primary Axis Response
Dynamic Stability

ن بر حد د

# Page

Takeoff and Landing Characteristics			•••		•	. 29
Hover						. 29
Hover Takeoff						. 29
Hover Landing		•				. 30
Unimproved Area Operations		-			•	. 30
Rolling Takeoff					•	. 31
Run-On Landings						. 31
Lateral Overcontrolling and Pilot-Coupled R	loll	Osc	cillat	ions		. 31
Power Management					•	. 35
Autorotational Entry		•			•	. 35
Pusher Propeller Characteristics			• •		•	. 36
Sideward and Rearward Flight		•		÷ •	•	. 37
Weapons Firing		•		• •		. 37
General		•			•	. 37
XM51 Weapon System					•	. 40
XM52 Weapon System					•	. 41
Folding-Fin Aircraft Rocket Firing				• •	•	. 41
Hover Firing			• •		•	. 41
Ground Operations					•	. 42
Preflight				• •	•	. 42
Ingress and Egress		•		• •	•	. 42
Start and Run-Up					•	. 42
Taxi		•	• •	• •	•	. 43
Cockpit Evaluation		•	• •	• •	•	. 43
Miscellaneous				• •		. 45
General				• •	•	. 45
Airspeed Calibration		•			•	. 45
Vibration Characteristics		•				. 45
Structural Loads			• •	• •	•	. 46
Control System Characteristics					•	. 46
Maintenance			• •			. 48
		-	- •;	•		
CONCLUSIONS						
General	•••	•	•••	• •		. 51
Shortcomings Affecting Mission Accomplishment	•	•	• •	•		. 53
Specification Nonconformance	•••	•	•••	•	•••	. 56
RECOMMENDATIONS	•••	•		•		. 58

.....

vii

ć.,

ł

<.,

1.

# APPENDIXES

	n (															
A.	References	•	•	•		•	•		•	•			•		•	59
B.	Aircraft Description		•							•						63
C.	Safety-of-Flight Releases.	•	•				•			÷		٠				- 77
D.	Handling Qualities Rating	Sc	cale	e	•		•	•	•							136
E.	Test Instrumentation	•					•		•		•	•				137
F.	APE J.1 Test Data						•	•								141
G.	APE I.2 Test Data															241
H.	APE I.3A Test Data															246
I.	APE I.3B Test Data	٠														279

DISTRIBUTION

Page

-

 $h_{\rm e}$  (a)

at a start of the second

### IN7 RODUCTION

### BACKGROUND

÷,

の日にいるないなどの記念を見たいないないない

1. The AH-56A Cheyenne advanced aerial fire support system (AAFSS) is a major weapons system which is being developed by Lockheed Aircraft Corporation (LAC) under contract to the US Army Aviation Systems Command (AVSCOM). Design and development of the aircraft are being performed by LAC at its Lockheed-California Company (LCC) facility in Van Nuys, California. Contractor flight testing is being conducted at Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona.

2. The restructured AH-56A development program (ref 1, app A) identified two Army test programs which were to be conducted by the US Army Aviation Systems Test Activity (USAASTA) on the Improved Control System (ICS) configuration of the AH-56A. These programs were the Army Preliminary Evaluation I (APE I) and a portion of the Research and Development Acceptance Test I (RDAT I).

3. The ALC I was divided into three phases (APE I.1, APE I.2, and APE I.3) to afford the Army the opportunity to assess the airworthiness of the AH-56A at various stages during the contractor development program. The APE I.1 was an evaluation of the handling qualities of the aircraft without external stores. The APE I.2 was an abbreviated evaluation of the handling qualities of the external stores configuration. The APE I.3 was, primarily, a reevaluation of the handling qualities of the AH-56A with external stores following extensive main rotor and control system changes. Testing was also accomplished without external stores. This testing was accomplished by USAASTA personnel with data reduction assistance performed by the contractor.

4. The USAASTA portion of the RDAT I was performed to qualitatively evaluate the aircraft handling qualities during weapons firing. This test was accomplished by USAASTA personnel with copilot/gunner assistance from the US Army Aviation Test Board (USAAVNTBD).

5. Guidance for USAASTA participation in the AH-56A development program was provided by AVSCOM in references 2 through 7, appendix A. An approved test plan for APE I was first published in July 1970 (ref 8) and revised in February 1971 to include APE I.1 and APE I.2 (ref 9). The approved test plan for APE I.3 was published in July 1971 (ref 10). The approved RDAT I test plan was published in August 1971 (ref 11). Briefings and reports were submitted to AVSCOM following each test (refs 12 through 17). This report is a consolidated final report on the APE I.1, APE I.2, APE I.3, and RDAT I tests as directed by AVSCOM (ref 18).

## TEST OBJECTIVES

6. The objectives of the APE I were as follows:

a. To provide an early assessment of the handling qualities of the reconfigured AH-56A development vehicle.

b. To assist in determining the flight envelopes to be used for future Army tests.

c. To obtain limited performance data for the modified AH-56A development vehicle.

d. To detect deficiencies which require correction.

e. To identify shortcomings for which correction is desired.

7. The objective of RDAT I was to determine the effects of weapons firing on the aircraft handling qualities.

8. Throughout all tests, emphasis was placed on airworthiness problem areas previously identified during the contractor development program and during Army tests. These areas of emphasis included:

- a. Rotor dynamic stability characteristics.
- b. Cross-coupling.
- c. Lateral control migration.
- d. Crew station vibration environment.
- e. Directional control power.
- f. Blade moment stall.
- g. Pilot-coupled roll oscillations.

### DESCRIPTION

9. The AH-56A is a compound helicopter designed to perform the advanced aerial fire support mission. In addition to a single four-bladed "rigid" main rotor and a tectoring four-bladed antitorque tail rotor, a three-bladed pusher propeller is located at the aft end of the fuselage, and a low wing is located on the fuselage midsection. During high-speed forward flight, the main rotor is partially unloaded with the lift provided by the wing and thrust supplied by the pusher propeller. The cockpit has tandem seats. Normally, the forward seat is for the copilot/gunner,

and the aft seat is for the pilot. Provisions for a wide variety of armament systems are available in two turrets and on six external stores stations. The conventional wheel-type landing gear is retractable. Power is provided by a single General Electric T64-GE-16 turboshaft engine which has a maximum rating of 3925 shaft horsepower (shp) at sea-level (SL), standard-day conditions.

10. Two test aircraft were employed: the APE I was conducted using AH-56A serial number (S/N) 66-8834 (LCC S/N 1009), and the RDAT I was conducted using AH-56A S/N 66-8831 (LCC S/N 1006). Both aircraft were configured with the ICS and a reverse rotation tail rotor (clockwise when viewed from the left side of the aircraft).

11. The APE I aircraft is being used by the contractor for aerial vehicle flight development and is configured with a downward ejection seat installed in the forward cockpit, the pilot station for USAASTA tests, in lieu of the swivelling gunner station. The aircraft did not have the standard XM52 30mm belly turret or the external swivelling sight head installed. A simulated XM51 40mm nose turret was installed. Significant configuration changes during the preparation for and during the conduct of this test were as follows:

a. For APE I.1, the primary changes to the aircraft from the earlier development models included: increased forward blade sweep, addition of main rotor blade tip weights, reduced main rotor inplane natural frequency, increased control gyro arm stiffness, reduction of main rotor delta-three coupling, increased collective control stiffness, increased collective servo capacity, installation of a roll desensitizer, and addition of a collective control brake. The basic weight of the test aircraft with instrumentation installed was 14,036 pounds with the center of gravity (cg) at fur-slage station (FS) 313.4.

b. For APE I.2, the aircraft was configured as during APE I.1, except that empty tube-launched, optically tracked, wire-guided (TOW) missile pods were installed on each inboard stores station, and loaded XM159 rocket pods were installed on each outboard stores station.

c. Major configuration changes made between APE 1.2 and APE 1.3 included: increased main rotor droop; installation of a roll compensator, pitch desensitizer, and pitch/roll decoupler; increased design effectiveness of the bobweight; alteration of right wing and horizontal stabilizer incidence; removal of detuning weights from the horizontal stabilizer; and removal of the roll desensitizer. The APE 1.3 was conducted with and without loaded TOW missile pods installed on cach inboard stores station and loaded XM159 rocket pods on each outboard stores station. The basic weight of the test aircraft with instrumentation installed was 14,656 pounds with the cg at FS 312.3.

d. During the conduct of APE I 3, the aircraft was returned to the contractor for a series of configuration modifications. As a result, APE I.3 was divided into APE I.3A and APE I.3B to denote premodification and postmodification testing, respectively. These modifications included: addition of

24.18

roll compensator notch filters at 16 and 32 hertz (Hz), activation of the lift/roll decoupler, reduction of control system free play (not a design change), increased lateral control travel and reduced lateral control effectiveness, reduced lateral control breakout force, increased swashplate feedback, addition of detuning weights to the right wing, and detuning of the collective control lever in the aft cockpit.

12. The RDAT I vehicle is being used by the contractor for development and demonstration of the fire control and weapons systems. During the USAASTA testing, the rotor and control system were configured as described in paragraph 11c. The weapons configuration for the RDAT I included one XM51 (40mm) weapon in the chin turret, one XM52 (30mm) cannon in the belly turret, one XM159 rocket pod on each outboard wing store station, and one simulated TOW missile pod on each inboard wing store station. The basic weight of the aircraft with instrumentation installed was 16,017 pounds with the cg at FS 303.7.

13. A more detailed description of the AH-56A is given in appendix B. Configuration differences peculiar to each USAASTA test are specified.

# SCOPE OF TEST

14. The USAASTA testing was confined to contractually defined productive test hour and elapsed calendar time limits. The developmental nature of the AH-56A aerial vehicle program required emphasis on certain of the preplanned test objectives. These factors combined to limit accomplishment of planned testing. As a result, no performance and limited autorotational entry tests were accomplished. The resulting scope of test is shown in table 1.

Test	Calendar Days Charged to USAASTA Testing <sup>1</sup>	Number of Test Flights	Number of Productive Test Hours
APE I.1	18	18	15.2
APE I.2	7	3	1.0
APE I.3A	32	16	7.5
APE I.3B	23	23	15.5
RDAT I	10	5	4.3
Total:	90	65	43.5

Table 1. Scope of Test.

<sup>1</sup>Excludes pilot training and refamiliarization time and periods during which aircraft was unavailable to USAASTA. Includes weekend time and other days during which no USAASTA flying occurred due to administrative, weather, and maintenance delays.

-

and a state of the state of the

0
•
-
<ul> <li>n</li> </ul>
~~
0
0
ω
ا سا
<u></u>
യ
_
ഹ
سک
-

Type of TestNomini- NominialNominial NominialNominial NominialNominial NominialNominial NominialHover, takeoff, endN/AEst Airspeeds2Airtitude and External (ft)Configuration (Hover, takeoff, endN/AImdingConfiguration (LandingControl positions in Control positions in Static lateral-directional (f)Static lateral-directional (f)900Static lateral-directional Static lateral-directional Dynamic stability50100, 150, 150, and 180400018, 300 poundsStatic lateral-directional Static lateral-directional Dynamic stability0, 60, 100, 150, 150, and 180400018, 300 poundsStatic lateral-directional Static lateral-directional Static19018,000Static lateral-directional Static lateral-directional Sta	[		Table 2. Test Cor			
Never, takeoff, end $M/A$ $M/A$ andingSo to 190 $M/A$ anding50 to 190 $150$ , and 180trimmed forward flight $50$ to 100, 150, and 180 $4000$ trability $60$ , 100, 150, and 180 $160$ trability $60$ , 100, 150, and 180 $160$ trability $60$ , 100, 150, and 180 $160$ trability $0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 18018, 300 poundstrability0, 60, 100, 150, 155, and 18018, 300 poundstrability0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 18018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal150150 and 18018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal150100, 150, 180, and 18018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal160100, 150, 180, and 19018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal160, 100, 150, 180, and 19018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal60, 100, 150, 180, and 19018, 300 poundstratic longitudinal60, 100, 150, 170, and 1805000 poundstratic lateral-directional60, 100, 150, 170, and 19018, 300 poundstratic lateral-directional60, 100, 150, 180, and 19019010, 60, 100, 100, 150, 180tratic lateral-directional10, 60, 100, 150, 180, and 19010, 60, 100, 100, 180$		Type of Test	Nomin - Test Airspeeds <sup>2</sup> (KCAS)	Nominal Density Altitude (ft)	Nominal Gross Weight and External Configuration	Nominal Center of Gravity
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	L	Hover, takeoff, and Landing	N/A			
Static lungitudinal $60, 100, 150, and 180$ $4000$ $18, 300 pounds$ stability $60, 100, 150, and 180$ $100, 150, 165, and 180$ $100, 150, 165, and 180$ Dynamic stability $0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180$ $100, 130, 160, 160, 160, 160, 160, 160, 160, 16$	1	Control positions in trimmed forward flight	50 to 190			<u> </u>
Static lateral-directional         60, 100, 150, and 180 $Cartic lateral-directional         60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 Controllability Controllability 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180           Dynamic stability         0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 Controllability 0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 Controllability 0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180           Maneuvering stability         80, 155, and 180 0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 18, 300 pounds           Static longitudinal         150 and 100 180 4000 External           Static longitudinal         60 and 100 180 750 18, 300 pounds           Static lateral-directional         e0, 100, 150, 180, and 190 18, 300 pounds         118, 300           Static lateral-directional         e0, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 190 18, 300 18, 300           Static lateral-directional         e0, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 190 18, 300 18, 300           Static lateral-directional         e0, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 190 18, 300 118, 300           Static lateral-directional         e0, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 190 118, 300 118, 300           Dynamic stability         0, 60, 100, and 150 $	A	Static longitudinal stability	60, 100, 150, and 180	4000	18,300 pounds	FS 300
Dynamic stability0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180Controllability $0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180$ Maneuvering stability $0, 0, 15, and 180$ Static longitudinal $150$ Static longitudinal $150$ static lability $150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 150, and 180$ Static lateral-directional $0, 150, and 180$ Static lateral-directional $0, and 100$ Stability $1, 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 150, and 180$ Stability $1, 180$ Stability $1, 180$ Static lateral-directional $0, 150, 180, and 190$ Static longitudinal $0, 100, 150, 180, and 190$ Static lateral-directional $0, 100, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 100, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 000, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 00, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 00, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 60, 100, and 150$ Static lateral-directional $0, 60, and 180$ Static lateral-directional $0, 000 ounds$	The state of the s	Static lateral-directional stability	60, 100, 150, and 180		IIPATO	( הדווי)
Controllability $(0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Maneuvering stability $(0, 155, and 180)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Static longitudinal $(150)$ $(150, and 180)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ stability $(0, 150, and 180)$ $(0, 000)$ Sideward and rearward $(100, 150, 180, and 190)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Sideward and rearward $(0, 100, 150, 180, and 190)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Static longitudinal $(0, 100, 150, 180, and 190)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, 150, 170, and 190)$ $(18, 300 pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, and 150)$ $(0, 000 pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, and 150)$ $(0, 000, and 150)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, and 150)$ $(0, 000, and 150)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 100, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 000, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 000, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 000, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 000, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ Static lateral-directional $(0, 000, and 150)$ $(0, 000, pounds)$ S	_	Dynamic stability	0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180			
Static longitudinal15018,300 poundsstabilitystability150and 10018,300 poundsstabilityStatic lateral-directional60 and 1004000Externalstability80, 150, and 18075018,300 poundsSideward and rearward $N/A$ 75018,300 poundsStatic longitudinal60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 19018,300 poundsStatic longitudinal60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 19520,000 poundsStatic longitudinal0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsStatic long stability0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsDynamic stability0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsStatic lateral-directional0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsDynamic stability0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsStatic lateral-directional0, 60, 100, and 18020,000 poundsDynamic stability0, 60, 100, and 18020,000 poundsStatic labelility0, 60, and 18020,000 poundsMoneuvering stability0, 60, and 18020,000 poundsManeuvering stability150, 160, and 18020,000 poundsManeuvering stability0, 60, and 18020,000 poundsManeuvering stability150, 160, and 18020,000 poundsManeuvering stability150, 160, and 18020,000 poundsManeuvering stability150, 160, and 1804000Maneuvering stability120, 160, and 1804000Marce110, 160, and 1804000Marce120, 140, and 180 <td></td> <td>Controllability Maneuvering stability</td> <td>0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 80, 155, and 180</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		Controllability Maneuvering stability	0, 60, 100, 150, 165, and 180 80, 155, and 180			
Static Lateral-directional stability60 and 1004000External storesManeuvering stability80, 150, and 18075080Stdeward and rearward filght $N/A$ 75080Stdeward and rearward filght $N/A$ 75018, 300 poundsStdeward and rearward filght $N/A$ 75018, 300 poundsStdeward and rearward filght $N/A$ 75018, 300 poundsStatic longitudinal stability60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 19020,000 poundsStatic lateral-directional stability0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsDynamic stability maneuvering stability0, 60, 100, and 15020,000 poundsManeuvering stability Maneuvering stability0, 60, and 15020,000 poundsStafic (40mm nose turret) firing0, 60, and 18020,000 poundsStafic 30mm belly turret) firing0, 150, and 18020,000 poundsStafic 30mm belly turret) firing120, 140, and 18020,000 poundsStafic 30mm belly turret)0, 60, and 18020,000 poundsStafic 30mm belly turret)120, 140, and 18020,000 poundsStafic 30mm belly turret)120, 140, and 18020,000 pounds		Static longitudinal	150		18, 300, nounds	
Maneuvering stability         80, 150, and 180         750		Static lateral-directional stability	60 and 100	4000	External stores	FS 300 (mid)
Sideward and rearward flight $r/A$ 750750flight Static longitudinal $r/A$ $r/A$ $r/A$ Static longitudinal stability60, 100, 150, 180, and 19018, 300 poundsStatic lateral-directional stability $60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 195$ $r/A$ Static lateral-directional stability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20, 000 pounds$ Dynamic stability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20, 000 pounds$ Controllability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20, 000 pounds$ Maneuvering stability $0, 60, and 150$ $100, and 180$ Maneuvering stability $0, 60, and 180$ $20, 000 pounds$ Maneuvering stability $0, 60, and 180$ $100, and 180$ Morotational entry $150, 160, and 180$ $4000$ Monose turret $0, 60, and 180$ $100, 50, 100, and 180$ Miso firing $0, 60, and 180$ $100, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, 50, $	_	Maneuvering stability	80, 150, and 180			
Static longitudinal60, 100, 150, 180, and 19018, 300 poundsstability $60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 195$ $18, 300 pounds$ Static lateral-directional $60, 100, and 150$ $20,000 pounds$ Dynamic stability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20,000 pounds$ Dynamic stability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20,000 pounds$ Dynamic stability $0, 60, 100, and 150$ $20,000 pounds$ Maneuvering stability $0, 60, and 180$ $20,000 pounds$ Mitorotational entry $150, 160, and 180$ $4000$ Mitorotational entry $0, 60, and 100$ $100, and 180$ Mitorotational entry $150, and 180$ $20,000 pounds$ Mitorotational entry $150, and 180$ $4000$ Mitorotational entry $10, 60, 150, and 180$ $4000$ Mitorotational entry $100, and 180$ $4000$ Mitorotational entry $120, 140, and 180$ $4000$		Sideward and rearward flight	N/A	750		
Static lateral-directional         60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 195         5000         and and stability           Dynamic stability         0, 60, 100, and 150         20,000 pounds         External stores           Dynamic stability         0, 60, 100, and 150         20,000 pounds         External stores           Controllability         0, 60, 100, and 150         and 180         External stores           Maneuvering stability         80, 120, 150, 170, and 180         20,000 pounds           Maneuvering stability         0, 60, and 180         20,000 pounds           XM51 (40mm nose turret)         0, 60, and 180         20,000 pounds           XM52 (30mm belly turret)         60, 150, and 180         4000           firing         XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)         120, 140, and 180		Static longitudinal stability	60, 100, 150, 180, and 190		18,300 pounds Clean	FS 300
Dynamic stability         0, 60, 100, and 150         0000         External           Controllability         0, 60, 100, and 150         stores           Maneuvering stability         0, 60, 100, and 150         stores           Maneuvering stability         80, 120, 150, 170, and 180         stores           Maneuvering stability         80, 120, 150, 160, and 180         stores           Mutorotational entry         150, 160, and 180         stores           XM51 (40mm nose turret)         0, 60, and 150         20,000 pounds           XM52 (30mm belly turret)         60, 150, and 180         4000           Kiring         XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)         120, 140, and 180		Static lateral-directional stability	60, 100, 150, 170, 180, and 195		and 20,000 pounds	and and
Controllation         Control and 180         Control and 180         Control and 180           Maneuvering stability         80, 120, 150, 170, and 180         90, 000, and 180         90, 120, 160, and 180           XM51 (40mm nose turret)         0, 60, and 150         90, and 180         20,000 pounds           XM52 (30mm belly turret)         60, 150, and 180         4000         External           XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)         120, 140, and 180         4000         stores		Dynamic stability	0, 60, 100, and 150	ດດຸດດ	External	f (fwd) <sup>4</sup>
Autorotational entry       150, 160, and 180         XM51 (40mm nose turret)       0, 60, and 150         firing       20,000 pounds         XM52 (30mm belly turret)       60, 150, and 180         firing       4000         XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)       120, 140, and 180         firing       stores		Controlianticy Maneuvering stability	80, 120, 150, 170, and 180		S1015	
XM51 (40mm nose turret)       0, 60, and 150         firing       20,000 pounds         XM52 (30mm belly turret)       60, 150, and 180         firing       4000         XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)       120, 140, and 180         firing       stores		Autorotational entry	150, 160, and 180			
XM52 (30mm belly turret)       60, 150, and 180       4000       External         firing       XM159 (2.75 in. rocket)       120, 140, and 180       stores		XM51 (40mm nose turret) firing	0, 60, and 150			
XM159 (2.75 in. rocket) 120, 140, and 180 firing		XM52 (30mm belly turret) firing	60, 150, and 180	4000	External	FS 300 (aft) <sup>3</sup>
		XM159 (2.75 in. rocket) firing	120, 140, and 180		scores	

<sup>1</sup>Rotor speed: 246 rpm (100 percent). <sup>2</sup>Not all variables tested at all weights, configurations, and speeds. <sup>3</sup>Envelope redefined following APE I.2 such that FS 300 is aft cg. <sup>4</sup>Limited testing accomplished at forward cg.

1

4

1

ŝ

ł

ļ

ŧ

5

15. All testing was conducted at Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona. Limitations established by the AII-56A safety-of-flight releases issued by AVSCOM were observed (app C). Basic test conditions are listed in table 2.

## METHODS OF TEST

16. The methods of test used are established engineering flight test techniques and are briefly described in the Results and Discussion section of this report. Test results are compared to the applicable requirements of the development description CP0001A (ref 1, app A) and military specifications MIL-H-8501A (ref 19) and MIL-F-8785(ASG) (ref 20). A Handling Qualities Rating Scale (HQRS) (app D) was used during evaluation of mission tasks as defined in reference 21, appendix A.

17. For the APE I testing, flight test data were obtained from instrumentation located on the photopanel and two oscillographs in aircraft S/N 66-8834. The RDAT I test aircraft, S/N 66-8831, was instrumented primarily for weapons firing and lacked handling qualities instrumentation. A detailed listing of the APE I test instrumentation is included in appendix E.

#### CHRONOLOGY

Ground school training completed	18	December	1970
APE 1.1 and APE 1.2 test directive			
received	9	Januarv	1971
APE 1.3 and RDAT I test directive		•	
received	27	January	1971
APE I.1 flight training completed	29	January	1971
APE 1.1 testing initiated	30	January	1971
APE I.1 testing delayed for		•	
congressional observation of test	31	January	1971
APE I.1 testing resumed	10	February	1971
APE I.1 testing completed	5	March	1971
APE I.3 revised test directive received	J	March	197 !
APE I.1 debriefing for AVSCOM, the			
Advanced Aerial Weapons Systems			
Project Manager (AAWS-PM), and			
LCC	12 - 13	March	1971
APE 1.1 test report submitted to			
AVSCOM	2	April	1971
APE I.2 testing initiated	23	April	1971
APE I.2 testing completed	29	April	1971
APE I.2 debriefing for AVSCOM,			
AAWS-PM, and LCC	30	April	1971
RDAT I revised test directive received	20	May	1971

18. The chronology of the AH-56A test program is as follows:

APE 1.2 test report submitted to			
AVSCOM	27	May	1971
APF 1.3 flight training completed	9	September	1971
APE 1.3A testing initiated	10	September	1971
Roll compensator test directive received	28	September	1971
RDAT I flight training completed	28	September	1971
RDA1 I testing initiated	29	September	1971
Roll compensator evaluation initiated	5	October	1971
RDAT 1 testing completed	8	October	1971
Roll compensator evaluation terminated	11	October	1971
Roll compensator debriefing for AVSCO	М,		
AAWS-PM, and LCC	12	October	1971
APE I.3A testing terminated	19	October	1971
RDAT I test report submitted to			
AVSCOM	17	November	1971
APE I.3B testing initiated	2	December	1971
APE I.3B testing completed	23	December	1971
APE 1.3 debriefing for AVSCOM and			
AAWS-PM	11	February	1972
APE 1.3 debriefing for LCC	22	February	1972

1

5.0

15

ろうちょうちょう こうちょう ひとうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょうちょう

### RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

### GENERAL.

19 The flying qualities evaluation of the AH-56A conducted during AP<sup>4</sup> , and the USAASIA portion of RDAT 1 revealed five deficiencies and 54 shortcomingwhich exist within the presently approved test flight envelope. The handline qualities were not significantly affected by firing of any of the weapons systems tested. The deficiencies, correction of which should be a prerequisite for an airworthiness release for operational Army aviators, are (1) excessive pilot workload due to unacceptable static lateral-directional stability characteristics below 100 linotsecondly impairs the capability to operate at minimum altitudes unaffected by conditions of darkness or adverse weather, (2) uncommanded aircraft motion and loss of control during maneuvering flight, (3) rapid rate of rotor speed decay following simulated engine failures which allows the rotor speed to drop below the present transient limit, (4) inadequate directional control margins in sideward flight, and (5) excessive four-per-rotor-revolution (4/rev) and 8/rev vibrations Deficiencies (2) and (4) above warrant a reduction of the flight envelope size for future Army tests until correction of these deficiencies is accomplished. Lateral stick migration with airspeed was not objectionable, the pusher propeller provided excellent deceleration capability, and the ability to control airspeed independent of dive angle is an excellent feature.

### FLYING QUALITIES

#### General

20. The results of flying qualities testing are presented in this section Quantitative test data were gathered during APE 1.1, APE 1.2, API 1.3A, and APF 1.3B. The configuration of the test aircraft varied significantly for each test phase (para 11). To simplify identification of test data, the data are presented separately as follows: appendix F contains APE 1.1 data, appendix G contains APE 1.2 data, appendix H contains APE 1.3A data, and appendix I contains APE 1.3B data. Qualitative data were obtained during both APE I and the USAASTA portion of RDAT I. Unless otherwise identified, the test results presented in this report are representative of the APE 1.3B aircraft configuration.

## **Control Positions in Trimmed Forward Flight**

21. Control position requirements for stabilized trimmed forward flight were determined during APE 1.1 for the clean configuration at an 18,400-pound gross weight. Data were obtained by stabilizing the aircraft in trimmed zero sideslip flight at 10-knot speed increments from 50 to 162 knots calibrated airspeed (KCAS) in level flight and with smaller increments in diving flight at 172 KCAS and above. From 80 KCAS to the maximum airspeed for level flight at maximum continuous

power (V<sub>II</sub>), main rotor collective pitch was maintained at the maximum value permitted by appendix C, and propeller pitch (Beta) was added as necessary to maintain a constant altitude. At airspeeds faster than V<sub>H</sub>, Beta was held constant at 35.5 degrees, and the aircraft was dived to obtain speeds to 190 KCAS. Below 80 KCAS, where collective angle was not limited, Beta was held approximately constant at 17 degrees, and altitude was maintained with collective. Control positions in trimmed forward flight are shown in figure 1, appendix F.

22. The longitudinal control required for trim was essentially constant at iow airspeeds (50 to 75 KCAS) where the collective was used for altitude control. Between 80 and 120 KCAS, essentially linear increases in forward control position were required for increasing airspeed. The requirement for additional forward longitudinal control diminished at higher speeds, and in diving flight above V<sub>H</sub>, only very small longitudinal trim changes were associated with changes of trim speed. Two-degree variations in collective pitch from 5 degrees produced approximately 0.3-inch longitudinal trim changes. Increased collective pitch required a forward longitudinal trim change.

23. Left lateral control displacement was required to maintain trimmed flight at all forward airspeeds tested. The lateral control position varied essentially linearly from 1 inch left of center at 70 KCAS to 0.4 inch left of center at 170 KCAS. Neither the lateral control displacement nor its variation with airspeed (lateral stick migration with increasing forward airspeed) was objectionable at airspeeds above transition. Transitional characteristics are discussed in paragraph 97.

24. Directional control position remained essentially constant between 70 and 190 KCAS. The rigging was such that the right pedal was approximately 2 inches forward of the left pedal at these speeds. This pedal position was uncomfortable, contributed to difficulty in maintaining zero sideslip, and is a shortcoming.

25. Separate tests were not conducted during APE 1.2 and APE 1.3 to explicitly determine trim characteristics at higher gross weights and with the external stores configuration. However, examination of the trim points obtained during static longitudinal stability and static lateral-directional stability tests indicates that gross weight and external stores have a negligible influence on control positions in trimmed forward flight. The effects of landing gear extension and retraction on forward flight trim requirements were negligible.

#### Trimmability

26. The AH-56A has trim motors in the lateral, longitudinal, and directional control systems. An electric friction brake is incorporated in the collective pitch, control system to augment the adjustable mechanical friction. This brake is disengaged when the landing gear is extended. Lateral and longitudinal trim changes are made with a "coolie hat" switch on the cyclic stick. Directional trim changes are made using a switch located on the collective pitch lever.

27. Longitudinal trim was difficult at airspeeds above 150 KCAS even though the functioning of the longitudinal trim system was satisfactory. At these conditions, the pilot established the desired pitch attitude, the aircraft appeared stable, and the pilot trimmed the control ferces to zero. The control position generally was not that required for the desired pitch attitude because of the long pitch time constant (para 64). This resulted in the aircraft deviating from the desired attitude which required additional control inputs and retrimming. Longitudinal trim required excessive pilot attention at high airspeeds and is a shortcoming.

28. Lateral trim was difficult at all airspeeds tested because of an apparent tendency for the trim system to overshoot. Trim was finally attained only after several corrections were made back and forth. Lateral trim required excessive pilot attention and is a shortcoming.

29. Directional trim was satisfactory in forward flight, but was not adequate to cope with the large, rapid changes that take place while accelerating or decelerating through the transition regime (paras 97 and 98). The rate of operation of the directional trim motor was too slow to correct for the trim requirements during transition, resulting in a need to hold large directional control forces to maintain a constant heading. Compounding the problem was the location of the directional trim switch on the collective lever. Undue mental concentration was required to relate left thumb movement to foot pressures. At the same time, the left hand was operating collective and propeller pitch to control aircraft height and acceleration. These characteristics of the directional trim system increase the workload in a high-workload flight regime (para 112). The excessive pilot attention required to trim directionally during hover transitions is a shortcoming.

30. The friction devices incorporated in the collective control system were adequate to maintain the desired position with the landing gear retracted and the electric brake activated. However, with the gear down and the electric brake disengaged, the collective lever would creep, changing the collective blade angle, unless the mechanical friction was tightened fully. The amount of collective friction applied cannot be determined by either feeling or looking at the adjustment control. These unsatisfactory collective friction characteristics are a shortcoming.

31. Control of propeller blade angle required continual pilot attention when operating at high blade angles (above 30 degrees). The blade angle crept to a lower setting, although the friction was fully tightened. Reduction of the blade angle degraded the ability to hold airspeed and altitude constant because of the thrust loss. The inability of the propeller control system friction to maintain the desired settings is a shortcoming.

#### Static Longitudinal Stability

32 Collective-fixed static longitudinal stability was evaluated during API-11. API-1.2, and APE-1.3. Trim speeds from 60 to 189 KCAS were examined in the clean configuration. The effects of external stores configuration. gross weight, collective pitch, and cg were examined at selected trim airspeeds. During this test, collective and propeller blade angles were held constant at the settings required

to maintain the trim condition. Airspeed was stabilized at increments above and below the trim point by varying longitudinal control position. Zero sideslip was maintained by varying lateral and directional controls. Test data are presented in figures 2 through 5, appendix F; figure 1, appendix G; figures 1 through 7, appendix H; and figures 1 through 4, appendix I.

33. During APE 1.1, the longitudinal control position stability was positive at low airspeed and decreased with increasing airspeed. At approximately 10 knots above or below the 150-knot trim point, the control position stability became neutral to negative. At 177 KCAS, the stability became neutral to negative approximately 5 knots above trim airspeed.

34. During APE 1.1, the longitudinal control force stability about trim was positive at 100 and 150 KCAS and was reduced at both higher and lower airspeeds. Above 100 KCAS, airspeed variations of 10 knots or more from trim resulted in reduced longitudinal control force stability.

35. Configuration changes made between APE I.2 and APE I.3 resulted in generally degraded static longitudinal stability. During APE I.3, at airspeeds above 150 KCAS, the stability increased with increasing speed (opposite APE I.1 trends. para 33); however, weak static longitudinal control force and control position stability were still apparent at these airspeeds. At trim speeds of 100 and 150 KCAS, the longitudinal control force stability for APE I.3 was substantially reduced from APE I.1 levels.

36. Reduced collective pitch caused a pronounced degradation in static longitudinal stability. Data obtained with 3.7 degrees of collective at 149 and 189 KCAS trim speeds demonstrated neutral-to-negative control position and control force stability. The effects of external stores configuration, grcss weight, and cg could not be established from the limited data but appeared to be small. During the static longitudinal stability tests, minor trim changes with airspeed were noticed in the lateral and directional axes.

37. The static longitudinal stability characterisites of the AH-56A do not meet the requirements of paragraph 3.2.10 of MIL-H-8501A, in that the gradients of control position and control force with airspeed are not stable for all flight conditions. However, the apparent speed stability of the AH-56A is considerably better than evidenced by those gradients, because of the airspeed stabilization provided by the propeller. The propeller thrust (with blade angle fixed) increases with decreased speed and decreases with increased speed. Hence, it was very easy to maintain a trim airspeed.

38. The weak static iongitudinal stability degraded pitch attitude control. Whenever the pitch attitude was disturbed, by a gust or a control movement, there was very little tendency for the aircraft attitude to return to trim. Pilot attention was then required to return the aircraft to the desired attitude in order to maintain constant airspeed and altitude (HQRS 4). The weak static longitudinal stability at 150 KCAS and above is a shortcoming.

## Static Lateral-Directional Stability

39. Static lateral-directional stability characteristics were evaluated during APE I.1, APE I.2, and APE I.3. Trim speeds from 59 to 180 KCAS for the clean configuration and from 61 to 172 KCAS for the external stores configuration were evaluated. The static lateral-directional tests were conducted by trimming the aircraft at a selected airspeed and zero sideslip. Main rotor collective and propeller blade angles, airspeed, force trim settings, and aircraft ground track were held fixed. Sideslips were increased incrementally, both left and right, up to the flight envelope limits. Test data are presented in figures 6 through 9, appendix F; figures 2 and 3, appendix G; figures 8 through 12, appendix H; and figures 5 through 7, appendix I.

40. The static directional stability, as evidenced by the variation of directional control position with sideslip, was positive about zero sideslip at all speeds tested but was very weak at low speed. External stores had no significant influence on directional stability. The directional control gradient about trim increased essentially linearly with airspeed. At trim speeds of 150 KCAS and below, the directional stability became degraded as sideslip angles were increased, and at 150 KCAS, did not comply with paragraph 3.3.9 of MIL-H-8501A which requires pedal displacement with sideslip to be approximately linear between  $\pm 15$  degrees of sideslip. The test flight envelope (app C) did not permit investigation of this requirement at higher airspeeds. Weak-to-neutral directional stability was encountered at 61 KCAS and approximately 30 degrees of sideslip (fig. 2, app G) and also at 99 KCAS and approximately 20 degrees of right sideslip (fig. 7, app F). The data obtained indicate that there was no significant change in directional stability between APE I.1 and APE I.3. Paragraph 3.3.9 of MIL-H-8501A requires positive directional stability for all sideslips and airspeeds from 45 degrees at 50 knots varying linearly to 15 degrees at maximum allowable airspeed (Vmax). Lack of adequate directional stability made it very difficult to establish and maintain a desired heading and sideslip and is a shortcoming.

41. The dihedral effect, as evidenced by the variation of lateral control position with sideslip during APE I.1, was essentially zero near 60 KCAS and increased to slightly positive values at higher airspeeds. External stores had no significant effect on dihedral effect. Prior to APE I.3B, the lateral control system was modified to provide reduced control power (control moment per inch of control displacement) and increased control travel. As a result, the apparent dihedral effect was nearly doubled at high speeds and was satisfactory about trim. Near 60 KCAS, the dihedral effect was essentially unchanged and was neutral to negative throughout the sideslip angles tested. The dihedral effect did not mcet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.9 of MIL-H-8501A.

42. In general, the side-force characteristics, as indicated by the variation in bank angle with sideslip, varied from slightly positive near 60 KCAS to strongly positive at 180 KCAS. Howerver, data obtained during APE I.2 (external stores) indicated that the side-force gradient became weak to neutral prior to reaching the sideslip envelope limit. This characteristic is highly undesirable. Good side-force

characteristics are desirable as this is a primary cue of sideslip, especially during instrument or low-visibility conditions when reference to attitude and ground track are difficult. Side force is also the parameter indicated by the ball of the needle-ball (turn-and-bank) indicator. Previous testing (ref 22, app A) indicates that a side force corresponding to 10 percent of the normal acceleration is required for positive recognition of sideslip. This side force would be 0.1g for 1g flight which corresponds to a bank angle of 5.7 degrees. During APE I.3 testing with no external stores, the sideslip angle corresponding to 5.7 degrees of bank angle was approximately 30 degrees at 59 KCAS and decreased to approximately 8 degrees, left, and 3 degrees, right, at 180 KCAS. At airspeeds of 100 KCAS and above, the sideslip envelope to the left would be exceeded prior to positive recognition of sideslip. At airspeeds of 150 KCAS and above, positive recognition of sideslip to the right would probably occur approximately 1 degree before reaching the envelope limit. The weak side force at low airspeeds, the side-force characteristics with respect to the limited sideslip envelope at airspeeds of 100 KCAS and above, and the degraded side-force characteristics at higher sideslip angles with external stores combine to make the side-force characteristics of the AH-56A a shortcoming.

43. Inherent sideslip (sideslip angle for ball-centered flight) changed significantly between APE I.2 and APE I.3. During APE I.1 and APE I.2, the bank angle at zero sideslip was approximately zero (wings level) throughout the airspeed range tested. During APE I.3, however, the bank angle for zero sideslip varied from zero degrees at 60 KCAS to approximately 2 degrees (right wing low) at 180 KCAS, which was uncomfortable. This change in bank angle is probably due to the right wing incidence change made prior to APE I.3. The primary cue of sideslip and the parameter sensed by the slip ball is side force. Lacking a direct sideslip indication, the pilot will tend to fly at zero side force (wings level in straight flight). At airspeeds of 100 KCAS and above, zero side force corresponds to approximately 3 degrees of left sideslip. During this test, the sideslip envelope was exceeded at high airspeeds even though a sensitive sideslip indicator was installed. Because of the inherent sideslip and the side-force characteristics, the small sideslip envelope at high speeds (4 degrees at 200 KCAS) will be exceeded. This inherent sideslip will degrade rocket firing accuracy, may affect performance, and is a shortcoming.

44. During the lateral-directional tests, a very strong longitudinal trim shift with sideslip (pitch due to sideslip) was encountered. Forward longitudinal control displacement was required to counteract the nose-up trim shift experienced in right sldeslips, and aft longitudinal control was required to counteract the nose-down trim shift in left sideslips. This characteristic was also encountered during maneuvering and controllability testing and is further discussed in paragraphs 57 and 77. The magnitude of longitudinal and directional control displacements from trim were approximately equal. The pitch with sideslip required excessive pilot compensation to achieve a desired combination of sideslip and airspeed. Sideslip frequently resulted from directional changes and from maneuvering. The pitch coupling with sideslip which resulted required considerable pilot attention. This was particularly objectionable when rapid target changes were made while simulating an attack using the flexible weapons in the stowed mode or an attack using rockets.

and the second and the second s

The resulting deviations of the vertical sight line required several seconds to align the sight on the target. Also, this pitch-with-sideslip coupling makes airspeed control difficult when making small pedal-only heading changes as is normally done during instrument flight. External stores had no significant effect on the longitudinal trim shift with sideslip. The gradient of longitudinal control displacement versus sideslip increased with increasing airspeed, was objectionable at all forward speeds tested, and is a shortcoming.

45. The forward longitudinal control force during right sideslips exceeded the 3-pound limit of paragraph 3.3.20 of MIL-F-8785(ASG). That specification paragraph also indicates preference for increasing pull force accompanying increasing sideslip and that the magnitude and direction of the trim change, if present, be similar for right and left sideslips. The AH-56A fails to meet this specification requirement. The excessive longitudinal control force, particularly push forces, required during sideslips was objectionable to the pilot and is a shortcoming.

46. The ability to recognize and maintain a desired sideslip is required to remain within the present stores jettison envelope which restricts stores jettison to zero sideslip and airspeeds below 100 KIAS. Additionally, sideslip degrades folding-fin aircraft rocket (FFAR) firing accuracy. During takeoffs and landings and target attack missions, the ability to control ground track and aircraft heading is required. During all tests, difficulty was experienced in obtaining and maintaining the desired sideslip even though a sideslip indicator was installed in the aircraft.

47. Operation of the AH-56A under night or low-visibility conditions while performing nap-of-the-earth or low-level flight, must be done at reduced airspeeds in order to provide sufficient time for obstacle identification and avoidance. In the airspeed regime below 100 knots, the shortcomings of inadequate directional stability (para 40), neutral-to-negative dihedral effect (para 41), and weak side-force characteristics (para 42) combine to require excessive pilot attention for adequate aircraft control. This requirement for excessive pilot attention due to the unacceptable static lateral-directional stability characteristics below 100 KIAS serie asly impairs the capability to operate at minimum altitudes unaffected by conditions of darkness or adverse weather and is a deficiency.

#### **Maneuvering Stability**

#### General:

48. Two techniques were used to evaluate the maneuvering stability characteristics of the AH-56A: left and right windup turns and symmetrical pull-ups and pushovers. For both techniques, the aircraft was first stabilized at a trim airspeed in level flight, and the collective, propeller blade angle, and force trim settings were maintained throughout the maneuver. During windup turns, the aircraft was stabilized at increasing increments of normal acceleration in a constant airspeed turn. Because of pitch due to sideslip (para 44), sideslip angles in the windup turn were kept at a minimum with the aim condition being zero sideslip. Longitudinal control force and position data were corrected to zero sideslip using the results of the static lateral-directional stability tests. The symmetrical pull-ups and pushovers were performed by diving and climbing the aircraft, establishing either decreasing or increasing increments of normal acceleration as the aircraft passed through the level flight attitude at the trim airspeed and altitude. During the pull-ups and pushovers, the aircraft was not stabilized, and therefore the results of these tests are qualitative. The results of the maneuvering stability tests are presented in figures 10 through 14, appendix F; figure 4, appendix G; figures 13 through 19, appendix H; and figures 8 through 17, appendix 1. Table 3 presents the man uvering stability test conditions.

#### Stick-Fixed Maneuvering Stability:

49. During APE I.1, the stick-fixed maneuvering stability (longitudinal stick position/load factor) of the test aircraft was generally poor. At 83 KCAS, the stick position gradient (change in longitudinal stick position/change in load factor) was approximately 3.7 inches per g (in./g) and was linear, a desirable characteristic. However, at 155 KCAS, the stick position gradient decreased with increasing load factor and became neutral at approximately 1.75. At 178 KCAS, the stick position gradient was very shallow about trim and became neutral at approximately 1.5g. These characteristics did not meet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.4 of MIL-F-8785(ASG) which requires that the slope of the curve of the longitudinal stick position versus normal acceleration at constant speed be stable (increasing aft longitudinal cyclic stick required for increasing load factor) throughout the attainable load factors in all configurations and in all conditions of flight. There was no significant difference between longitudinal stick position gradients obtained in right and left windup turns at all airspeeds tested.

50. During APE I.2, the stick-fixed maneuvering stability was evaluated at 150 KCAS in the external stores configuration (fig. 4, app G) The stick-fixed maneuvering stability appeared to be slightly degraded from APE I.1 tests. The gradient about trim decreased from 1.3 in./g in the clean configuration to 1.0 in./g in the external stores configuration. The load factor at which the gradient became neutral decreased from approximately 1.75 to approximately 1.7. These changes were not necessarily due to the addition of external stores, since the cg was 1 inch further aft than during the APE I.1 (which normally tends to decrease the maneuvering stability) and the airspeed was 5 knots slower.

51. The poor stick-fixed maneuvering stability was essentially unchanged from APE 1.1 to APE 1.3. The data were insufficient to determine the effects on the stick-fixed maneuvering stability of variations of external stores configuration, longitudinal cg position, collective blade angle, aircraft gross weight, or type of maneuver. The stick-fixed maneuvering stability fails to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.4 of MIL-F-8785(ASG) and is a shortcoming. Improvement of the longitudinal control characteristics to provide a constant or increasing control displacement per g with increasing airspeed and load factor is desired.

Conditions.	
Test	
Stability	
Maneuvering	
÷,	
le	

		Table 3,	Maneuvering Stabi	lity Test	Conditions	•	
Test	External	Gross Weight	Center-of-Gravity Location	Density Altitude	Trim Airspeed	Maneuver Windup	Collective Angle
) ) {	Configuration	(1b)	(in.)	(ft)	(KCAS)	Turn	(deg)
		18,070	299.7	3280	86	Left	7.2
		18,120	299.6	3380	80	Right	7.2
APE I.1	Clean	18,200	299.4	3880	154	Leit	0.0 7
		18,650	299.8	4200	0C1 821	Right Taft	
		18,040	299.6	3340	178	Right	5.1
		18,110	300.3	3770	150	I,eft	5.2
APE L.2	External stores	17,930	300.8	3540	150	Right	5.2
		19,500	299.6	5370	81	Left	7.6
-	External stores	18,800	300.0	3290	120	Left	5.4
		19,870	299.0	5180	151	Lett	J•4
	Clean	17,990	299.0	6210	150	Left	5.8
APE I.3A	External stores	19,870	299.9	5680	152	Left	5.8
	- 10	17,790	299.0	5210	180	Left	5.3
	Clean	17,630	299.9	5130	181	Right	5.5
	External stores	19,350	297.3	5210	181	Left	3.5
		18,300	301.2	4840	80	Left	7.6
		18,420	300.1	4630	119	Left	°.0
	Clean	18,530	300.2	4570	151	Lett	ສັນ
		18 250	1000	5500	001	Left	
		17,870	300.0	5500	152	Right	3.8
APE I.3B	External stores	20,210	299.9	4100	151	Left	5.5
		18,410	300.2	3750	182	Left	3.8
*	Clean	18,040	300.1	5890	182	Left	8°.
		18,040	293.0	4660	181	Leti	5.5
	External stores	20,050	299.8	3800	182	Left	5.5
		18,500	N/A	4000	145	Left	N/A
RDAT I	External stores	18,500	N/A	N/A	160	Pull-up & pushovers	N/A
		18,500	V/N	N/A	185	Pull-up & pushovers	N/A
#### Stick-Free Maneuvering Stability:

52. During API: 1.1, the stick-free maneuvering stability (longitudinal stick force/load factor) was adequate at low airspeeds and poor at the higher airspeeds. At 83 KCAS, the stick force gradient was approximately 25 pounds per g (lb/g) about the 1.0g trun point. This value decreased with increasing load factor to approximately 13 lb/g at the envelope limit of 1.5g. The 25-lb/g stick-force gradient is slightly in excess of the maximum permitted by CP0001A. The stick-free maneuvering stability decreased with increasing airspeed and load factor. At 155 KCAS, it became very weak to neutral at approximately 2.0g, which was the limit of the flight envelope. At 178 KCAS, the stick-free maneuvering stability gradients failed to meet the requirements of CP0001A and paragraph 3.3.9 of MIL-F-8785(ASG) because the gradients were excessively nonlinear and decreased with increasing load factor. During APE I.2, it was determined at 150 KCAS that the addition of external stores did not affect the stick-free maneuvering stability.

53. The extensive control system modifications following APE I.2 produced some change in the stick-free maneuvering stability. This was primarily due to the increased bobweight design effectiveness. The APE I.3 data showed that at 80 and 120 KCAS the gradient increased with increasing load factor up to the maximum load factors tested (1.5 and 1.6, respectively). As airspeed increased, the gradient about trim decreased. Above 150 KCAS, the force gradient decreased with increasing load factor. There was, however, an increase in the gradients above 150 KCAS when compared with APE I.1 data. Even with the desirable increased bobweight design effectiveness, the stick-free maneuvering stability is degraded by nonlinearities, which contributed to the deficient maneuvering characteristics described in paragraph 61.

### Lift/Roll Coupling:

54. The APE 1.1 testing at 155 KCAS revealed large left lateral stick displacement and force required with increased load factor (lift/roll coupling). At the 155-KCAS trim speed, the lateral stick displacement from trim was approximately 1.5 inches at 2.0g which represented approximately 27 percent of the total stick travel and corresponds to approximately 36 deg/sec of right roll rate. During rapid pull-up maneuvers, the lift/roll coupling appeared more severe because of the rapid requirement for left lateral stick movement while attempting to maintain wings level as the load factor increased. During pushovers, a pronounced and rapid left roll occurred as well as a very pronounced increase in 4/rev vibration. The APE I.2 testing showed no change in the lift/roll coupling with the addition of external stores.

55. The APE I.3B testing showed a significant reduction in lift/roll coupling by the addition of the lift/roll decoupler. The decoupler senses increasing load factor and airspeed and applies control inputs through a modulation (mod) piston in the roll servo. The roll moments produced by these inputs oppose the moment created

by the lift/roll coupling. During pull-ups and pushovers, lift/roll coupling was much less than previously encountered. There was, however, some residual roll in the aircraft which appeared to be caused by the phasing and gain of the decoupler. During pull-ups, a left roll resulted from an increase of load factor followed by a right roll as load factor was sustained. This characteristic resulted in an apparent roll oscillation when load factor was varying, complicating the maneuvering task. This characteristic was most objectionable at 150 KCAS since the coupling was the largest at that airspeed.

56. During APE I.3B, the lift/roll coupling was still objectionable because the large lateral displacements and low lateral forces were disharmonious in relation to the small longitudinal displacements and large longitudinal forces which occurred during high-speed maneuvering. Determination of the proper combination of control displacements and forces was an excessively difficult task which was aggravated by changes due to airspeed and load factor. Lift/roll coupling and the lack of consistent longitudinal and lateral control harmony are shortcomings.

### Pitch Due to Sideslip:

57. Pitch-due-to-sideslip coupling (paras 44 and 77) complicated the pilot's task while trying to stabilize at desired load factors. The pitch changes introduced by sideslip angles in maneuvering flight caused perturbations in the normal load factor. Due to the lift/roll coupling, these small changes in load factor caused the aircraft to oscillate in roll. These roll excursions precluded precise control of the aircraft and were objectionable. On one occasion, pitch due to sideslip resulted in an increase of load factor sufficient to cause blade moment stall (fig. 20, app H).

### Blade Moment Stall:

58. Uncommanded nose-up pitch rates occurred while attempting to stabilize at load factors within the test envelope. The pitch-up was accompanied by further load factor increase. Subsequently, a pronounced variation in the main rotor blade torsion trace on the oscillograph occurred because of a change in blade aerodynamic moment. This condition was referred to as blade moment stall. During pilot training for APE I.1, this characteristic was demonstrated at approximately 115 knots indicated airspeed (KIAS), 1.8g, and 60 degrees of bank angle. During this demonstration, a pronounced increase in 4/rev vibration occurred just prior to the nosc-up pitch and rapid right roll associated with blade moment stall. The pitch and roll were sufficient to level the wings in a nose-high attitude from the 60-degree bank even though some left forward cyclic was applied to oppose it. During APE 1.1 testing, deep blade moment stall was not encountered. However, the pronounced increase in 4/rev vibration prior to blade moment stall was encountered during left windup turns. For APE I.1 and the initial part of APE I.2, the safety-of-flight release envelope was limited to 1.5g in right windup turns because the contractor had not investigated blade moment stall to the right. During APE 1.2, the contractor conducted turns to the right to approximately 2.0g, and the APE 1.2 safety-of-flight release was amended to include 2.0g. An investigation of the characteristics of blade moment stall to the right has still not been conducted by the contractor. It is recommended that additional testing be conducted to evaluate the blade moment stall characteristics up to the structural or control limits.

59. During APE 1.3, blade moment stall was encountered. Figures 20 and 21, appendix H, are time histories of two encounters with blade moment stall during APE 1.3A. Figure 18, appendix I, is a time history of blade moment stall occurrence during APE I.3B, which was the most severe stall encountered during APE and RDAT testing. While attempting to stabilize at 1.8g at 150 KCAS in a left windup turn, an uncommanded nose-up pitch was encountered. As the load factor began to increase, the pilot returned the cyclic to trim, then applied increasing forward longitudinal cyclic stick as the load factor continued to increase. The normal load factor reached approximately 2.55 (0.75g above target and 0.67g above the envelope limit) even though the longitudinal control was moved to the forward stop. During this left descending turn, the aircraft pitched up approximately 50 degrees and rolled to the right approximately 100 degrees. During the recovery, the collective blade angle was reduced to 3 degrees, and a minimum load factor of approximately 0.1 was reached (ref 23, app A). There was no timely warning apparent to the pilot preceding the uncommanded pitch-up. A slight increase of vibration was apparent at approximately 1.4g, but there was no perceptible increase up to the stah. The lack of satisfactory warning of uncommanded pitch-up is a shortcoming.

60. Pitch rate is a primary pilot cue during maneuvering flight. The current envelope load factor limits of the AH-56A are equivalent to steady pitch rates of approximately 6 deg/sec up to 150 KCAS decreasing to only 2 deg/sec at 200 KCAS. Excessive pilot attention is required to remain within the flight envelope. The present flight limitations and poor maneuvering characteristics of the AH-56A make it impractical to perform operational maneuvers at high speed. This inability to perform operational maneuvers at high speed is a shortcoming.

61. At low airspeeds (80 KCAS), maneuvering characteristics are satisfactory within the presently approved envelope. As airspeed increases, the weak-to-neutral stick-fixed and stick-free maneuvering stability make the longitudinal control very sensitive. This sensitivity is incompatible with the large control inputs required to initiate maneuvers. It was extremely difficult to stabilize on a load factor above 1.5 at airspeeds of 150 knots and above. Under these conditions, aircraft control is further complicated by the disharmony of the lateral and longitudinal control displacements and forces, by apparent roll oscillations which are a side effect of the lift/roll decoupler, and by pitch-due-to-sideslip coupling. At 150 KCAS and above, attempts to control load factor above 1.5 required excessive pilot attention inside the cockp.t. Precise control of the aircraft should not require unique techniques at different airs seeds and load factors. During tactical maneuvering, the pilot's attention must be divided between many tasks. Although total pilot attention was devoted to aircraft control during maneuvering, control was lost, the load factor envelope was exceeded, and blade moment stall was encountered, on several occasions (HQRS 10). This inability to maintain aircraft control is a deficiency. Until this deficiency is corrected, the loss of control within the present flight envelope warrants a reduction in the envelope for future Army tests.

### **Controllability**

## General:

62. Controllability tests were conducted to evaluate the control power, response, and sensitivity as well as cross-coupling characteristics of the aircraft. Primary axis controllability was measured in terms of aircraft attitude displacements, angular velocities, and angular accelerations about an aircraft axis following a rapid step control input (maximum input time of 0.2 second) of a measured size. This input was held and all other controls held fixed until either the maximum rate was reached or recovery action was necessary. The magnitude of the inputs was varied (usually a minimum of three inputs in one direction for each control axis and one in the opposite direction). The inputs were started from a patie trim condition in hover, level flight, and dives above VH using an adjustable rigid control fixture to assist in achieving the desired inputs. Cross-coupling characteristics were evaluated by observing the angular displacements, velocities, and accelerations about all axes as well as cg normal acceleration and angle-of-sideslip changes which resulted from the step inputs. The data from these controllability tests are presented in figures 15 through 72, appendix F, and figures 19 through 33, appendix I. The data are summarized in terms of control response (maximum angular velocity per inch of stick displacement) and control sensitivity (maximum angular acceleration per ir ch of stick displacement) versus airspeed. Controllability testing was conducted during APE I.1 and APE I.3B at the conditions listed in table 4.

#### Longitudinal Controllability:

63. During APE I.1, the longitudinal control response to both forward and aft inputs was a constant 6 degrees per second per inch (deg/sec/in.) between airspeeds of about 60 and 100 KCAS (figs. 17 and 18, app F). At airspeeds less than 60 KCAS, the response to forward inputs increased with decreasing airspeed to a maximum of 8 deg/sec/in. at a hover. The response to aft inputs decreased in the same airspeed range to 5 deg/sec/in. at a hover. At airspeeds greater than 100 KCAS, response to forward and aft inputs increased with airspeed to maxima of 10 deg/sec/in. (aft) and 7 deg/sec/in. (forward) at 149 KCAS. The longitudinal control response is within the limits of CP0001A at airspeeds between hover and 149 KCAS. Longitudinal controllability tests were not conducted at airspeeds greater than 150 KCAS because load factor changes resulting from small control inputs would cause the aircraft to exceed the maneuvering flight envelope. Although quantitative longitudinal controllability data were not obtained at the higher airspeeds, the control response was qualitatively evaluated as excessive at airspeeds greater than 170 KCAS.

64. During APE 1.3, the pilots reported that the longitudinal control felt "sluggish" at high speeds. This was evidenced by relatively large longitudinal control displacements required to initiate or stop a pitch rate when making small pitch attitude changes. To make a small pitch attitude change, the pilot initially made a small longitudinal control input. Following this input, time required for the pitch rate to increase to a perceptible level was sufficiently long that the pilot thought

the aircraft was not responding to his command. Therefore, the pilot applied a larger input and finally achieved a pitch rate. When approaching the desired pitch attitude, the pilot attempted to stop the pitch rate, but the aircraft overshot the desired attitude. The sluggishness at high speeds appeared to be caused by the long pitch time constant (time from initiation of control input to attainment of maximum rate). At 150 KCAS, the pitch time constant during APE I.3B was approximately 1.7 seconds as compared with 1.2 seconds during APE I.1. The difference was probably caused by the pitch desensitizer installed prior to APE I.3 (para 11c). This longer pitch time constant at high speeds degraded the ability to precisely control pitch attitude and complicated maneuvering tasks (para 61). The excessively long pitch time constant is a shortcoming.

65. Longitudinal control power is defined as the angular pitch displacement after 1 second following a 1-inch step control input. The data from APE 1.1 testing are presented in figures 15 through 19, appendix F.

Test	Approximate Calibrated Airspeed (kt)	Approximate Gross Weight (1b)	Longitudinal Control Axis	Lateral Control Axis	Directional Control Axis
	Zero	18,300	X	X	X
APE I.1	60	18,300	x	х	x
	100	18,300	X	х	X
	150	18,300	x	X	X
	180	18,300		X	
APE I.3B	Zero	18,300	х	x	х
	60	18,300	X	x	Х
	100	18,300	X	X	x
	150	18,300	x	x	
	Zero	20,500	X	x	x
	150	20,500		х	

Table 4. Controllability Test Conditions.

21

66. The APE I.1 longitudinal control sensitivity data are presented in figures 20 through 24, appendix F. The sensitivity was greater in the forward than in the aft direction at airspeeds from hover to 101 KCAS. Between 101 and 149 KCAS, this trend was reversed; and at 149 KCAS, the sensitivity in the aft direction was greater. Also at 149 KCAS, the sensitivity in the aft direction increased markedly from its value at 101 KCAS (the response had a similar characteristic). These test data correlated well with pilot comments that the longitudinal control was unacceptably sensitive at high speeds.

67. At 18,300 pounds, there appeared to be no significant difference between the longitudinal control response obtained during APE I.1 and that obtained during APE I.3B (figs. 19 through 22, app I); however, there was a significant difference between the longitudinal control sensitivity from the two tests. The APE I.3B data showed a reduction of 39 percent in sensitivity at 150 KCAS since APE I.1. At lower airspeeds, the sensitivity was unchanged. The change at 150 KCAS was apparently caused by the pitch desensitizer system installed prior to APE I.3 (para 11c). This system is effective only above 110 knots and was probably responsible for the slight reduction in response at 150 KCAS. With the pitch desensitizer system installed, the excessive iongitudinal control sensitivity observed during APE 1.1 was no longer objectionable.

## Lateral Controllability:

68. The APE 1.1 lateral control response (figs. 25 through 31, app F) increased slightly with increasing airspeed from 23.5 deg/sec/in. to a maximum of 27 deg/sec/in. at 149 KCAS. Above this airspeed, the response began decreasing with increasing airspeed to a value of 24 deg/sec/in. at 179 KCAS. At all airspeeds tested, the lateral response was above the 20-deg/sec/in. maximum limit of paragraph 3.3.15 of MIL-H-8501A, but response was not objectionable.

69. The lateral control power (roll attitude displacement after 1/2 second following a 1-inch lateral control step input) satisfied the requirement of MIL-H-8501A (fig. 26, app F). The control power exceeded the hover requirement at all airspeeds tested during APE I.1. This is a desirable characteristic for an attack aircraft.

70. The APE I.1 lateral control sensitivity (figs. 32 through 38, app F) increased with increasing airspeed from 53 deg/sec2/in. at a hover to 62 deg/sec2/in. at 179 KCAS, the maximum speed tested. The censitivity increase between 60 and 165 KCAS was approximately linear and changed only about 2 deg/sec2/in.

<sup>71</sup>. The lateral control response and sensitivity were greatly reduced following APE 1.3A as part of a program to eliminate the tendency toward pilot-coupled roll oscillations (para 11d). At a nominal gress weight of 18,300 pounds, the response obtained during APE 1.3B was reduced to 7 deg/sec/in. at a hover and to 17 deg/sec/in. at 149 KCAS (figs. 23 through 26, app I). This response meets the minimum requirement of 5 deg/sec/in. of CP0001A. The sensitivity was reduced to 19.5 deg/sec/in. at a hover, increasing with increasing airspeed to 36 deg/sec2/in.

It 149 KCAS. The lateral control response and sensitivity were less at 20,500 pound (with external stores) than at 18,300 pounds (with no external stores). The roll response of the AH-56A was reported as an excellent feature during APE 1.1, enhancing the agility of the aircraft. During APE 1.3, the roll response was reduced significantly, degrading a desirable characteristic. Further testing is recommended to optimize the roll response for the attack mission.

i

72. The tendency toward pilot-coupled roll oscillation observed during APE I.1 was reduced prior to APE I.3B (paras 104 through 111). The reduction of this tendency was probably due more to the reduction of lateral sensitivity than to the reduction of lateral response. Other Army helicopters have lateral response similar to the Cheyenne's response during APE I.1, but pilots do not have the tendency to couple in roll. The control sensitivity of those aircraft, however, is less than half the sensitivity of the Cheyenne during APE I.1. Although reduction of the Cheyenne's lateral control sensitivity may have been necessary to reduce coupling tendencies, the reduction of lateral response degraded an excellent feature of the aircraft.

## **Directional Controllability:**

73. The directional controllability data obtained during APE I.1 are presented in figures 39 through 48, appendix F. These data were obtained without the use of a control fixture. The results of these data show that control response to both left and right pedal inputs ranged from 12 to 17 deg/sec/in. between airspeeds of 62 and 150 KCAS. The maximum rates were reached within 1 second of initiation c1 control input at these airspeeds. Response in a hover is presented in terms of yaw rate at 1 second after the pedal input versus the size of the input because the yaw rate continued to increase without reaching a steady value. Directional controllability tests were not conducted at airspeeds greater than 150 KCAS so that the small sideslip and maneuvering limits of the safety-of-flight release would not be exceeded. Directional control power could not be evaluated because of unreliable yaw attitude instrumentation.

74. From the APE I.1 data, the directional sensitivity (figs. 44 through 48, app F) appeared to be above 30 deg/sec2/in. at all conditions tested, except to the right at a hover and in both directions at 62 KCAS. Above 62 KCAS, the directional sensitivity increases with increased airspeed. The directional control response and sensitivity were satisfactory.

75. The data from APE I.3B directional controllability tests (figs. 27 through 29, app I) indicate  $r_0$  significant change in response from that obtained during APE I.1. The sensitivity obtained during APE I.3B, however, is lower than APE I.1 sensitivity, particularly at 100 KCAS. This difference is believed to be caused by the lack of a control for ure during APE I.1. Because of this, the pilot sometimes overshot the desired input size initially and then returned to the desired size, which would produce larger angular accelerations without necessarily altering the response data. The directional control response and sensitivity were satisfactory for the conditions tested.

# **Cross-Coupling**

### General:

76. During the conduct of the controllability tests, significant cross-coupling was observed, particularly during APE I.1. The three general types found were pitch due to sideslip, roll due to lift, and pitch due to roll. Pitch due to sideslip also appeared as a longitudinal trim change with sideslip angle in the static lateral-directional tests (para 44). Roll due to lift also appeared as a lateral stick displacement with load factor during the maneuvering stability tests (para 54).

1

## Pitch Due to Sideslip:

77. During APE 1.1, pedal step inputs in a hover produced negligible pitch and roll rates (fig. 66, app F). In forward flight, however, the same type inputs produced significant pitch rates and associated load factor and roll rate changes. A left pedal input produced a nose-up pitch rate and increase in load factor, and a right pedal input produced a nose-down pitch rate and a reduction in load factor. Figures 67 through 71 show pedal step inputs of approximately 1/2 inch at nominal airspeeds of 60, 100, and 150 KCAS. The maximum sideslip angles achieved decreased with increasing airspeeds, but the maximum pitch rates remained essentially constant. This means that the pitch rate per degree of sideslip angle increased with increasing airspeed. This is consistent with the trends of static lateral-directional stability with airspeed which are presented in figures 6 through 9. The maximum load factor changes increased with increasing airspean as expected, even though the pitch rates were constant. Because of the roll-due-to-lift coupling in this aircraft (para 54), load factor excursions also produced roll rates (left roll with decreasing load factor and right roll with increasing load factor). The roll rates encountered during these tests were not considered objectionable by the pilot. The pitch due to sideslip, however, was objectionable.

78. The pitc' due to sideslip encountered during APE I.3B tests was essentially the same as encountered during APE I.1. This pitch due to sideslip did not produce uncontrollable pitch rates but was very annoying. Quickly changing aircraft heading (*ie.* targets) in a dive was particularly difficult since some sideslip was almost always introduced requiring pilot compensation. This coupling also adversely affected maneuvering characteristics (para 57). The pitch-due-to-sideslip coupling is a shortcoming.

#### Roll Due to Lift (Lift/Roll Coupling):

79. During hover longitudinal controllability tests, lift/roll coupling was not apparent since there was no change of load factor (fig. 49, app F). In addition, here was negligible roll due to pitch. In forward flight during APE 1.1, however, lift/roll coupling was quite apparent. It was manifested as right roll rate with load factors greater than 1.0 and left roll rate with load factors less than 1.0 (figs. 50 through 54). At a constant airspeed, the roll rate varied with load factor, as would be expected from the maneuvering stability tests. Good agreement is shown by a comparison of the roll rates obtained during longitudinal controllability with the lateral stick displacement with load factor found during the maneuvering stability tests (para 54). For example, the maximum roll rate achieved following an aft longitudinal step input at about 150 KCAS (fig. 53, app F) was slightly more than 20 deg/sec (when corrected for a small lateral cyclic input), and the in\_ximum load factor was 1.6. The lateral stick displacement in a left windup turn was 0.8 inch at 1.6g (fig. 12), which is equivalent to a 21.6-deg/sec roll rate (at 1g) from a control response standpoint (fig. 25). Since the pitch rate during these two maneuvers was significantly different and the roll moments were equal, roll-due-to-pitch coupling was not present.

80. The variation of roll rate with airspeed at a constant load factor appeared to follow the trend of lateral stick displacement determined in the maneuvering stability tests (fig. 10, app F). The lift/roll coupling was most severe in the 145 to 165 KCAS range, with the least severe coupling below 100 KCAS. Although the best means of quantifying lift/roll coupling is in terms of lateral stick displacement per g (obtained under steady-state conditions during windup turns), the effects of this coupling on pilot workload and the ability of the pilot to control the aircraft are best demonstrated in dynamic maneuvers. In this respect, the recovery from an aft longitudinal step at 148 KCAS (fig. 53) is of interest. Prior to recovery, the pilot sensed the right roll caused by lift/roll c upling in addition to the nose-up pitch rate and the increased load factor. Therefore, upon recovery, the pilot displaced the cyclic control left as well as forward. Since the right rolling moment was reduced by the reduction of load factor, the left lateral displacement of the cyclic produced a left roll rate larger than desired by the pilot. At this point, the pilot entered pilot-coupled roll oscillations (paras 104 through 111) for approximately 2 cycles. The pilot reported difficulty in maintaining a wings-level attitude during symmetrical pull-ups and pushovers and also a tendency to overcontrol in roll, particularly during pushovers.

81. The lift/roll coupling in the AH-56A was significantly reduced by the lift/roll decoupler installed prior to APE 1.3B (para 11d). The decoupler senses load factor and airspeed and makes control inputs through a modulation piston in the roll servo. The roll moments produced by these inputs oppose the moment created by lift/roll coupling. The rolling moments did not always cancel each other because of the phasing and gain of the decoupler, and the residual lift/roll coupling was still objectionable. As was determined during APE 1.1, the coupling was most severe at approxmately 150 KCAS. These characteristics were apparent during longitudinal controllability testing during APE 1.3B. Longitudinal step inputs at 150 KCAS (figs. 30 and 31, app I), produced an apparent roll oscillation and a residual roll rate. This characteristic caused difficulty in precisely controlling roll attitude while maneuvering (paras 55 and 56). The lift/roll coupling and uncommanded roll oscillations which occurred whenever the normal acceleration of the aircraft was charging are shortcomings.

25

## Pitch Due to Roll (Pitch/Roll Coupling):

82. In API: 1.1, during lateral controllability tests in a hover, pitch/roll coupling was not apparent (figs. 55 and 56, app F) but was apparent in forward flight. Large right lateral step inputs (up to 1.6 inches) at nominal airspeeds of 150. 165, and 180 KCAS (figs. 60, 62, and 64, respectively) produced excessive pitch/roll coupling. Right lateral steps at these speeds produced a slight initial nose-up pitch rate followed by a large nose-down pitch rate and associated reduction in load factor. The initial nose-up pitch rate was not noticeable to the pilot. The large reduction in load factor caused the pilot to initiate .covery. On some occasions during the recovery, the load factor reached a minimum value of 0.4. The pitch/roll coupling at 150, 165, and 180 KCAS became more severe with larger laseral inputs (ie, larger right roll rates). Left lateral step inputs at these speeds produced a very slight initial nose-down pitch rate followed by a larger nose-up pitch rate (figs. 61, 63, and 65). The magnitude cf the nose-up pitch rate increased with increasing left roll rate, but in all cases was less severe than the pitch down with comparable right roll rates. In left rolls, an increase in 4/rev vibration occurred. For small control inputs in both directions, the pitch/roll coupling was not objectionable. At the lower airspeeds tested, the pitch/roll coupling was less severe and sometimes masked by the pitch due to sideslip. During right lateral steps at 63 and 100 KCAS (figs. 57 and 59), the nose pitched up rather than down, apparently because of the large right sideslip introduced during these maneuvers. Left lateral steps at 63 and 100 KCAS produced little or no pitch rate. In general, the pitch/roll coupling was more severe with right lateral inputs (nose-down pitch). The coupling was negligible in a hover and increased in severity with increasing airspeed, reaching an unacceptable level at about 150 KCAS. The pitch rates caused by pitch/roll coupling were higher with higher roll rates. The pitch/roll coupling encountered during APE 1.1 degraded the aircraft suitability as an attack helicopter.

83. Prior to APE 1.3, a control augmentation system was installed which virtually eliminated pitch/roll coupling (para 11c). During initial RDAT I testing, however, aircraft pitching with high roll accelerations was encountered with this system installed. The pilot described this as "nose bobble" with easily commanded high roll accelerations. Subsequent to the initial PDAT I testing and prior to the lateral controllability testing of APE I.3B, the lateral control sensitivity was reduced markedly (para 11d). With this reduction in sensitivity, the roll accelerations were less during APE I.3B than during RDAT I. As a result, the "nose bobble" encountered during the RDAT I testing was not opparent during APE I.3B. Aircraft reactions following a typical lateral step during APE I.3B are presented in figure 32, appendix 1. Pitch/roll coupling is no longer a problem in the AH-56A.

## Interaction of Cross-Coupling and Effects on Primary Axis Response:

34. The three types of cross-coupling found during APE i.i (pitch due to sideslip, roll due to lift, and pitch due to roll) did not always appear independently. There was often interaction between them, and under some conditions, this undesirable interaction affected the primary response of the aircraft. For example, at the higher

airspeed, large lateral inputs caused roll rates which peaked rapidly. By the time the roll rate reached a maximum, however, pitch/roll coupling had produced significant pitch rates and attendant load factor changes. Because of lift/roll coupling, these load factor changes produced rol<sup>---</sup> moments which opposed the moment created by the lateral control input. Therefore, the roll rate decreased rapidly, even though the control input was held constant (figs. 60 through 65, app F). This interaction between pitch/roll and lift/roll coupling aggravated the tendency for the pilot to overcontrol in roll at high speed, as is evidenced in figure 53, and to a lesser degree in figures 59 through 64. The pilot sensed the maximum roll rate and reacted to it by applying lateral cyclic in the opposite direction at about the same time the cross-coupling was also reducing these rates.

85. The magnitudes of the three types of coupling varied with both airspeed and magnitude of control input. Additionally, the polarity of pitch coupling with lateral control inputs changes with airspeed. These facts, plus the complex interaction of the various types of coupling, indicated that even with more experience in the aircraft, a pilot could not adequately compensate for uncommanded aircraft responses, even though the pilot's full attention was directed to that end. Control of the aircraft was furcher degraded when pilot attention was divided between flying the aircraft and other mission tasks.

86. During APE 1.3B, the effect of cross-coupling on primary axis response was negligible because of the elimination of pitch/roll coupling. However, since lift/roll and pitch due to sideslip were still present, the pilot had considerable difficulty compensating for uncommanded responses.

## Dynamic Stability

87. Dynamic stability tests were conducted to evaluate the aircraft short-period response following a gust disturbance. Gust disturbances were simulated by making 1-inch pulse control inputs, which were held for 0.5 second. Following the input, all controls were held fixed until either the aircraft motions damped or recovery action was required. Dynamic stability characteristics were evaluated in both directions for lengitudinal, lateral, and directional controls. These tests were conducted during APE I.1 and APE 1.3B at the same conditions as the controllability testing (table 4).

88. Longitudinal disturbances were well damped (figs. 73 through 75, app F). The short-period longitudinal dynamic stability characteristics of the AH-56A were satisfactory for all conditions tested during APE 1.

89. During APE 1.1, the lateral dynamic stability characteristics of the aircraft were investigated. Following a pulse control input, a time history of the roll rate showed a small amplitude roll oscillation which was lightly damped (figs. 76 through 80, app F). The initial period of this oscillation was approximately 0.7 second per cycle at airspeeds from hover to 100 KCAS, decreasing to approximately 0.6 second at 180 KCAS. At airspeeds below approximately 64 KCAS, the damping ratio of this oscillation (approximately 0.1 at 64 KCAS)

in level flight and 0.03 in a hover) was below the minimum requirement of paragraph 3.6.1.2 of MIL-H-8501A. At airspeeds of 100, 150, and 180 KCAS, the period appeared to increase with each cycle. This increase was greatest at 150 KCAS and was very slight at 180 KCAS. The initial damping appeared to be at or below the minimum required by the military specification at airspeeds above 65 KCAS. The damping appeared to increase with each cycle at airspeeds of 100, 150, and 180 KCAS. The lateral dynamic stability characteristics of the aircraft were unsatisfactory during APE I.1.

90. Roll oscillations contributed to the tendency of the pilot to couple with the aircraft in roll throughout the flight envelope. At the higher airspeeds (above 100 KCAS), this tendency was not excessive: however, it caused an increase in the pilot workload. At the lower airspeeds (below 65 KCAS), the coupling tendency was significantly increased. This was especially true in the transition portion of the flight and during liftoff to and touchdown from a hover. Under these conditions, large lateral trim changes occurred which excited the roll oscillation. Also, at these lower airspeeds, the damping of the roll oscillation was very weak. The large lateral trim changes, the weak lateral damping, and the high lateral control response and sensitivity often resulted in pilot-coupled roll oscillations (fig. 85, app F). A further discussion of pilot-coupled roll oscillations can be found in paragraphs 104 through 111.

91. The roll oscillation discussed in paragraph 89 has been attributed to the response of the coupled inplane-roll mode. In this context, this roll escillation is of more concern, in that it not only increases the pilot workload, as discussed in paragraph 90, but it is also associated with the structural dynamics of the mann rotor. A deterioration of the damping of this oscillation would cause it to become more pronounced and perhaps unstable. This could cause a dynamic instability in the main rotor. During APE 1.3A, the contractor conducted several control free-play checks in an attempt to minimize the effect of roll oscillations. The effect of component deterioration (free play, friction, damping, etc.) on the damping of this oscillation is not known. A detailed investigation should be made to determine the effect and the limits of deterioration.

92. The lateral short-period dynamic stability of the aircraft was greatly improved prior to APE 1.3B. A roll stability augmentation system (called a roll compensator by the contractor) is responsible for this improvement (para 11d). Testing during APE 1.3B has shown that lateral disturbances are well damped (figs. 34 and 35, app I). The contractor accomplished extensive testing in the low-airspeed regime with the roll compensator OFF between APE I.1 and APE I.3B. The results of some of those tests are presented in reference 24, appendix A, and indicate that the roll damping with the roll compensator OFF has decreased since APE I.1 and is unacceptably low at airspeeds less than approximately 50 KCAS. It is believed that this decrease in aircraft roll damping is caused by the decreased damping of a main rotor oscillatory mode (regressive mode). The regressive mode damping decreased as a result of increased main rotor droop. Damping of the characteristic 1-Hz roll oscillation was minimum in the 25- to 35-knot airspeed range during the contractor testing. This is very near the airspeed at which the lateral trim

shift is encountered when transitioning from hover to forward flight. This trim shift and low roll damping contributed to the problem of pilot-coupled roll oscillations encountered during APE I.1 and APE I.3A (paras 104 through 111). Hover takeoffs and landings should not be attempted with the roll compensator inoperative. With the roll compensator ON, the roll damping is satisfactory.

93. Directional disturbances were well damped (figs. 81 through 84, app F). The short-period directional dynamic stability characteristics were satisfactory throughout the test program.

94. During this program, specific testing to evaluate the 1P X 2P instability was not conducted. However, during a takeoff early in APE I.1, inadvertent rotor speed operation down to 83-percent rpm and high shaft moments were encountered. Low rotor speed and high shaft moments are prerequisites for 1P X 2P instability; however, this instability was not apparent.

95. During this program, specific testing to evaluate the 0.55P "hop" instability was not conducted. This instability was not apparent.

## Takeoff and Landing Characterisitcs

Hover:

96. The pilot effort required to hover the AH-56A in prepared areas was not excessive. Liftoff to a hover resulted in a change of roll attitude from 3 degrees (right wing low) on the ground to 5 degrees (left wing low) in a hover. The natural tendency was to attempt to hold the aircraft level using lateral cyclic control which often resulted in overcontrolling. Normal helicopter techniques were used to hover with the addition of propeller pitch control. Propeller pitch was varied, depending on wind conditions, to maintain a fixed position over the ground. The hover detent which requires minimum power under no-wind conditions is -2.2 degrees; this setting produced a level pitch attitude. Increases of propeller pitch resulted in a forward movement which was corrected by aft control displacemer producing hover is a unique and desirable feature of the Cheyenne. The aircraft characteristically hovered in a left-wing-low attitude (approximately 5 degrees) which was not objectionable to the pilots, but fails to meet the requirements of CP0001A which specifies a level hover attitude.

#### Hover Takeoff:

97. Transition to forward flight from a hover was initiated by slowly increasing propeller thrust while maintaining attitude with the cyclic and directional controls and height with the collective. During acceleration through translation, pronounced trim changes occurred in all axes. The aircraft tended to roll right, pitch up, and yaw left, requiring large control corrections and trim changes. The size of the change depended on the gross weight. The rate of change depended on the forward acceleration. The lateral control change was approximately 1-1/2 inches; the

longitudinal change was approximately 2 inches; and the directional change was approximately 2 inches (approximately 30 pounds including breakout). Overcontrolling was observed in all axes and was particularly objectionable in the roll axis while correcting for roll perturbations resulting from the transition trim shift, gust disturbances, collective and propeller pitch changes, or any other disturbance. Prior to APE L3B, overcontrolling led to pilot coupling which is discussed in paragraphs 104 through 111. This coupling did not occur during APE L3B testing. Pitch and roll trim changes were not objectionable, but the directional trim change was objectionable because of the large magnitude and because of the functioning of the directional trim system. The directional trim system is discussed in paragraph: 29. Power management was complicated by the need to correlate two power controls (propeller pitch and main rotor collective pitch) and is further discussed in paragraph 112.

#### Hover Landing:

98. Returning to a hover from forward flight presented the same magnitude changes of control requirements in the opposite direction. The same tendency to overcontrol in roll observed during hover takeoffs was present. The directional trim characteristics (para 29) caused out-of-trim conditions which often resulted in large heading variations.

#### **Unimproved Area Operations:**

99. During RDAT I, hover takeoffs and landings were made into unimproved firing positions in the desert conditions characteristic of Yuma Proving Ground, Arizona. Approaching and establishing a high-hover, and transitioning from the hover to forward flight over the unprepared firing position were difficult and demanding flight tasks. The pilot tasks and workload involved in making an approach to the hover over uneven terrain to an unprepared point were greater in this compound helicopter than the comparable task in a pure helicopter. Varying forward thrust using the propeller greatly increased the spectrum of approach variables that the pilot had to control. A natural tendency is to establish a hover with reference to the terrain. This tendency may result in a nose-high or nose low attitude which requires more power to hover because of the additional propeller thrust. The pilot workload during the test was increased because the conditions of temperature, gross weight, and hover height resulted in a very small margin between power required and the maximum power available. Pilot training must emphasize the characteristics of varying propeller thrust and its effect on safe operation to and from unimproved areas.

100. Acceleration to forward flight was made using the level-attitude technique. The propeller pitch was increased until 99-percent power was reached. The resulting acceleration was slow and a dust cloud developed which completely enveloped the aircraft for several seconds. Recorded roll oscillations during the acceleration were very low (less than  $\pm 3$  deg/sec). During the approach to the hover, roll rates of up to  $\pm 6$  deg/sec were recorded. No control difficulties or aircraft roll oscillations were detected by the pilot or copilot/gunner during either the approach or acceleration maneuvers.

## Rolling Takeoff:

i01. Rolling takeoffs were easier to accomplish than hovering takeoffs. The method used was to accelerate the aircraft to liftoff speed (50 to 60 KIAS) using propeller thrust, with the collective at 3 degrees, and then to make a small smooth collective application to become airborne. Large nose-up trim shifts resulted from the collective application which had to be corrected to keep the aircraft in a level accelerating attitude. Compared with the hovering takeoffs, there was less tendency to couple with the aircraft in roll, power management was not as critical (para 112), and the vibration levels were lower.

#### Run-On Landings:

102. Run-on landings required less pilot attention and were generally more smoothly accomplished than hover landings. Aircraft attitude control was less critical than during hover landings because the aircraft was landed at a speed above the speed at which reduced roll damping was encountered. In addition, power management was less critical because the high power requirements of hover were avoided. The task did become more difficult when collective pitch was increased too rapidly resulting in a large roll trim shift just prior to touchdown. A time history of this trim shift and the resulting roll oscillation during APE 1.1 is presented in figure 86, appendix F. In this case, the rolling landing was aborted, and the approach was terminated at a hover due to the roll oscillations.

103. The landing gear struts failed to compress evenly during several landings. Frequently, when run-on landings were made, the right strut compressed first resulting in a right roll as collective was lowered. The left strut would then compress. On one occasion, the roll rate was so abrupt that the landing was aborted to a hover to allow a verification of gear extension. The left strut was found to hang up during hover landings when the collective was slowly lowered so that smooth ground contact was made. With the collective pitch at the pneumatic-down stop (3.2 degrees), the roll attitude was 5 degrees (right wing down) when the left strut failed to compress (ref 25, app A). Failure of the two main landing gear struts to compress evenly complicates the landing task, and is a shortcoming.

#### Lateral Overcontrolling and Pilot-Coupled Roll Oscillations

104. Lateral overcontrolling was observed during APE 1.1, APE 1.2, RDAT I, and APE I.3. Pilot-coupled roll oscillations resulted from overcontrolling in Cheyenne 66-8834 (LCC SN 1009) although pilot-coupled roll oscillation was not reported in Cheyenne 66-8831 (LCC SN 1006). A development program was conducted by Lockheed-California Company to attempt to eliminate overcontrolling and pilot-coupled roll oscillation. This program and the results of USAASTA tests which were conducted are discussed in the following paragraphs. The aircraft characteristics observed during APE J.3B are also discussed.

105. Overcontrolling is defined as the use of more control displacement than is necessary to return the aircraft to the desired attitude following a disturbance,

requiring that the pilot make an additional correction to attain the desired aircraft attitude. Pilot coupling is a specific case of overcontrolling in which the phasing of the pilot's control input reinforces rather than corrects the aircraft oscillations. The pilot's response time is the time required to recognize the aircraft disturbance, decide on the corrective action, and move the control. Pilot response times normally range from 0.5 to 0.8 second. Aircraft response is determined by the control system lag and the short-period response. When the aircraft response has a period in the range of 0.8 to 1.2 seconds, coupling may occur when an overcontrolling tendency is present, as is the case in the AH-56A.

106. During APE I.1, overcontrolling or pilot-coupled roll oscillations were present during each hover landing and hover takeoff. The tendency while correcting for roll disturbances has also to overcontrol been observed throughout the flight envelope during APE and RDAT testing. Pilot-coupled roll oscillation was also a significant factor in complicating recovery from blade moment stall (refs 26 and 27). Pilot-coupled roll oscillations during hover takeoffs and landings were a serious deficiency during APE 1.1 (ref 15) and APE 1.3A, and the tendency to overcontrol in roll was encountered during every task evaluated in RDAT I and was reported as a deficiency (ref 17). Hover takeoffs and landings were precluded during APE I.2 due to limitations of the allowable collective blade angle. Time histories of hover takeoffs, landings, recoveries from blade moment stall, and recovery from a lateral step are presented in figures 85 through 88, appendix F, and figures 20 through 24, appendix H. Pilot-coupled roll oscillations observed while flying the AH-56A were found to have two particularly serious results: (1) aircraft control requirements increased the pilot workload to such a degree that the pilot was unable to cope with other critical functions such as power management; and (2) at low airspeeds, main rotor chord bending loads increased significantly.

107. The increase of workload imposed by overcontrolung and pilot-coupled roll oscillation was most severe during hover takeoffs and landings where the pilot workload is at the highest level observed in the flight envelope. These tasks are much more complex in the Cheyenne than in other aircraft in the Army inventory due to the additional control requirements of the propeller and the large control position trim changes which occur in all axes when passing through transition (paras 97, 98, and 112). In addition, roll damping decreases to a minimum at approximately 35 KIAS (para 92). On numerous takeoffs and landings, intense pilot attention was required to control the aircraft while attempting to recover from the pilot-coupled roll oscillation (ref 28, app A). During one instance, power management was neglected and the main rotor speed dropped to 83 percent due to power demands in excess of the engine capability. During rolling takeoffs or landings, the pilot workload was less since the large lateral and directional trim changes and minimum damping occurred when the aircraft was on the ground. Additionally, power management was not as critical.

108. Large increases in main rotor loads occur during pilot-coupled roll oscillation in the AII-56A. During one transition, loads approached 98 percent of the buckling limit load. During the instances of coupling shown in figures 22 and 23. appendix H, the main rotor chord bending loads exceeded the inspection limit by approximately 25 percent and 10 percent, respectively (refs 29 and 30, app A); however, no apparent damage was revealed during inspection of the blades.

109. The Lockheed-California Company introduced a series of changes in an attempt to eliminate pilot-coupled roll oscillation. These changes included: installation of the roll compensator, reduction of control system free play, reduction of lateral control breakout and force gradient, installation of 16-Hz and 32-Hz notch filters in the roll compensator, reduction of lateral control sensitivity and response, and removal of the main rotor tip weights. Although removal of the tip weights was effective in increasing roll damping, the weights were reinstalled in order to maintain sufficient damping of a main rotor oscillatory mode (reactionless mode) (ref 31, app A). The chronology of testing and modifications associated with pilot-coupled roll oscillation is presented in figure A.



Figure A. Relation of Pilot-Coupled Roll Oscillation Modifications to APE I, RDAT I, and Pilot-Coupled Roll Oscillation Testing.

33

110. Evaluations of the initial and second group of modifications were conducted during APE 1.3A (fig. A). An additional comprehensive evaluation was directed. The results of this evaluation (ref 32, app A) confirmed the APE 1.3A results and are as follows:

a. The installation of the roll compensator increased roll damping in the low-airspeed regime, except around 35 KTAS, but did not prevent pilot-coupled roll oscillation.

b. The 16-Hz notch filter was required to prevent saturation of the roll compensator due to high vibration.

c. Changes to the lateral control breakout and force gradient increased the tendency to overcontrol at higher airspeeds (above 100 knots).

d. The various techniques used during hover takeoff provided no significant differences in the tendency toward pilot-coupled roll oscillation.

e. There was a greater tendency toward pilot-coupled roll oscillation noted when flying from the forward cockpit.

f. Increasing gross weight from 18,300 to 20.500 pounds resulted in an increase of vibration, produced larger trim shifts, and increased pilot attention required for power management, all of which increased the tendency towards pilot-coupled roll oscillation.

g. No significant differences were found between the handling qualities of aircraft S/N 66-8831 and S/N 66-8834.

h. Diversion of attention from aircraft control during critical phases of takeo.f and landing was immediately followed by pilot-coupled roll oscillation.

111. Prior initiation of APE 1.3B, the final modifications of this series were incorporated: reduction of the lateral control sensitivity and response and installation of the 32-Hz filter in the roll compensator. The aircraft handling qualities were evaluated during a total of 18 hover takeoffs and landings by two USAASTA pilots. During these transitions, no pilot-coupled roll oscillations were encountered, although roll overcontrolling was observed. During hover takeoffs at 20,500 pounds, pilots reported an apparent reduction of roll damping at approximately 35 knots giving a feeling similar to hover takeoffs at 18,300 pounds prior to the installation of the roll compensator. The tendency toward pilot-coupled roll oscillation has been significantly reduced, but the tendency to overcontrol in roll is still present, particularly during hover takeoffs and landings (HQRS 4). The overcontrolling tendency fails to meet the requirements of paragraph 3.3.15 of M1L-H-8501A and is a shortcoming.

### **Power Management**

112. Power management required higher pilot workload in this aircraft than in conventional helicopters because of the additional control requirement of the pusher propeller. Pilot workload was high, but acceptable, during takeoffs from a hover. During hover takeoffs, the pilot accelerated the aircraft by increasing propeller blade angle. When translational lift was achieved, the pilot began reducing the collective blade angle while continuing to increase propeller blade angle until the desired settings for climb were reached. The pilot had to carefully program these changes in propeller and collective blade angles to avoid exceeding maximum power limits. This was especially critical during the first part of the taken of the the relatively high power required to hover left only a small amount of power for the propeller. This problem will become more critical as gross weight, altitude, or temperature is increased. Timely warning of rotor speed loss because of power demands exceeding power available is required. During APE 1.1, the warning did not activate until rotor speed had reached 90 percent, the lower limit. Prior to APE 1.3, the warning was changed to activate at 96 percent, allowing the pilot to react and remain within limits.

113. During high-speed flight at high power settings, power required was very sensitive to airspeed changes at fixed propeller blade angles. Power required was also very sensitive to small propeller control changes. Therefore, the pilot had to closely monitor torque, turbine inlet temperature, and main rotor speed in this flight regime to avoid exceeding maximum power limits. It was difficult to know which parameter (torque or turbine inlet temperature) would determine maximum power available. A characteristic which complicated the pilot's task was the difficulty of differentiating between rpm loss caused by engine topping and that caused by static droop. Therefore, the pilot workload was unacceptably high in the high-speed flight regime and is a shortcoming. At all airspeeds, power increases with a decrease in airspeed at a constant propeller blade angle. Since this is opposite to power requirements in other aircraft, it must be stressed in AH-56A pilot training.

### Autorotational Entry

「ないない」というとうという

114. Autorotational entries were performed during APE I.3B at 150 and 160 KCAS using a collective of 5 degrees and Beta for level flight, and at 180 KCAS using a collective of 3 degrees and Beta for normal rated power. Tests were initiated at 100-percent rotor speed and a density altitude of 4000 to 5000 feet. Takeoff gross weight was 18,800 pounds with the cg at FS 300.0 (aft) in the clean configuration. Engine failures were simulated by use of the engine overspeed protection system which restricted fuel flow when activated by a pushbutton on the cyclic stick. Change of the collective pitch or propeller pitch (Beta) control was progressively delayed in order to evaluate the aircraft response and determine the time available for recognition and reaction to a sudden, complete engine power failure (delay time).

115. Within the airspeed range of 150 to 180 KCAS, aircraft attitude excursions following simulated engine failures were mild. Initially, a left yaw occurred followed

by a right yaw resulting from reduction of propeller pitch. Pitch and roll excursions were minor until the collective control was lowered. At airspeeds above 150 KCAS, the primary rotor-speed control is Beta, and care should be exercised to avoid a rapid reduction of collective which can result in abrupt nose-down pitch ng and further rotor speed decay.

The decay rate of main rotor speed prior to reduction of collective pitch 116. or propeller pitch varied between 10 and 14 percent per second at 180 KCAS. Automatic reduction of propeller pitch to 18 degrees was initiated by the Delta Beta system when main rotor speed decreased to 94 percent. During these tests. the maximum pilot delay achieved was 0.8 second, and the transient minimum rotor speed observed was 91 percent. Activation time of the Delta Beta system was consistently greater than 1.2 seconds following a simulated engine failure. This response time is too long to prevent the rotor speed from falling below the lower transient limit (85 percent) within the 2-second delay time required by MIL-II-8501A. When considering the many tasks that will occupy the pilot during attack missions, the excessive rate of rotor speed decay and delayed activation of the Delta Beta system will not allow the pilot to recognize the engine failure and take proper corrective action in sufficient time to keep within the operating limits. The excessive rotor speed decay at high airspeed which allows the rotor speed to drop below the minimum transient limits is a deficiency. A complete evaluation of the autorotational entry, descent, and landing characteristics should be conducted by the Army.

117. The phenomenon defined as wing stall was observed during several stabilized autorotational descents at approximately 85 KIAS. Wing stall produced a mild rolling oscillation similar to light turbulence. Following the stall, main rotor speed increased approximately 3 percent. Wing stall was not objectionable.

#### **Pusher Propeller Characteristics**

118. The pusher propeller is a unique feature of the AH-56A compound aircraft providing an excellent capability to make rapid decelerations, stabilize airspeed during dives, and permit a variation of aircraft attitudes in stabilized flight Aircraft control requirements with propeller pitch changes are easily controllable at airspeeds above 100 KIAS, but large and objectionable directional trim shifts result during landing approach and takeoffs. The capability to rapidly decelerate the aircraft enhances agility for nap-of-the-earth flight, and the capability to hold a constant airspeed during dives increases the time available for target engagement. Dive characteristics were evaluated at a trim speed of 120 KCAS with the collective pitch set at 5 degrees. A dive angle of 9 degrees and a rate of descent of 200 feet per minute resulted from a 16-degree propeller setting; a dive angle of 12 degrees and a rate of descent of 2400 feet per minute resulted from a 12-degree propeller setting; and a dive angle of 16 degrees and a rate of descent of 3500 feet per minute resulted from an 8-degree propeller setting.

### Sideward and Rearward Flight

119. Sideward and rearward flight tests were conducted to simulate hovering in winds from zero to 20 KTAS, at azimuths of zero, 45, 90, 135, 180, 225, 270, and 315 degrees relative to the aircraft. The tests were conducted during APE 1.3B at a nominal gross weight of 20,500 pounds, a forward cg at FS 293, and a wheel height of approximately 5 feet. The data are presented in figures 37 through 40, appendix I.

The minimum steady-state control margin observed occurred during right 120. sideward flight at the 20-knot envelope limit. At this condition, only 8.7 percent of the full pedal travel remained to the left. During acceleration to this condition, pedal movements came within 0.4 inch (5.3 percent) of the stop. Although test constraints allowed testing at only one weight and altitude, numerous tests (refs 33 and 34, app A) have shown that both left directional control and tail rotor power requirements increase as gross weight or density altitude increase. As power requirements increase in right sideward flight (with increases in gross weight or density altitude), even more left directional control will be required. Pilot workload increased as the aircraft approached translational lift. The greatest pilot workload was encountered at approximately 18 KTAS, left sideward flight, where large and frequent control movements were required about all axes and the left directional control stop was reached. At 20 KTAS, the pilot workload was reduced because the aircraft became more stable. It is anticipated that additional control problems will be encountered when the aircraft reaches translational lift with the associated large trim shifts. Directional control margins of less than 10 percent during stabilized sideward flight and contacting the directional control stops during transient sideward flight does not meet the intent of the requirements of MIL-H-8501A, in that adequate directional control is not provided. The inadequate ulrectional control margin in sideward flight is a deficiency. Until the deficiency is corrected, the lack of adequate directional control margin warrants a reduction in the sideward flight envelope for future Army tests.

121. The 20-KTAS safety-of-flight release restriction prevented investigation of the translational lift regime at 20,500 pounds. Also, because of this restriction, compliance with the 35-knot sideward flight requirement and the 30-knot rearward requirement of MIL-H-8501A could not be investigated. Tail rotor power requirements could not be determined because of instrumentation problems. Further investigations should be conducted at maximum operational gross weight and altitude at various wheel heights to 35 KTAS in sideward flight and 30 KTAS in rearward flight.

#### WEAPONS FIRING

#### General

122. Aircraft S/N 66-8831 was used to conduct the weapons firing tests. The weapons fired included the XM51 (40mm), XM52 (30mm), and FFAR. The firing

was conducted at the conditions listed in tables 5, 6, and 7. The TOW missiles and the XM53 (7.62mm) weapon system were not fired because the test aircraft did not have these weapons systems installed.

Indicated Airspeed (kt)	Gun Azimuth (deg)	Gun Elevation (deg)	Ammunition Expended (rd)
148	Zero	Zero	23
148	Zero	Full up	23
146	90 right	Zero	23
148	Traverse 30 right to 60 left	Zero	106
60	Zero	Zero	35
60	Zero	Full down	10
60	90 right	Full up	<sup>1</sup> 31
60	60 90 right		<sup>1</sup> 39
60	60 90 right		<sup>1</sup> 49
Hover <sup>2</sup>	Hover <sup>2</sup> 30 right		7
Hover <sup>2</sup>	30 left	As required	30

Table 5. Firing Conditions, XM51 (40mm Nose Turret).

<sup>1</sup>Fired in two bursts.

<sup>2</sup>Propeller thrust was used to obtain a nose-up attitude of approximately 10 degrees.

Indicated Airspeed (kt)	Cun Azimuth (deg)	Gun Elevation (deg)	Ammunition Expended (rd)
170	Zero	Zero	14
180	Zero	Full up	15
175	Zero	Full down	14
185	90 left	Zero	13
180	90 left	Full up	15
175	90 left	Full down	15
150	Zero	Zero	19
150	90 right	Full up	14
150	180	Full up	14
150	Traverse zero to 90 right	As required	87
150	Traverse zero to 180 left	As required	122
140	90 right	Zero	26
140	180	Zero	20
60	90 left	Full up	14
60	90 left	Full down	15
60	90 left	Zero	6

Table 6. Firing Conditions, XM52 (30mm Belly Turret).

39

1 . ..... . . . . . . .

indicated Airspeed (kt)	Flight Path (deg)	Rockets Fired	Firing Mode
120	5 dive	6	Ripple
120	10 dive	6	Ripple
120	20 dive	6	Ripple
180	5 dive	6	Ripple
185	20 dive	14	Ripple
140 Level		38	Salvo

Table 7. Firing Conditions, XM159 (2.75-inch FFAR).

#### XM51 Weapon System

123. The firing tests of the nose-turret XM51 weapon system (40mm grenade launcher) produced the most noticeable aircraft response. In the forward azimuths and near zero elevations, neither aircraft response nor vibration was observed. As the weapon azimuth and/or depression were increased, the vibration levels at both crew positions increased. At the 90-degree azimuth positions, firing caused the nose of the aircraft to yaw away from the direction of fire if no pedal correction was made. This yawing was easily controlled with light pedal pressure at each airspeed evaluated. At 60 KIAS, precise control of this yawing was the most difficult, because of the reduced directional stability at this low airspeed, but was still considered acceptable for accurately firing this weapon. When firing at the full-down depression angles, a heavy vertical vibration at gun firing frequency was observed. This vibration was heavy enough to have a significant effect on target tracking at both crew positions and is a shortcoming.

124. During the imng, gun gas was detected in both crew stations on two firing runs (ref 35, app A). The first was at 60 KIAS (firing 20 rounds, 90 degrees right, and full-down depression). The second was during the 150-KIAS traverse firing test (approximately 105 nounds from 30 degrees right to 60 degrees left at zero elevation). In both cases, the environmental control unit (ECU) was ON, and the gas dissipated in 15 to 30 seconds. The presence of gun gases is a shortcoming. The noise level during the firing varied similarly to the changes in vibration level and was acceptable for all conditions evaluated. One abnormal shutdown and stoppage of the XM51 weapon system occurred during these tests as the result of an atamunition link failure.

## XM52 Weapon System

The firing tests of the XM52 (30mm belly turret) weapon system caused 125. much lower noise, vibration, and aircraft responses than the 40mm nose-turret weapon. Only in the zero elevation, 90-degree azimuth positions, was any significant aircraft response to weapon firing observed. These side firing positions caused a small roll and yaw response which was easily corrected and controlled. Stopping and starting firing in these side firing conditions produced no noticeable roll oscillations or control difficulties at any of the airspeeds evaluated. The most noticeable response related to the XM52 weapon occurred when the turret was abruptly moved in either azimuth or elevation in the direct control mode. These abrupt turret movements caused noticeable yaw and roll response from 5 to 6 degrees and from 3 to 4 degrees, respectively. These response characteristics were acceptable for the direct mode - a secondary or failure mode of operation of the XM52 turret. Aircraft response to turret movements made while operating in the primary (stabilized) mode of operation were less noticeable and were acceptable. Airframe vibration and noise observed during the XM52 weapon system firing tests were low. Strong gun-gas odor was detected during the 175-KIAS, zero-azimuth, full-down-depression firing run (ref 35, app A). The ECU was OFF at the time; however, the noticeable gas dissipated in 15 to 30 seconds. Abnormal shutdowns and weapon stoppages were experienced twice during these tests. The first resulted from a shear-pin failure in the aft drive motor. The second resulted from a separation of a conveyor chute link in the weapon feed system. During the test, 480 rounds of 30mm ammunition were fired. While traversing the weapon to the left, a single burst of 122 rounds was fired without interruption.

## Folding-Fin Aircraft Rocket Firing

126. A full load of 38 rockets was fired at 140 KIAS in a single salvo without any noticeable effects either on the aircraft or the handling qualities. A second load was fired in dives of 5, 10, 15, and 20 degrees at approximately 120 and 180 KIAS. No aircraft response was observed while firing the rockets. The AH-56A characteristic which enables the pilot to stabilize on a selected airspeed at any dive angle was outstanding. Stable, trimmed 1.0g dives were easy to establish and maintain and should increase rocket accuracy. Difficulties in changing targets were observed during APE I and are discussed in paragraph 44. Controlling the free turbine and rotor speed during steep dive angles (greater than 20 degrees) and during the recovery phase may cause a significant increase in pilot workload since both tended to increase as the dive angle and amount of reverse Beta were increased. The effects of decreased propeller thrust on pilot workload should be further investigated to the limits of the reverse Beta control at all usable attack dive angles.

### Hover Firing

and the second second

127. The aircraft response to weapon firing while hovering IGE was evaluated. The XM51 weapon was fired while hovering approximately 20 feet above the ground in a 10-degree nose-high attitude. Thirty-seven rounds of 40mm ammunition were fired at 30-degree azimuths right and left of the nose with full-up elevation.

Although forward visibility from the pilot station was very restricted in this attitude, a stable hover was easily maintained during the firing. No unusual changes in aircraft attitude, vibration, or noise were observed during either of the firing bursts.

## **GROUND OPERATIONS**

## Preflight

128. The pilot's preflight inspection, as outlined in the preliminary operator's manual (ref 36, app A) was evaluated. The inspection appeared to be adequate and casily accomplished, except for the following areas:

a. <u>Page 3-7, Paragraph 3-10.</u> Add "Check tail wheel locking indicator and tail wheel in locked position."

b. <u>Page 3-8</u>, <u>Paragraph 3-12</u>. Add "Check fuel control shaft position to ensure that it is at the shut-off stop."

c. <u>Page 3-8</u>, <u>Paragraph 3-12</u>. Closing and securing the engine cowling requires two personnel with screwdrivers. It must be secured from both sides simultaneously and cannot be secured from the left side only after the inspection is completed. This condition is a shortcoming.

d. <u>Page 3-8, Paragraph 3-13</u>. A flashlight is required (even on a sunny day) to check the APU oil level an 'right-angle gearbox in the left gear well. The lack of adequate lighting is a shortcoming. A light to illuminate the oil level sight gages is desirable.

### **Ingress and Egress**

129. Ingress and egress in both cockpits were satisfactory except for two shortcomings:

a. The lack of a handhold on the aft right sponson above the boarding ladder to aid combat-equipped aviators to board the aircraft.

b. The lack of a handrail on the top of the fuselage between the engine inlet and the aft canopy.

#### Start and Run-Up

130. The auxiliary power unit (APU) starting procedure is automatic. However, the reliability of the control box was low and is a shortcoming. The APU failed to start 12 times out of 30 attempts, and the control box was changed six times during the APE I.1 test program. (ref 37, app A). Numerous failures occurred during APE I.3, and the control box was changed three times.

131. The engine start is automatic after the pilot activates the starter button and moves the engine condition grip from the OFF to the IDLE position at a 20-percent gas producer speed.

132. The run-up and systems checks are satisfactory.

<u>Taxi</u>

Ground taxi with propeller thrust instead of the usual cyclic stick movement 133. was outstanding: the aircraft handles very well on the ground. Maximum reverse thrust propeller angle of the APE I test aircraft was -5 degrees instead of the design -17.2 degrees because of instrumentation. For this reason, brakes were required to assist in stopping. The brakes were effective and not overly sensitive. These brakes have been observed to fade after heating up from hard braking. This fading is a problem area and is a shortcoming. Directional control during taxi was excellent. Vibration levels in the front seat were low, and in the rear seat the vibration levels were moderate. The tail wheel must be locked by a lever in the cockpit for takeoff and landing. However, the tail wheel must be unlocked for all taxi turns or it will be subjected to side loads strong enough to skid the tire. On several occasions, the tail wheel remained locked even though the lever had been activated to unlock it. The pilot cannot detect this condition until excessive tire skidding has occurred. The lack of a reliable tail-wheel unlocking mechanism is a shortcoming.

## COCKPIT EVALUATION

134. The cockpit of the APE I test aircraft was nonstandard with special test instrumentation installed; however, the following items, applicable to all AH-56A aircraft, were noted:

a. The toggle switches for the hydraulic systems, the ALTERNATE N<sub>f</sub>, ignition, boost pump, anti-icer, engine air, and environmental control system are miniature switches that are easily bent, a shortcoming. Two switches, IGNITION and ALTERNATE N<sub>f</sub>, were found bent during pilot training and this test. These switches should be the stronger type toggle switches used for the other cockpit switches.

b. The propeller and engine condition grips are the same configuration, a shortcoming. These grips are located on the collective lever with the propeller grip forward and the engine condition grip immediately behind it. The engine condition grip can easily be mistaken for the propeller grip and inadvertently reduced to IDLE in flight. There should either be a positive lock on the engine condition grip in the RUN position, or it should be relocated to avoid confusion.

c. The emergency fuel and engine shutoff system is electrical, which presents a safety hazard if all electrical power is lost and emergency fuel and engine shutoff is required. The lack of a mechanical fuel and engine shutoff in the cockpit is a shortcoming. d. The ALTERNATE Nf increase/decrease control is overly sensitive. Operation of the ALTFRNATE Nf in the decrease direction can quickly decrease rotor speed below operating limits and shut down the engine. The excessive sensitivity of the ALTERNATE Nf control is a shortcoming.

e. The rotor brake is an excellent feature and very effective in stopping the rotor.

f. An accurate accelerometer must be provided in all AH-56A aircraft to assist the pilot to remain within the prescribed load factor envelope. Without an accelerometer, adequate identifiable pilot cues are not available.

g. The fault locator aural warning system (FLAWS) and the voice warning system are excellent concepts and should be included on all future AH-56A aircraft to warn the pilot of malfunctions while he is heavily engaged in flight, navigation, and fire control system tasks. This system, however, must be accurate and reliable. Nuisance activations occurred five times in 18 flights during APE I.1. The reliability of this system was improved during APE 1.3.

h. The lack of a placard or gage markings showing collective blade angle limits is a shortcoming.

i. The circuit breaker panels are above and behind the pilot's head. They are difficult to see (requiring 180-degree head rotation) and most cannot be reached by a pilot with average length arms while strapped in his seat. The inability to reach most of the circuit breakers in flight is a shortcoming.

j. Either the pilot or the copilot/gunner has the capability of extinguishing both "MASTER CAUTION" warning lights (ref 38, app A). When the copilot/gunner depresses his "MASTER CAUTION" light, the pilot's warning is also extinguished. This is undesirable because the pilot has only a limited number of items on his caution panel, and the pilot may not be alerted to the warning condition. Depressing the "MASTER CAUTION" warning light should only extinguish the one light being depressed. Correction of this shortcoming is desirable.

k. The government-furnished radios were not equipped with the capability to preset frequencies, and an excessive amount of pilot attention and time was required to manually set frequencies. The ability to quickly shift UHF, VHF, and FM frequencies is essential to accomplishment of attack helicopter tasks involving coordination of air strikes, artillery fires and several ground maneuver elements. The lack of capability to rapidly shift to preselected frequencies is a shortcoming.

135. The ECU is necessary for equipment and personnel cooling. During this test, use of the ECU was required for cockpit cooling, even when the outside air temperature was below  $20^{\circ}C/68^{\circ}F$  because no other source of ventilation was available. At higher temperatures, the ECU was inadequate to provide crew comfort. a shortcoming. The ECU was generally effective in removing smoke and fumes that were present in the cockpit on several occasions during the test. The ECU

operation increased the cockpit noise level which occasionally interfered with ICS communications and radio transmissions, a shortcoming.

#### MISCELLANEOUS

#### General

136. This section of the report discusses the airspeed calibration, vibration characteristics, structural loads, control system characteristics, and maintenance items.

#### Airspeed Calibration

137. Airspeed calibration tests were conducted during APE I.1 to determine the position error of the standard ship's system and the test (boom) airspeed system in level flight. A pacer aircraft (F-51D) was used for the calibration. The calibration was conducted in the clean configuration. The data are presented in figures 88 and 89, appendix F.

#### **Vibration Characteristics**

138. During APE 1.1, vibration data were recorded in the vertical and lateral axes in the front cockpit (FS 124) and the aft cockpit (FS 170). Vertical vibration data were also recorded near the aircraft cg (FS 310). Vibrations at frequencies corresponding to the main rotor harmonics (1/rev, 2/rev, 4/rev, and 8/rev) were evaluated. Quantitative vibration data during maneuvers were not obtained due to lack of adequate instrumentation. Additionally, the 1/rev and 2/rev vibration data are questionable because the response of the vibration sensors was no, linear at these frequencies. These data are presented in figures 90 through 94, appendix F.

Vibrations were measured from 38 to 189 KCAS at the stations listed in 139. paragraph 138. The aft seat lateral vibrations were low throughout the speed envelope. At both crew locations, the 4/rev vertical vibration levels were generally below the specification limits at airspeeds below 184 KCAS. The 8/rev vibration levels at these locations were generally double the maximum specification limits above 110 KCAS rising sharply to triple the maximum specification limit at 189 KCAS. The 4/rev vertical vibrations in the front cockpit were low compared to the lateral vibrations which ranged from moderate to objectionable. Just the opposite was true in the aft cockpit where the lateral vibrations were low and the vertical vibrations ranged from low to objectionable. As airspeed increased for a given collective setting, the vibration levels generally increased. When the collective was lowered, the vibration level decreased. Recorded 4/rev and/or 8/rev vibration levels throughout the flight envelope generally exceeded the limits of MIL-H-8501A (hence CP0001A) at all locations, except the aft seat lateral. In some cases, these vibration levels were two to three times the maximum military specification limits. Vibration levels during hover in calm winds were relatively low. Wind direction and speed had a marked effect on vibration levels during hover and hover takeoffs. On one occasion during hover with a right rear quartering tail wind of 12 to 18 knots, vibration levels from the main rotor, propeller, and tail rotor were so high that the pilot was concerned that something was wrong with the aircraft and aborted the takeoff. The levels subsided when the aircraft was turned into the wind. Accelerations from and decelerations to a hover resulted in objectionally high vibration levels which on some occasions made the instruments unreadable and caused a numbing sensation in the pilot's body. This degraded the pilot's ability to perform necessary tasks.

140. Prior to APE 1.3, the right wing and horizontal stabilizer incidence were changed to reduce the cyclic blade angle requirements at high speed in an attempt to reduce the vibration. Only limited vibration data were obtained because of instrumentation problems. Data obtained during the static longitudinal and lateral-directional stability tests are presented in figures 25 through 32, appendix H. Qualitatively, there appeared to be a reduction in the 4/rev and 8/rev vibration amplitudes at speeds above 160 knots; however, the requirements of CP0001A were still exceeded. There was a definite and perceptible increase in 4/rev vibration with sideslip, particularly to the right. Qualitatively, vibration levels in aircraft S/N 66-8831 were lower than in aircraft S/N 66-8834. The excessive 4/rev and 8/rev vibration level in the test aircraft S/N 66-8834 exceeded the specification limits, degraded the pilot's ability to perform necessary tasks, caused undue pilot fatigue, and is a deficiency.

#### Structural Loads

141. Structural loads data were recorded continuously during the test program. The results of these tests will be presented in a supplement by AVSCOM.

# **Control System Characteristics**

142. The front cockpit control breakout forces, force gradients, and ranges of movement were determined during grour. ' tests with the rotors stationary. Ground power units were used to provide elect.: al and hydraulic power for the tests. Only the number-two hydraulic system functioned during ground power operations. Control forces were measured from the center of the cyclic grip, the base of the directional pedals, and at the center of the propeller twist grip control for the collective. Control positions were measured using the onboard instrumentation. Breakout forces (including friction) were determined by recording the forces required to obtain initial movement of each control. The force gradients were determined from plots of the control position versus applied increment of force. Measurements were made in both directions from the trim null position for each control. The tests were conducted during APE I.1 and repeated during APE I.3B. The data from the tests are presented in figures 95 through 99, appendix F, and figures 41 through 46, appendix I. The results are summarized in table 8.

## Table 8. Control Forces and Force Gradients.

	"Q" Sensor	Minimum/Maximum	Test Results		
Parameter	Airspe 1 (kt)	Allowed by MIL-H-8501A	APE I.1	APE I.3B	
Longitudinal breakout <sup>1</sup>	Zero	N/A	16.0 lb	N/A	
	Zero	0.5/1.5 1b	2.0 lb (aft) 1.0 lb (fwd)	2.0 1b (aft) 2.5 1b (fwd)	
	100			1.0 1b (aft) 2.5 1b (fwd)	
Longitudinal breakout <sup>2</sup>	150		N/ A	2.5 lb (aft) 1.5 lb (fwd)	
	189	N/A	0.0 1b (eft) 2.0 1b (fwd)	n/A	
	200		ri/A	1.0 lb (aft) 2.5 lb (fwd)	
	Zero	0.5/2.0 1b/in.	4.0 lb/in.	4.0 lb/in. (aft) 3.0 lb/in. (fwd)	
	100			5.5 lb/in. (aft) 3.5 lb/in. (fwd)	
Longitudinal gradient <sup>2</sup>	150 N/A	N/A	7.0 lb/in. (aft) 4.5 lb/in. (fwd)		
	189		6.5 1b/in.	N/A	
	200		N/A	5.0 lb/in. (aft) 3.5 lb/in. (fwd)	
Lateral breakout <sup>1</sup>		N/A	10.0 1b (right) 9.0 1b (left)	N/A	
Lateral breakout		0.5/1.5 lb	2.0 15	1.0 1b	
Lateral gradient <sup>1</sup>		N/A	2.5 lb/in.	N/A	
Lateral gradient <sup>2</sup>		0.5/2.0 1b/in,	2.0 lb/in.	1.5 lb/in.	
Pedal breakout		3.0/7.0 16	8.0 1b (right) 7.0 1b (left)	7.0 lb (right) 5.0 lb (left)	
Pedal gradient		N/A	11.0 lb/in. (right)		
	N/A		11.5 1b/in. (left)	10.0 10/1n.	
Collective breakout <sup>3</sup>			15.0 lb	14.0 1b (up) 12.0 1b (down)	
Collective breakout*			23.0 lb	19.0 lb (up) 20.0 lb (down)	
Collective breakout <sup>5</sup>			7.0 lb	N/A	
Collective breakout <sup>6</sup>			17.0 15		
Collective downstop breakout <sup>5</sup>			15.0 1b to 22.0 1b		

Roters: stationary

i i i •

Server NSCh

<sup>1</sup>Stick centering: ON. <sup>2</sup>Stick centering: OFF.

<sup>3</sup>Electric friction: ON. Mechanical friction: minimum. <sup>4</sup>Electric friction: ON. Mechanical friction: maximum. <sup>5</sup>Electric friction: OFF. Mechanical friction: minimum. <sup>6</sup>Electric friction: OFF. Mechanical friction: minimum.

States -

.

47

143. The longitudinal trim actuator travel during APE I.1 was equivalent to 7.2 inches of control travel at a constant rate of 0.90 inch per second (in./sec). The lateral trim actuator travel was equivalent to 3.55 inches of stick movement with a rate of 0.5 in./sec which was corstant throughout its travel. The directional trim actuator travel was not checked during APE I.1. During APE I.3B, the full travels for longitudinal, lateral, and directional trim actuators were equivalent to 7.2, 4.4, and 6.4 inches of control travel, respectively. Trim rates were 0.9 in./sec, longitudinal, 0.71 in./sec, lateral, and 0.41 in./sec, directional.

144. During flight operations, two shortcomings of the control system were encountered: the difficulty in trimming lateral forces to zero, and the inability of the directional beeper trim to keep up with the large directional trim changes that occur during transition from hover to forward flight and from forward flight back to hover (paras 28, 29, and 98). These shortcomings were apparent during all the tests in both aircraft.

145. Another shortcoming was found during ground tests. The lateral trim actuator position affects the lateral cyclic control travel. During APE 1.1, when full lateral trim was applied in one direction, the lateral control travel in the opposite direction was reduced by about 1 inch. This restriction was considered a deficiency because flight conditions existed where loss of control could result from the restricted control travel (fig. 12, app F). The problem was corrected and was not encountered during APE 1.2 but was again apparent during APE 1.3B because of the lateral control modifications. The amount of restriction during APE 1.3B was less (0.6 inch right, and 0.36 inch left), and the problem is now a shortcoming.

## Maintenance

146. The following maintainability and reliability shortcomings were noted during the conduct of these tests:

a. The main landing gear oleo struts were quite uneven before and/or after almost every flight during the test program (ref 25, app A). The contractor was not able to satisfactorily correct this problem. It is desired that the oleo struts compress evenly when the aircraft is on the ground.

b. The squib which activates the pneumatic emergency landing gear extension system can be inadvertently fired by cycling the switch in the flight control bay during maintenance. This condition may not be detected prior to flight. This situation was noted during APE I.1 and APE I.2. Prior to APE I.3, a safety wire was installed which decreased the 1 ossibility of inadvertent squib firing. Check of the accumulator pressure should be included in the daily inspection. An emergency landing gear extension system which will operate at airspeeds up to 130 KCAS should be included in the production aircraft.

c. The main transmission oil tank dip stick is unreliable because it does not correctly indicate the total oil in the system (ref 39, app A). Because of this, the transmission was often overfilled, possibly resulting in cockpit fumes which occurred on numerous occasions during this test. An accurate and reliable main transmission oil quantity sight gage should be provided.

d. Tracking methods used on the main rotor and balance methods used on the tail rotor during this test program would be unacceptable as field procedures. The procedures used were dependent upon the large amount of test instrumentation on the aircraft. A field procedure for tracking of the main rotor and balance of the tail rotor should be provided.

e. Daily inspection of the gyro hub and main rotor requires using the cooling air vent to climb up to this location, and requires standing on the unreinforced fuselage skin above the electronics compartment. This has caused damage to the screen in the cooling air v $\epsilon$ : and undue stress to the fuselage skin. Steps and a strengthened work area should be provided to allow inspection and maintenance on the main rotor and gyro hub.

f. In order to inspect or perform maintenance inside the engine inlet filter cowling, the cowling must be removed entirely or supported by rods which are not an integral part of the aircraft. An integral support should be provided.

g. To check or service the main landing gear emergency air bottle and the rotor brake accumulator, a stress panel secured by 17 structural fasteners must be removed. This makes preflight and postflight servicing and inspection difficult and increases turnaround time.

h. The tail rotor assembly leaked oil excessively, especially around the garlock seals on the blade grips.

i. Excessive wear on the right side of both tires resulted from scuffing continuously during taxiing. The wear rate required that the tires be switched after approximately 20 landings and replaced after approximately 40 landings.

j. Replacement of the propeller gearbox was observed to require several days, special tooling, and was difficult. The difficulty appears to be in mating the gearbox to its mounting surface. Proper manufacturing tolerances and reference points for proper measurement and alignment should be provided for the production configuration.

k. The bonding of stainless-steel, silver-plated shims to the inside upper grip of the titanium moveable hub was inadequate. The shims (one to three of them) came loose every time the outboard tension/torsion pack bolts were inspected (every 15 hours).

1. Present contractor procedure is to change air pressure in the tires with each change in aircraft gross weight. This procedure is an unacceptable field requirement.

m. Indicated fuel quantity was as much as 400 pounds different from actual quantity. and indicator calibrations changed with time. The fuel quantity gage was unacceptably inaccurate due to hysteresis, coarse graduations, and nonrepeatability.

n. The transmission oil pressure gage was inaccurate.

o. During these tests, numerous fatigue cracks occurred throughout the tail boom structure indicating structural inadequacy of the tail boom.

## CONCLUSIONS

## GENERAL

147. The following conclusions were reached upon completion of the AH-56A Army Preliminary Evaluation I and the USAASTA portion of the AH-56A Research and Development Acceptance Test I:

a. The handling qualities of the AH-56A were not significantly affected by firing of any armament subsystems tested.

b. Lateral stick migration with airspeed was not objectionable (para 23).

c. Maintenance of trim airspeeds was enhanced by the pusher propeller (para 37).

d. Stick-free maneuvering stability was improved by the increased bobweight design effectiveness but was still nonlinear (para 53).

e. Lift/roll coupling has been reduced by the lift/roll decoupler but is still objectionable (paras 55 and 81).

f. Two deficiencies which exist within the presently approved test flight envelope of the AH-55A warrant a reduction of envelope size for future Army tests (paras 61 and 121).

g. With the pitch desensitizer system installed, the excessive longitudinal control sensitivity observed during APE I.1 is no longer objectionable (para 67).

h. The lateral control response has been reduced from the excellent levels available during APE I.1 and APE I.2 (para 71).

i. Pitch/roll coupling has been virtually eliminated because of the pitch/roll decoupler (para 83).

j. Roll damping with the roll compensator OFF has decreased since APE 1.1. Hover takeoffs and landings should not be attempted with the roll compensator inoperative (para 92).

k. With the roll compensator ON, the roll damping is satisfactory (para 92).

1. The rotor dynamic instabilities previously encountered in the contractor development program were not apparent at the test flight conditions (paras 94 and 95).

m. The ability to stabilize in various pitch attitudes in a hover is a unique and desirable feature (para 96).

n. Safe operations to and from unimproved areas will require training emphasis in the use of propeller pitch control (para 99).

o. Tendency towards pilot-coupled roll oscillation has been significantly reduced, but the tendency to overcontrol is still present throughout the flight envelope, particularly during hover takeoffs and landings (HQRS 4) (para 111).

p. The roll damping appeared to deteriorate with increasing gross weight (para 111).

q. Power management in the AH-56A is more complicated than in conventional helicopters (para 112).

r. The ability to decelerate rapidly using reverse propeller thrust is an excellent feature (para 118).

s. The ability to maintain stabilized airspeed independent of dive angle is an excellent characteristic (paras 118 and 126).

t. Ground taxi with propeller thrust is excellent (para 133).

u. The rotor brake is an excellent feature (para 134e).

v. Reliability of the FLAWS and voice warning system has been improved (para 134g).

w. The FLAWS and voice warning system are excellent concepts (para 134g).

x. Low reliability of several components as well as over-ll maintenance requirements were generally unsuitable for field use (para 146).

y. Throughout the latter phases of the test program, improvements in many areas related to early deficiencies and shortcomings were noted; however, five deficiencies and 54 shortcomings remain uncorrected at the completion of the testing.

#### DEFICIENCIES AFFECTING MISSION ACCOMPLISHMENT

148. Correction of the following deficiencies should be a prerequisite for an airworthiness release for operational Army aviators:

a. The requirement for excessive pilot workload due to unacceptable static lateral-directional stability characteristics below 100 KIAS seriously impairs the capability to operate at minimum altitudes unaffected by conditions of darkness or adverse weather (para 47).
b. Uncommanded aircraft motion and loss of control during maneuvering flight (HQRS 10) (para 61).

c. The rapid rate of rotor speed decay following simulated engine failures which allows the rotor to drop below the present transient limit (para 116).

d. Inadequate directional control margin in sideward flight (para 120).

c. Excessive 4/rev and 8/rev vibration levels (para 140).

### SHORTCOMINGS AFFECTING MISSION ACCOMPLISHMENT

149. Correction of the following shortcomings is desirable:

a. Uncomfortable rigging of the right pedal which contributed to difficulty in maintaining zero sideslip (para 24).

b. Considerable pilot attention required for longitudinal trim at high airspeeds (para 27).

c. Excessive pilot attention required for lateral trim (paras 28 and 144).

d. Excessive attention required for operation of the directional trim Juring transition (para 29).

e. Unsatisfactory collective control friction characteristics (para 30).

f. Inability of the propeller control system friction to maintain desired Beta settings (para 31).

g. Weak static longitudinal stability at 150 KCAS and above (para 38).

h. Lack of adequate directional stability which made it very difficult to establish and maintain a desired heading and sideslip (para 40).

i. Weak side-force characteristics (para 42).

j. Excessive inherent sideslip at high airspeeds (para 43).

k. Excessive longitudinal trim shift with sideslip (pitch due to sideslip) (paras 44, 57, and 78).

1. Objectionable longitudinal control force during sideslips (para 45).

m. Poor stick-fixed maneuvering stability (para 51).

n. Objectionable lift/roll coupling (paras 56 an 1 81).

o. Disharmony between longitudinal and lateral control displacements and forces (para 56).

p. Lack of satisfactory warning of uncommanded pitch-up and blade moment stall (para 59).

q. Inability to perform operational maneuvers at high speed (para 60).

r. Excessively long pitch time constant (para 64).

s. Roll oscillations with changing load factor (para 81).

t. Failure of the main landing gear struts to compress evenly during landing (para 103).

u. Tendency to overcontrol during hover takeoffs and landings (HQRS 4) (para 111).

v. Excessive pilot attention required for power management at high speeds (para 113).

w. Heavy vertical vibrations when firing the XM51 weapons system (para 123).

x. Presence of objectionable gun gases when firing the XM51 and XM52 weapons systems (paras 124 and 125).

y. Lack of an acceptable procedure for closing and securing the engine cowling (para 128c).

z. Lack of adequate lighting for APU compartment oil-level inspection (para 128d).

aa. Lack of a handhold on the aft right sponson above the boarding ladder (para 129a).

ab. Lack of a handrail on top of the fuselage between the engine inlet and aft canopy (para 129b).

ac. Low reliability of the APU control box (para 130).

ad. Brake fading after hard application (para 133).

ae. Lack of a reliable tail wheel unlocking mechanism (para 133).

af. Easily bent miniature switches used for primary functions in the cockpit (hydraulic systems, ALTERNATE N<sub>f</sub>, ignition, boost pump, anti-icer, engine air, and ECU) (para 1341).

ag. Identical configuration and proximity of engine and propeller twist grips (para 134b).

ah. Lack of a mechanical fuel and engine shutoff that can be operated from the cockpit (para 134c).

ai. High sensitivity of ALTERNATE  $N_f$  increase/decrease switch (para 134d).

aj. Lack of a collective schedule placard or gage markings (para 134h).

ak. Inability to reach most circuit breakers in flight (para 134i).

al. Ability of either pilot or copilot/gunner to extinguish both 'MASTER CAUTION" lights (para 134j).

am. Lack of capability to rapidly change radio frequency (para 134k).

an. Inadequate cooling capacity of the ECU (para 135).

ao. Interference with ICS communications and radio transmissions by ECU operation (para 135).

ap. Restriction of lateral control travel with full lateral trim (para 145).

aq. Uneven main landing gear oleo struts before and/or after flight (para 146a).

ar. Lack of an accurate and reliable main transmission oil quantity sight gage (para 146c).

as. Lack of an acceptable field procedure for tracking of main rotor and balance of tail rotor (para 146d).

at. Lack of step and reinforced work area for main rotor and gyro hub maintenance and in. pection (para 145e).

au. Lack of integral support for engine inlet filter cowling when opened for inspection or maintenance (para 146f).

av. Requirement to remove a stress panel secured by 17 stress fasteners to inspect and service the main landing gear emergency air bottle and rotor brake accumulator (para 146g).

aw. Excessive oil leakage from the tail rotor assembly (para 146h).

ax. Excessive wear of tires during ground operations (para 146i).

ay. Difficulty in accomplishing propeller gearbox changes due to improper mating surfaces (para 146j).

az. Inadequate bonding of the stainless-steel, silver-plated shims to the inside upper grip of the titanium moveable hub (para 146k).

ba. Unacceptable requirement to change the pressure with changes in gross weight (para 1461).

bb. 'vaccurate fuel quantity gage (para 146m).

## SPECIFICATION NONCONFORMANCE

150. Program constraints did not permit the determination of conformance with all applicable paragraphs of military specifications MIL-H-8501A and MIL-F-8785(ASG).

151. Within the scope of these tests, the AH-56A failed to meet the following requirements of military specification MIL-H-8501A:

a. Paragraph 3.2.1 - Rearward flight at 30 knots was outside the flight envelope (para 121).

b. Paragraphs 3.2.10 and 3.6.3 – The longitudinal control position and control force stability with respect to airspeed were not stable at all airspeeds tested (para 37).

c. Paragraph 3.3.2 – Sideward flight at 35 knots was outside the flight envelope (para 121).

d. Paragraph 3.3.9 – The variations of pedal displacement and lateral control displacement with steady sideslip angle were not stable at all the speeds specified. Additionally, the minimum sideslip angles specified in this paragraph were outside the envelope (paras 40 and 41).

e. Paragraph 3.3.15 – A tendency to over-ontrol unintentionally in roll was present (para 111).

f. raragraph 3.5.5 - The intent of this paragraph was not complied with, in that a 2-second delay in the movement of power controls following simulated engine failures would result in excessive rotor speed decay (para 116).

g. Paragraph 3.6.1 – Undue pilot effort would be required to perform instrument flight (para 89).

h. Paragraph 3.7.1 – The aircraft was not free of objectionable shake vibration or roughness, and maximum vibration amplitude accelerations specified were exceeded at many conditions during these tests (para 139).

152. Within the scope of these tests, the AH-56A failed to meet the following requirements of military specification MIL-F-8785(ASG):

a. Paragraph 3.3.4 – Neutral stick-fixed maneuvering stability, as evidenced by the zero slope of longitudinal control position versus load factor (paras 49 and 51).

b. Paragraph 3.3.9 – The slope of the curve of longitudinal control force versus load factor failed to meet the linearity requirements of this paragraph (para 52).

c. Paragraph 3.3.20 - The longitudinal trim change with sideslip encountered during these tests did not meet the requirements of this paragraph, in that the trim change was not in the same direction with right and left sideslips, and the push force required in right sideslips exceeded the 3-pound limit specified (para 45).

### RECOMMENDATIONS

153. The deficiencies should be corrected prior to release to operational Army aviators.

154. Correction of the shortcomings is desired.

155. Additional testing should be conducted by the contractor to evaluate the blade moment stall characterisitcs up to the structural or control limits (para 58).

156. High-speed maneuvering capability should be increased (para 60).

157. Further testing should be conducted to optimize roll response for the attack mission (para 71).

158. The effect of component deterioration on lateral roll oscillations should be determined (para 91).

159. Hover takeoffs and landings should not be attempted with the roll compensator inoperative (para 96).

100. Pilot training must emphasize the unique characteristics of varying propeller thrust and its effect on safe operation to and from unimproved areas and uneven terrain (para 99).

161. Pilot training should emphasize the increase in power required with decrease in airspeed at fixed collective and propeller blade angles (para 113).

162. A complete investigation of the autorotational entry, descent, and landing characteristics s' uld be conducted by the Army (para 116).

163. Flight testing should be conducted at maximum operational gross weight to 35 knots in sideward flight and 30 knots in rearward flight (para 121).

164. The effects of decreased propeller thrust on pilot workload during dives should be further investigated (para 126).

165. An accurate accelerometer should be installed in all production AH-56 aircraft (para 134f).

166. An emergency landing gear system extension that will operate at airspeeds up to 130 KCAS should be provided in all production AH-56 aircraft (para 146b).

167. A design review should be conducted to deter...ine the structural adequacy of the tail boom (para 1460).

## APPENDIX A. REFERENCES

1. Contract, DAA11-66-C-3667(H), "Advanced Aerial Fire Support System AH-56A (Cheyenne)," 23 March 1966, with Modification P-190, 17 August 1971.

2. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-R-F, 24 April 1970, subject: Test Request, AH-56A Helicopter, APE 1, USAASTA Project No. 70-02.

3. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-R-F, 27 January 1971, subject: AH-56A APE 1.3 and RDAT I.

4. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-R-F, 5 March 1971, subject: AH-56A APE I.3 Test Plan

5. Letter, AVSCOM, AMSAV-R-F, 18 May 1971, subject: AH-56A Handling Qualities During Weapons Firing.

6. Message, AVSCOM, AMSAV-R-FT, 0318, 22 March 1971, Unclas, subject: AH-56A RDAT I.

7. Message, AVSCOM, AMSAV-E, 6427, 28 September 1971, Unclas, subject. AH-56A APE I.3 Test Program.

8. Test Plan, USAASTA, Project No. 70-02, Army Preliminary Evaluation I, AH-56A (Cheyenne) Helicopter Advanced Aerial Fire Support System (AAFSS). July 1970.

9. Test Plan, USAASTA, Project No. 70-02, Army Preliminary Evaluation 1 1 and i.2. AH-56A (Cheyenne) Helicopter Advanced Aerial Fire Support System (AAFSS), February 1971.

10. Test Plan, USAASTA, Project No. 70-02, Army Preliminary Evaluation 1.3, AII-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter, July 1971.

11. Test Plan, USAASTA, Project No. 71-17, Research and Development Acceptance Test I. AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Handling Qualities During Weapons Firing, August 1971.

12. Briefing for AVSCOM, USAASTA, 12 March 1971, subject: APE I.1 Test Results.

13. Briefing for AVSCOM, USAASTA, 30 April 1971, subject: APE I.2 Test Results.

14. Briefing for AVSCOM, USAASTA, 11 February 1972, subject: APE 1.3 Test Results.

15. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 70-02, "Army Preliminary Evaluation I.1, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter," unpublished.

16. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 70-02, "Army Preliminary Evaluation 1.2, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter," unpublished.

17. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 71-17. "Research and Development Acceptance Test I, AH-56A Cheyenne Compound Helicopter Handling Qualities During Weapons Firing." unpublished.

18. Message, AVSCOM, AMSAV-EFT, 01-21, 31 January 1972, Unclas, subject: AH-56A Helicopter APE Results.

19. Military Specification, MIL-H-8501A, Helicopter Flying and Ground Handling Qualities; General Requirements For, 7 September 1961, with Amendment 1, 3 April 1962.

20. Military Specification, MIL-F-8785(ASG), Flying Qualities of Piloted Airplane, 1 September 1954.

21. Technical Note, NASA, TN D-5153, The Use of Pilot Rating in the Evaluation of Aircraft Handling Qualities, April 1969.

22. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 68-22, Rotary Wing Vehicle, External Stores Jettison Envelope Pilot Established Requirements, August 1970.

23. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-09, Project No. 70-02, "Blade Moment Stall," 17 December 1971.

24. Report, Lockheed-California Company, Monthly Test Progress Report Number 61, August 1971.

25. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-03, Project No. 70-02, "Main Landing Gear," March 1971.

26. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 71-17-01, Project No. 71-17, "Blade Moment Stall," 14 October 1971.

27. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-05, Project No. 70-02, "Blade Moment Stall," 22 September 1971.

28. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-02, Project No. 70-02, "Hover Takeoff," March 1971.

29. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-04, Project No. 70-02, "Pilot-Coupled Roll Oscillations," 15 September 1971.

68

Sector St.

30. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-07, Project No. 70-02, "Pilot Induced Oscillations," 22 September 1971.

31. Report, Lockheed-California Company, Monthly Test Progress Report Number 63, October 1971.

32. Briefing for AVSCOM, USAASTA, 12 October 1971, subject: Pilot-Coupled Roll Oscillations.

33. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 66-04, Engineering Flight Test, YUH-1H Helicopter, Phase D (Limited), November 1970.

34. Final Report, USAASTA, Project No. 66-06, Engineering Flight Test, AH-1G Helicopter (HueyCobra), Phase D, Part 1, Handling Qualities, December 1970.

35. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 71-17-04, Project No. 71-17, "Gun Gases During Firing," 14 October 1971.

36. Preliminary Operational/Maintenance Manual, POMM 15-1520-222-10, Operator's Manual, Helicopter, Attack, AH-56A (Lockheed), July 1971.

37. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-01, Project No. 70-02, "APU Control Box," March 1971.

38. Equipment Performance Report, USAASTA, SAVTE-T, EPR 70-02-10, Project No. 70-02, "Master Caution System," 16 December 1971.

39. Report, Lockheed-California Company, Monthly Test Progress Report Number 58, May 1971.

fi

## APPENDIX B. AIRCRAFT DESCRIPTION

### GENERAL

1. The AH-56A Cheyenne is a two-place compound attack helicopter. Power is provided by a single General Electric T64-GE-16 (S4C) engine rated at 3925 shp maximum at sea level on a standard day. The main rotor, pusher propeller, and tail rotor share the engine power. Lift is provided by a combination of the main rotor and the wings. The wings provide an increasing proportion of lift with increasing airspeed. Attitude control is accomplished by the main rotor and the tail rotor, as no control surfaces are built into the wings or empennage.

2. Distinctive features of the AH-56A include the rigid-type four-t 'ed main rotor, a tail-mounted pusher propeller, low wings, conventional retractable landing gear, and a vertical stabilizer mounted below the fuselage. Sponsons are mounted along each side of the fuselage and house fuel tanks, the retracted main landing gear, an auxiliary power unit, an environmental control unit, and the fueling station. The tail wheel retracts into the vertical stabilizer.

3. The cockpit provides tandem seating for the pilot and the copilot/gunner. Standard configuration is for the pilot to fly the aircraft from the rear seat and for the copilot/gunner to operate the swiveling gunner station (SGS) in the front cockpit. This configuration was provided for the RDAT I test aircraft (S/N 66-8831). The APE I test aircraft (S/N 66-8834) differs from this configuration, in that the pilot station is in the front cockpit due to the installation of a downward ejection seat required for the contractor's developmental testing.

Provisions are made for both internal and external armament in the design 4. of the AH-56A. Internal armament consists of the XM52 area fire system in the belly turret and either the XM51 or XM53 suppressive fire system in the nose turret. The XM52 system includes the XM140 (30mm automatic gun), the XM51 system includes the XM129 (40mm grenade launcher), and the XM53 system includes the XM134 (7.62mm minigun). Each of these weapons can be fired by either the pilot or the copilot/gunner. Six external pylons are provided for carrying armed stores and/or external fuel tanks. The two fuselage pylons are equipped to carry fuel tanks. The four wing pylons may be used to carry a variety of combinations of stores, including TOW missiles, 2.75-inch folding-fin aircraft rockets (FFAR), or external fuel tanks. The pilot may utilize the helmet sight system firing the flexible weapons, or he may use a direct sight for firing the forward firing weapons. The copilot/gunner may use the SGS periscopic sighting system, which includes a laser rangefinding system, for precise sighting and target tracking of the flexible weapons. In addition, an optical display sight is provided for target acquisition and coarse target tracking. The computer central complex (CCC) provides ballistics corrections and prediction calculations for the weapons systems. The APE I test aircraft was not configured with the weapons systems.

63

\*PRECEDING PAGE BLANK-NOT FILMED.\*

### CONTROL SYSTEM

5. Conventional helicopter controls are provided, utilizing a cyclic stick for pitch and roll control, a collective lever for lift control, and pedals for directional control. The reversible pitch pusher propeller is controlled by means of a twist grip mounted on the collective lever. The cyclic, collective, and tail rotor control systems utilize dual tandem-servo actuators to amplify and transmit pilot or gunner control inputs to the control surfaces. Cyclic control inputs are transmitted by the servos to a positive spring and to the swashplate. The positive spring converts the control displacement to a force that is transmitted from the swashplate to the control gyro. The force produces a moment which causes the gyro to precess, providing cyclic blade angle changes. Swashplate feedback is provided to the roll servo actuator to reduce cross coupling due to gyro pitch precession. This swashplate feedback feature has been previously referred to as a "negative spring." Collective control movements are transmitted to the swashplate through a servo which moves the swashplate up and down, causing the control gyro to move vertically on the rotor shaft axis, producing blade angle changes simultaneously to all four blades. Prior to APE I.3B, detuning weights were installed to the collective control lever in the rear cockpit of S/N 66-8834. A force feel system is incorporated in the pitch, roll, and yaw control systems to provide simulated feel as the control is displaced from the selected trim position. Trim systems are provided to relieve the feel forces when the control is held out of neutral.

The pitch control system includes four augmentation devices intended to 6. improve AH-56A handling qualities. These devices are identified as the velocity gradient, maneuver gradient (bobweight), pitch desensitizer, and pitch/roll decoupler systems. The velocity gradient and maneuver gradient systems operated within the longitudinal feel system and provide increasing stick forces with increasing airspeed and load factor, respectively. The maneuver gradient was changed from 6 lb/g to 9 lb/g prior to APE I.3. The pitch desensitizer system reduces the longitudinal control response and sensitivity at high speed. This system senses airspeed and longitudinal control displacement from trim to determine the size of control input required. The control input is made through a modulation piston in the pitch servo and is not felt by the pilot. An airspeed-scheduled gain signal to the desensitizer system is zero for airspeeds at or below 100 knots and varies linearly to full gain at 170 knots. At full gain, the system doubles the pilot longitudinal control displacement required to obtain a given aircraft response. Maximum authority of the system is equivalent to  $\pm 0.757$  inch of longitudinal stick displacement. The fourth augmentation device was designed to reduce pitch-due-to-roll cross-coupling. This system applies longitudinal control inputs through the desensitizer modulation piston to oppose the pitching moment caused by aircraft roll rates. The system senses airspeed and roll rate to tailor the size of control input applied. The gain signal from the airspeed sensor is zero at speeds up to 110 knots and varies linearly to full gain at 200 knots. The gain signal from the roll rate gyro reaches a maximum at 30 deg/sec. Therefore, at 200 knots and 30 deg/sec of right roll rate, the system will apply the full authority of the longitudinal piston (equivalent to 0.757 inch of aft longitudinal stick).

7. The pitch desensitizer and pitch/roll decoupler were not installed for APE I.1 and APE I.2. Both systems were installed and activated prior to APE I.3 and RDAT I.

8. For APE 1.1 and APF 1.2. In lateral control system featured a roll desensitizer which was designed to reduce roll control power, hence aircraft sensitivity, for control movements within 3/4 inch of the trim point. This system was removed prior to APE 1.3.

9. The lateral control system incorporates a stability augmentation system (roll SAS) known as the roll compensator which was designed to increase the damping of roll oscillations at a 1-hertz frequency. The roll SAS applies control inputs through a modulation piston in the roll erro which opposes the rolling motion of the aircraft. The gain varies as a function of airspeed and of the frequency and magnitude of aircraft roll oscillations. The phasing between aircraft roll oscillations and roll SAS control inputs varies as a function of roll oscillation frequency. Maximum authority of the system is equivalent to approximately  $\pm 0.329$  inch of lateral control displacement. Prior to APE I.3B, two notch filters were added to suppress 16-hertz and 32-hertz vibratory inputs to the roll SAS.

10. Another feature of the AH-56A lateral control system is a lift/roll decoupler which is intended to eliminate lateral control input changes in maneuvering load factor. This system was inoperative prior to APE I.3B testing.

11. A number of other control system changes were made during APE I.3A and before APE I.3B. These included:

a. Reduced control system free play.

b. Reduced lateral control power (control moment ver inch of control displacement).

a. Increased lateral control travel (to provide the same total control moment).

d. Increased swashplate feedback.

e. Increased roll modulation piston stroke (to provide adequate lift/roll decoupler authority).

f. Reduced lateral control breakout forces.

g. Reduced lateral force gradient.

Ô

こうこう ちょうにん ない いままた しょうかん たいかく しょう いたいちょう ちょう いたい ない しょうしょう

12. Principal control system characteristics are tabulated below:

Cyclic Control System	
Gyro designation	1019896
Gyro polar mement of inertia	45 slug-ft <sup>2</sup>
Gyro diameter	9.7 ft
Gyro arm diameter (gyro station 9.510 to gyro station 10.510)	2.55 in.
Gyro arm taper ratio, gyro station 10.51 to tip	0.0036 in./in.
Gyro arm incidence	Zero deg
Gyro cant angle	33 deg
Gyrc maximum tilt angle	±15 deg
Design stick throw:	
Longitudinal	11.0 in.
Lateral	6.0 in. (APE 1.1, APE 1.2, APE 1.3A, RDAT 1) and 7.5 in. (APF 1.32)
Control input rotation	36.0 deg
Gyro moment per inch of stick:	
Longitudinal	278 ft-lb/in.
Lateral .	450 (60%) ft-lb/in. (APE I.1, APE I.2, APE I.3B, RDAT I) and 337 (45%) ft-lb/in. (APE I.3B)
Net spring restraint per radian of gyro travel:	
Longitudinal	4100 ft-lb/rad
Lateral	4100 ft-lb/rad

Gyro damping per camper (2 pitch, 2 roll)	44 inlb/rad/sec
Total feather bearing friction at gyro	28 ft-lb (approx)
Moment at gyro due to total nonrotating system friction	30 ft/lb (approx)
Servo rate:	
Longitudinal	5.62 in./sec
Lateral	5.62 in./sec
Trim authority:	
Longitudina!	70 percent
Lateral	70 percent
Stick damping (at grip):	
Longitudinal	0.167 lb/in./sec (hover) and 0.28 lb/in./sec (225 kt)
Lateral	0.115 lb/in./sec (hover) and 0.115 lb/in./sec (225 kt)
Collective Control System	
Servo rate limits (no load)	5.62 in./sec
Gyro and control system effective mass	8.7 slugs
Directional Control System	
Pedal trave!	5.9 in. (approx)
Trim authority:	
Positive blade	142 percent
Negative blade	89 percent
Survo rate limit: (no load)	3.75 in./sec

## MAIN ROTOR

13. The four-bladed main rotor features blade articulation about the feathering axes only, hence is referred to as "rigid." The hub consists of fixed and movable portions. The fixed hub is attached solidly to the rotor mast while the four movable hub elements provide transition structure to the blade roots. Blade feathering motion is provided by a "door hinge" between the fixed and movable hub sections. Blade flapping and lead-lag motion are resisted by structural deflection of the blades and hub. The rotor blade cross section is of constant chord and varying thickness and section. Basically, the root section is a droop-nose modification of a NACA 23012 airfoil, while the tip section is a modified NACA 23006 airfoil.

14. The main rotor is controlled by an externally-mounted gyro which is mechanically in series between the rotor blades and the swashplate (the plane of the swashplate is identical to the plane of the gyro). The gyro is gimballed to the rotor mast. hence free to establish its own plane in space. The main rotor blade is swept forward of its reference radial by means of offset blade root attachment bolts; thus, when the blade flaps vertically a feathering moment is felt at the pitch arm. This moment is applied to the gyro through the pitch arm/pitch link. Rotor blade feathering is controlled by gyro tilt; this tilt (plane in space) is determined by the balance of moments caused by the pilot's control inputs, blade feathering moments, and gyro precession rates.

15. This arrangement is designated by LCC as a gyro-controlled rotor, and performs two functions; aircraft stability and rotor loads alleviation. The pilot flies the aircraft by his boosted inputs to the control gyro, which then precesses due to the gyro moment imbalance and inputs cyclic blade angle changes to the main rotor. When the main rotor is displaced by an external disturbance (such as a vertical gust) and flaps upward, the gyro imbalance due to the feathering moment signal will cause the gyro to precess, changing main rotor blade feathering to "wash out" the gust effects. By this stabilization of the rotor, the control gyro alleviates the rotor loads due to he gust. In addition, the gyro limits the rotor loads due to sudden abrupt cyclic inputs by the pilot, since rate of change of cyclic blade angle is limited by the gyro precessional rate due to the pilot input moment.

16. Because the mechanism provided to sense blade flapping stresses utilizes pitching moment, a number of extraneous signals are also fed to the gyro. These include the product of blade inplane moments acting through the effective blade droop angle, feathering moments due to  $C_{mo}$  and  $C_{ma}$  of the rotor blade, pitch damping, feathering inertia, and door-hinge friction. Considerable effort has been spent during the contractor development program to optimize the rotor geometry to account for all these phenomena and related rotor response.

17. Prior to APE I.3, the main rotor droop was increased from 2 degrees, 20 minutes to 3 degrees, 10 minutes to provide rotor stability at increased gross weights. Between APE I.3A and APE I.3B the main rotor tip weights were removed, then reinstalled for rotor stability reasons. Principal main rotor characteristics are tabulated below:

Blade	designation with	tip weight	1019765
Fixed	hub designation,	soft inplane	1019772
		68	

Movable hub designation	1018578
Pitch arm designation, "zero $\delta_3$ "	1018569
Hub location (contact surface of bottom of fixed hub with shaft flange gasket):	
Fuselage station	300.0
Water line	165.3
Built-in coning	2 deg
Shaft incidence	Zero deg
Number of blades	4
Airfoil section.	
Root	NACA (4.6) 3012 modified
Tip	NACA (0.6) 3006 modified
Radius	25.617 ft
Chord (all computations based on $c = 28$ in. (theoretical)):	
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12	27.50 in.
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12 Rotor station 140.0 (linear taper)	27.50 in. 27.60 in.
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12 Rotor station 140.0 (linear taper) Rotor station 170.0 (between stations)	27.50 in. 27.60 in. 27.66 in.
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12 Rotor station 140.0 (linear taper) Rotor station 170.0 (between stations) Rotor station 302.4	27.50 in. 27.60 in. 27.66 in. 27.89 in.
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12 Rotor station 140.0 (linear taper) Rotor station 170.0 (between stations) Rotor station 302.4 Rotor station 302.4 to tip	27.50 in. 27.60 in. 27.66 in. 27.89 in. 27.89 in.
Chord (all computations based on c = 28 in. (theoretical)): Rotor station 79.12 Rotor station 140.0 (linear taper) Rotor station 170.0 (between stations) Rotor station 302.4 Rotor station 302.4 to tip Droop	27.50 in. 27.60 in. 27.66 in. 27.89 in. 27.89 in. 27.89 in. 2 deg, 20 min (APE I.1, APE I.2, RDAT I) and 3 deg, 10 min (APE I.3)

ť

ī

ł

65

1

12. C. T. L.

1.1

э

5

and the second of the second of the second second

ŀ

Disc area, $\pi R^2$	2062 ft <sup>2</sup>
Blade area, bcR	239.1 ft <sup>2</sup>
Solidity, $\sigma = bc/\pi R$	0.1159
Geometric twist, $\theta_1$ , from center of rotation to rotor station 302.4	-5 deg
Tab location, fuselage station at tab centerline	264.0
Tab size, equivalent	28.1 in. x 2 in.
Collective pitch range, $\theta_0$	Zero deg, 30 min to 18 deg, 30 min
Normal rotor speed	246 rpm
Angular velocity	25.76 rad/sec
Normal tip speed	660 ft/sec
Blade inertia about 1/4 chord	12,295.4 lb-in. <sup>2</sup>
Increment of blade inertia due to:	
Discrete weights	23 lb-in. <sup>2</sup>
Polar moment of inertia	9748 slug-ft <sup>2</sup>
Dynamic system equivalent polar moment of inertia includes main rotor, tail rotor, and propeller	10,742 slug-ft <sup>2</sup>

# TAIL ROTOR

18. A four-bladed teetering antitorque rotor is mounted at the tip of the left horizontal stabilizer. The blades have a constant 14-inch chord with a slab-sided droop-nosed cross section. The thrust is inboard. Direction of rotation is clockwise when viewed from the left side of the ship looking inboard. Principal tail rotor characteristics are tabulated below:

Blade	designation	1019380
Hub	designation	1019381

1.20

Hub location (teeter center):

Fuselage station	658.5
Water line	114.5
Buttline	72.0 left
Built-in coning	Zero deg
Number of blades	4
Airfoil section	NACA (.675) 300 (5.89) modified
Radius	5 ft
Chord	1.167 ft
Disc area	78.5 ft <sup>2</sup>
Theoretical blade area, bcR	23.3 $ft^2$
Solidity, $\sigma = bc/\pi R$	0.297
Twist, $\theta_1$	Zero deg
Pitch range	-10 deg to +22.5 deg
Maximum allowable tilt	15 deg
Delta-three	37.5 deg
Normal rotor speed	1238 rpm
Angular velocity	129.6 rad/sec
Normal tip speed	648 ft/sec
Tail rotor memnt arm, l <sub>tr</sub>	29.88 ft
Polar moment of inertia	12.6 slug-ft <sup>2</sup>

71

1.12

## PROPELLER

19. Longitudinal thrust is provided by a Hamilton Standard pusher propeller mounted at the rear of the fuselage. The propeller is capable of providing forward and reverse thrust. The direction of rotation is counterclockwise when viewed from behind the aircraft looking forward.

20. The pilot controls the propeller by using a twist grip located on the collective lever. The twist gr p rotates 140 degrees corresponding to 58 degrees of blade angle change from  $\cdot 17.2$  degrees to  $\pm 40.8$  degrees. The relationship is nonlinear, in that increased twist grip rotation is required at large blade angles (*ie*, 3:1 from 35 to 40 degrees of Beta versus 2.1 from -10 to -5 degrees of Beta). On aircraft S/N  $\pm 66-8834$ , the negative Beta was restricted to -5 degrees because of instrumentation.

21. An automatic system (Delta Beta) senses main rotor shaft torque and load factor to provide a reduction of propeller pitch to 18 degrees to minimize rotor speed decay in case of an engine failure or a power chop. Principal propeller characteristics are tabulated below:

Propeller designation	Hamilton Standard 1311 GB 30/11FA 10A4-0
Hub location:	
Fuselage station	675.7
Water line	114.5
Shaft incidence	Zero deg
Number of blades	3
Radius	5 ft
Activity factor per blade	142
Integrated design lift coefficient	0.411
Pitch range (physical limits, at blade station 42)	-17.2 to 40.8 deg
Pitch range (flight test limits, at blade station 42 with oil damping and counterweights installed for failure mode):	
Aircraft S/N 66-8831	-12 to 40.8 deg
Aircraft S/N 66-8834 12	-5 to 40.8 deg

Direction of rotation, viewed from rear	Counterclockwise
Normal propeller speed	1717 rpm
Angular velocity	179.8 rad/sec
Normal tip speed	899 ft/sec
Polar moment of inertia	13.98 slug-ft <sup>2</sup>

## WING

22. The wing is of trapezoidal planform and is mounted on the sponsons with the 0.25 mean aerodynamic chord (MAC) located at FS 308.2. Originally the section was a four-digit NACA airfoil, but early in the contractor development program additional wing area was added. This was accomplished by extending the wing trailing edge and providing transition fairings in the former aft wing region. Compensation for rolling moment due to propeller torque is provided by an increased incidence angle on the right wing. Prior to APE I.3A, the right wing incidence was further changed to provide more beneficial main rotor lateral loading and reduced aircraft vibration. Prior to APE I.3B, detuning weights were added to the right wing to reduce local vibration. Principal wing characteristics are tabulated below:

Wing designation	1016648
Airfoil:	
Root, buttline zero	12 percent
Tip, buttline 160.2	8 percent
Агеа	195 ft <sup>2</sup>
Span	26.7 ft
Aspect ratio	3.66
Mean aerodynamic chord	7.6 ft
Fusclage station at 1/4 MAC	308.2
Taper	0.50
Dihedral	5 deg

Incidence:

Left wing	11 deg, 52 min
Right wing	12 deg, 58 min
Trailing edge deflection, right wing	3 deg, down (APE 1.1. APE 1.2) and 1 deg, down (APE 1.3. RDAT I)
Twist:	
Left wing	-3 deg, 6 min
Right wing	-3 deg, 2 min

## HORIZONTAL STABILIZER

23. The horizontal stabilizer is mounted at the aft end of the fuselage and has a basically trapezoidal planform. The cross section of the stabilizer is a modified symmetric airfoil. The right stabilizer has tapering thickness. The left stabilizer is truncated in the chordwise direction, resulting in a bobtail appearance. Detuning weights are provided to reduce local vibration. Prior to APE I.3A, these weights were removed. Also prior to APE I.3A, the horizontal stabilizer incidence was modified to reduce aircraft vibration. Principal horizontal stabilizer characteristics are tabulated below:

By izontal stabilizer designation:

Left side, Phase II reverse rotation	1019548
Right side	1000667
Airfoil:	
Right panel:	
Root, buttline zero	NACA 0018 modified
Tip, tuttline 65.0	NACA 0012 modified
Left panel (highly modified, bobtailed):	NACA 0018

Area:

٢

۲

4

,

3,1 7,45,4

いいないないない いちょうちょう しんちょうしょう

Left side	16.25 ft <sup>2</sup>	
Right side	15.58 ft <sup>2</sup>	
Total	31.83 ft <sup>2</sup>	
Span	10.83 ft	
Aspect ratio	3.68	
Mean aerodynamic chord:		
Left side	36.84 in.	
Right side	35.40 in.	
Average	36.12 in.	
Fuselage station of 1/4 MAC:		
Left side	637.38	
Right side	636.98	
Average	637.18	
Taper:		
Left side	0.583	
Right side	0.568	
Average *	0.576	
Dihedral	Zero deg	
Incidence	2 deg	
Twist	Zero deg	
Deflection of right-hand trailing edge	2.8 deg, down	

ł

# VERTICAL STABILIZER

24. The vertical stabilizer is mounted ventrally under the aft end of the fuselage. The cross section is an 18-percent symmetrical airfoil with no incidence relative to the fuselage centerline. The tail wheel is mounted within the lower end of the stabilizer and is retracted up into the stabilizer in flight. Principal characteristics of the vertical stabilizer are tabulated below:

Vertical stabilizer designation, Phase II	1000594
Airfoil section	
Root, water line 114.5	NACA 0018 modified
Tip, water line 37.6	NACA 0018 modified
Area, between water line 37.6 and water line 114.5	24.6 ft <sup>2</sup>
Span	6.41 ft
- Asnect ratio	1.67
Mean acrodynamic chord	3.92 ft
Location of 1/4 MAC:	
Fuselage station	620.3
Water line	79.4
Taper	0.587
Incidence	Zero deg

76

 $\mathbf{v}_{i}$ 

÷

# APPENDIX C. SAFETY-OF-FLIGHT RELEASES

1. This appendix contains the safety-of-flight releases, amendments, and flight envelopes for APE 1.1, APE 1.2, APE 1.3, and the USAASTA portion of RDAT I.

•

2. Figures 1 and 2 referenced in the APE I.1 safety-of-flight release have been combined with and are presented with the APE I.2 safety-of-flight release.

こうしょう しいとう そうれいかい からかなななななないない

AMSAV-R-F

SUB. ECT: APE I.1 Safety of Flight Release

Commanding Officer US Army Aviation Systems Test Activity ATTN: SAVTE-P Edwards AFB, California 93523

1. This letter constitutes a safety of flight release for day V.P.R. flight of AH-56A S/N 66-8834 without wing stores for the conduct of Army Preliminary Evaluation I.1.

2. This flight release is contingent upon the following:

a. The airworthiness of all onboard flight test equipment and instrumentation being assured by a safety inspection performed by USAASTA personnel.

b. An inspection of cockpit displays being accomplished by USAASTA personnel to assure these displays are properly marked to reflect the flight and operating limitations specified in this flight release.

c. The flight control systems being rigged in accordance with applicable drawings and specifications.

3. The authorized flight envelope is as described below.

a. Airspeed Limitations.

(1) Forward Flight. The maximum authorized forward flight speed is 190 knots calibrated airspeed (airspeed indicator red line).

(2) Landing Gear Extended. The maximum inthorized flight speed with the gear extended is 130 knots calibited airspeed.

(3) Butterfly Canopy (Forward and/or Aft). The canopy open (forward and/or aft) condition is authorized only for ground conditions, rotor stationary, and winds of 45 knots or less.

(4) Taxi

Ę

(a) Tail Wheel Unlocked. The maximum authorized taxi speed with the tail wheel unlocked is 20 knots.

(b) Tail Wheel Locked. The maximum authorized taxi speed with the tail wheel locked is 70 knots calibrated airspeed.

(5) Sideward Flight (or hovering in winds). The maximum authorized sideward flight speed is 35 knots (See Figure 2, sideslipsenvelope). Prop blade angle shall be set at -2.2°.

(6) Rearward Flight (or hovering in winds). The maximum authorized rearward flight speed is 30 knots. Prop blade angle shall be set at  $-2.2^{\circ}$ .

b. <u>Collective Blade Angle</u>. Collective/main rotor swashplate position is sensed and presented on a cockpit display in degrees. The maximum authorized cockpit displayed collective angles arc:

Galibrated Airspeed	Collective Angle
Hover to 80 knots	As required
80 knots to 120 knots	7°
120 knots to 190 knots	5°

c. <u>Bank Angle Limitations</u>. The maximum authorized bank angles as a function of calibrated airspeed are shown in Figure 1. (Incl 1)

d. <u>Sideslip Envelope</u>. The maximum authorized sideslip as a function of calibrated airspeed is shown in Figure 2. (Incl 2)

e. <u>Descents</u>. The marinum authorized rate of descent is 6000 feet per minute. Flight path (dive) angle is limited to 20 degrees or less and a propeller beta angle of 8 degrees or greater.

f. <u>Control Input Limits</u>. Abrupt pedal inputs in forward flight shall not exceed ±1 inch from trim or result in sideslip angles greater than that authorized by the sideslip-airspeed envelope shown in Figure 2.

2

79 :

g. Yaw Kate Limits. Yaw rates during hover turns on a spot shall not exceed 45 deg/sec right or left.

h. Load Factor. The authorized load factor-airspeed evelope is shown in Figure 5. (Incl 3)

i. <u>Altitude Jimits</u>. Flight above 6000 ft. density altitude is prohibited.

j. <u>Weight and C.G. Limits</u>. The maximum allowable take-off gross weight is 18,800 pounds. The aircraft shall be configured to the mid-center of gravity (c.g.) with a permissible c.g. travel from station 299 to station 301.

k. Rotor Speed Limits. Steady state maneuvers shall be conducted at 100%  $N_{\rm R}$  and transient maneuvers may vary from 90% to 105%  $N_{\rm R}$ .

4. The engine, transmission, hydraulic system, and APU limitations and associated instrument markings are as follows:

#### LIMITATIONS

#### INSTRUMENT MARKING

a. <u>Turbine Inlet Temperature</u> 200°C minimum at flight idle.

red line

(Note: Under normal conditions the flight idle TTT will be in the 400-440°C range. TIT values on the order of 200°C can be obtained at flight idle under the extremes of high altitudes and low temperature (-65°F))

200 - 671°C normal operation	green base
566°C max allowable on start up to 50% Hg	(no mark)
649°C max allowable on start up to idle	(no mark)
671°C steady state (max continuous)	red line
671 to 707°C time limited - 30 min.	yellow band
707 to 727°C time limited - 10 min.	yellow band

3

R. .

LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING
Turbine Inlet Temperature continued	
727~743°C the maximum allowable transient may exceed 727°C for not more than 60 seconds, but must not exceed 743°C	yellow band
743°C inspection limitation	red line
b. <u>Gas Generator RPM</u>	
58% idle (minimum)	red line
72% Idle (maximum)	(no mark)
63 to 100% normal (run) operating range	green band
100 to 101.5% for 10 seconds	yellow band
101.5% maximum	red line
c. <u>Power Turbine RPM</u>	
95% (Power on) minimum	red line
95% to 105% normal operating range	green band
105% maximum (power on)	red line
overspeed cutoff - 113%	(no mark)
d. <u>Main Rotor RPM</u>	
90% minimum power off (95% minimum power on)	red line
90 to 105% normal operating range	green band
105% maximum power off	red line
e. Engine Torque	
0 - 100% normal operating range	(no band)
100% (3435 SHP at 100% RPM)	yellow band
114% (3925 SHP at 100% RPM)	red line
,	

B

4

いい、このではないない、 いい、こことのなどなどです。

72.9

11,

LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING
f. Fuel Flow Indicator	
103 pph minimum idle	red line
350 pph maximum idle	yellow line
350 pph to 1720 pph operating range	green band
1720 pph maximum	red line
g. Fuel Quantity Indicator	
0 to 390 lb low fuel level warning	yellow band
h. Engine Oil Temperature	
0°C minimum	red line
0 to 107°C normal operating range	green band
107°C maximum	red line
107°C to 150°C for 30 minutes ~ emergency only above 150°C see Para. 6, Emergency Procedures.	(no mark)
i. Transmission Oil Temperature	
-30°C minimum	red line
0 to 113°C normal operating range	green band
113°C maximum	red line
113°C to 130°C for 30 minutes and 130°C to 140°C for 10 minutes (For emergency only and with power level equal to power for level flight at 90 to 100 KTS)	(no marks)
j. Engine 011 Pressure	
10 psi minimum	red line
10 psi to 45 psi idle	(no mark)

5

12%

۰,

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE I.1 Safety of Flight Release LIMITATIONS INSTRUMENT MARKING Engine Oil Pressure continued 10 psi to 75 psi green band 75 psi\* red line k. Transmission Oil Pressure 80 psi minimum red line 80 to 110 psi normal operating range\*\* green band 110 psi maximum red line 1. Hydraulic System Pressure 0 to 2800 psi yellow band 2800 to 3400 psi normal operating range green band 3400 psi maximum red line Bypass mode -2 minute maximum (no mark) m. APU RPM red line 95% minimum 95 to 100% normal operating range green band 100 to 110% yellow band red line 110% maximum n. APU Exhaust Gas Temperature 50 to 650°C normal operating range green band

\*When starting in cold weather, oil pressures greater than 100 psi can occur before oil temperature stabilizes (within three minutes) \*\*Special conditions apply to operation with transmission oil pressure below 85 psi, see Para. 6, Emergency Procedures.

red line

650°C maximum continuous

6

LIMITATIONS

INSTRUMENT MARKING

yellow band

APU Exhaust Gas Temperature continued

650 to 732°C

732°C time limit - 10 sec

o. Prop Gearbox Oil Temperature

121°C maximum

red line

red line

5. Ejection seat restrictions:

The ejection seat was installed in Aircraft 66-8834 for the purpose of providing emergency egress for the contractor pilot during envelope expansion flights. The ejection seat has not been qualified in this aircraft and therefore the use of the ejection seat during the APE I.1 evaluation will be at the discretion of the aircraft Commander. The interdepartmental communication from Mr. D.R. Segner, subject: AH-56 Ejection Seat Qualification, dated 20 May 1970, contains the controlling guidelines for the use of the ejection seat.

6. Emergency Procedures:

a. <u>Checklist Emergency Procedures</u>: The emergency procedures detailed in POMM 55-1520-22-10 CL, (January 1971), Operator's and Crewmember's Checklist, for aircraft serial no. 66-8834 shall be followed with special emphasis on the following:

(1) Prop System Control Failure - page E9.

(2) Proximity Device Warning - page E20. This system has been removed.

(3) Stick Centering Malfunction/Failure - pages E26 and E27.

(4) N<sub>f</sub> Control Failure - page E28.

b. <u>Additional Emergency Procedures</u>. The following emergency procedures not included in the pilot's checklist should be followed:

7

11 💱

(1) In flight emergency egress from the aft cockpit should be out the righthand side to avoid possible contact with the tail rotor.

(2) Low transmission oil pressure (below 85 psi) does not require an immediate precautionary landing. Flight may be continued for a maximum of 30 min. at 90-100 KIAS if the following transmission oil pressure vs. inlet temperature conditions are not exceeded:

```
80 psi @ 80°C
77 psi @ 85°C
73 psi @ 90°C
70 psi @ 95°C
```

(?) Engine oil overtemperature due to oil cooler fan failure does not require an immediate precautionary landing if engine oil pressure is above 40 psi and an airspeed of 130 KIAS can be maintained.

7. Cautions and Warnings:

a. <u>Caution</u>. Blade moment stall has been encountered at conditions of 7° collective pitch blade angle, as presented by the cockpit display, 120 knots calibrated airspeed, and load factors of 1.8 or greater. This condition is characterized by right roll and pitch up. Recovery techniques shall be consistent with the procedures demonstrated to USAASTA pilots by Lockheed during the pilot training.

b. <u>Caution</u>. During Pre-Engine Start System Checks insure that the RPM Set Switch ( $N_f$  Beeper) has been set in the DECR position for a minimum of five seconds.

c. <u>Caution</u>. Do not apply rotor brake with engine running. Apply rotor brake only below 40%  $N_R$  with engine off and TIT below 320°C. Rotor brake may be applied before engine start but must be released at ground idle. Do not attempt to keep rotor brake on beyond ground idle when running up.

d. <u>Caution</u>. Because of fuel control NASH actuator unreliability the engine twist grip is not to be used for practice autorotations.

e. <u>Warning</u>. Do not start APU with rotor turning and a known or suspected No. 1 hydraulic system malfunction at any time.

15

f. <u>Warning</u>. Landing roll decelerations must be accomplished using reverse proveller thrust and main par braking only. Aft cyclic inputs during ground operation can overstress main rotor control components or airframe structure.

g. <u>Warning</u>. Avoid operation at  $40^{\circ}F$  or below with visible moisture present.

8. Limited Life Parts:

a. The maximum allowable operating times (MAOT) for fetigue critical component parts are as listed in Table 1. (Inc

b. USAASTA personnel shall assure that the special inspections indicated under the S.I. column of Table 1 are performed at the intervals specified in document IDC 87-71-045, "Tracking of Finite Life and TBO Items", date 20 Jan 1971.

c. Special Inspection 25.1 and 25.2 shall, in addition to the normal inspection intervals, be performed immediately prior to APE I.1.

9. Propeller Blade Angle Limitations:

a. Maximum allowable propeller blade angle during acceleration through transition for V.T.O.L. take-off is +25°.

b. Maximum allowable propeller blade angle during climb below 100 knots calibrated airspeed is +30°.

c. Propeller blade angles in excess of +40.8° are prohibited.

d. Propeller blade angles less than -5° are prohibited.

10. Safe Take-Off Corridor: Note: Contractor has demonstrated throttle chops from hover to 60 knots at 7 to 10 feet wheel heights.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

CHARLES C. CRAWFORD, JR. Director of Flight Standards and Qualification

Copy Furnished: Advanced Aerial Weapons Systems Project Managers

Lockheed - California Company

and a start of the second start of the second

APE I.1 Flight Release AH-56 SN 66-8834 AMSAV-R-F

# TABLE I

ITEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.I.</u>
1.	1019765-301	M/R Blade Assy	210	15.4
				180.4
2.	1018578-303	M/R Movable Hub Assy	380	30.9
				60.2
				180.11
3.	2602853	M/R Tension Torsion Pak	200	
4.	LS10066-1	M/R T-T Pak Pin (8)	3600	15.8
				180.2
5.	LS10065-3	M/R Hinge Bolt	250	30.4
6.	740290-107	M/R Hinge Bearing	250	30.4
7.	1019772301	M/R Fixed Hub Assy	340	30.8
8.	1010460-305	M/R Gyro Dome	730	60.7
9.	1013452-301	M/R Gyro Drive Assy	950	
10.	1013447-301	M/R Gyro Hub	1970	
11.	1019896-101	M/R Gyro Arms	2700	
12.	1018569-319	M/R Pitch Arm	65	23
			05	30 7
				50.2
13.	1010335-325	M/R Servo Package	350	50.0
14	1019881-105	M/R Coll Bellcrank	260	
15	1019001-103	M/R Coll Link	200	
16	1013450-307	Rotating Push Rod	900	
17	1009/30-305	Rotating Susebolate Avev	900	
18	1011572-305	Non-Rotating Swashplate	1710	
10.	1012016-101	Swashplate Ball Spline	310	
20	1001091-107	Ball Spling Housing	210	
20.	1001901-107	M/D Ditab Link	1150	60 1
21.	1013432-303	M/R file: bink M/P Collective Democra	1130	00.1
22.	100723A3 672171 101	M/R Collective Dampers	400	
23.	1000154 177	M/K Cyclic Dampers	400	0.1
24.	1000130-177	Main Transmission (Sprag)	1304	2.1
95	1000211 102	N/D Mast (Trans 1010)	1240	30.0
23.	1000211-103	M/R Mast (Irans, 1010)	1340	25.1
20.	1020252-105	Sprag Clutch	1000	25.1
27.	6/0869-103	A.P.U.	1800	
28.	670825-103		100	
29.	6/1/66-301	A.P.U. Clutch	1200	
30.	740530-105	A.P.U. Drive Shart	1200	05.0
31.	T+64-GE-16	Engine	150	25.2
32.	1020251-111	Engine Torqueshaft	50	25.2
53.	6/1221-301	Nash Actuator Fuel Control	1200	<b>0</b> - 4
34.	1020263-101	Engine Speed Control	50	25.1
35.	1002063-101	Propeller Drive Shaft	1200	
36.	738700-1	Propeller Gearbox	200	
37.	11FA10B80	Propeller Blades	1200	

8

5.8.27

¥.....

			APE I. AH-56 27 Jan AMSAV-	1 Flight Release SN 66-8834 1971 R-F
ITEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.I.</u>
38.	738620	Propeller Actuator	1200	
39.	1015146-301	T/R Drive Shaft Assy	230	
40.	1007925-303	T/R Gizbal Ring Assy	140	
41.	1008840-303	T/R Spindle Mechanism	300	
<i>^</i> .2.	1009256-301	T/R Hub Mech. Assy	1310	
43.	1019382-301	T/R Spider - Pitch Cont-51	300	
44.	1019370-301	T/R Blade Assy	410	
45.	1009327-301	T/R Feather Arm	1200	
46.	1008898-305	T/R Spline Shaft	280	Inwork
47.	1001707301	M/R Blade Attach Bold, Fwd.	470	180.1
48.	1018922-103	M/R Blade Attach Bolt, Aft	470	
49.	1020319-101	M/R Collective Clevis	2380	
50.	101492-301	M/R Cyclic Clevis	2150	
51.	1014055 <b>-30</b> 9	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2530	
52.	1014055-310	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2530	
53.	1013915-303	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2530	
54.	1020312-101	Cone	1710	
55.	1009989-301	Retainer	2530	
56.	1020183-101	Link Assy	1710	
57.	1015595-313	Link Assy	1710	
58.	740396-301	T/R Tension Torsion Pack	1310	
59.	1010445-301	T/R T.T Pack Pin	1310	
60.	1009338-301	T/R T.T Pack Pin	1310	
61.	1007712-391	T/R Spindle Support Housing	180	
62.	1008361-303	T/R Drive Spindle	140	
63.	740599-301	T/R Pitch Link	900	
64.	1008899-301	T/R Bell Crank	340	
65.	1007460-301	Bellcrank, Direct Control	1980	
66.	1007462-301	Support, Direct Control	1980	
67.	1007464-301	Link Assy, Direct. Control	1980	
68.	1009046-101	Rod Assy, Direct. Control	1980	
69.	1001690-115	Directional Servo Assy	1200	
70.	1000663-101	Fitting, Front Bean	450	60.8
		-		60.10
71.	1000665-101	Fitting, Rear Beam	450	60.8
		-		60.8
				60.10

Page 2 of Table 1.

.

Ę

2,

23 7 16
APE I.1 Flight Release AH-56 SN 66-8834 27 Jan 1971 AMSAV-R-F

\$

ITEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.I.</u>	
72.	740882-301	T/R Feather Bearing		5.1**	
73.	740597-303	T/R Drive Spindle Bearing		15.6**	
74.	740718-301	T/R Gimbal Bearing		15.6**	
75.	670215-105	Oil Cooler Fan - Vickers		**, **:	*
76.	740718-301	011 Cooler Fan - Task		**, **	*

....

# \*Exclusive of sprag clutch.

\*\*Special inspection and replacement procedure based on cumulative wear.
\*\*\*Visual inspection for leakage prior to and after each flight.

Page <u>3</u> of Table 1.

9

NNNNPTTUZYUW RUWTFFA3828 Ø492227-UUUU--RUWJBDA.

ZNR UUUUU

P 1821ØØZ FEB 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM ST LOUIS MO

TO CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CA

ΒT

UNCLAS

AMSAV-R-F

ACTION FOR: SAVTE-P

SUBJECT: APE 1.1 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE

IN REPLY REFER TO: AMSAV-R-FT Ø2-13

A. REFERENCE IS MADE TO LETTER FROM AMSAV-R-F TO SAVTE-P, SUBJECT AS ABOVE, 29 JAN 71.

PARAGRAPH 3.H OF ABOVE REFERENCE IS HEREBY MODIFIED AS FOLLOWS:

LOAD FACTOR. THE AUTHORIZED LOAD FACTOR AIPSPEED ENVELOPE IS SHOWN IN FIGURE 3 FOR AL CONDITIONS EXCEPT RIGHT WINDUP TURNS WHICH SHALL NOT EXCEED 1.5G'S BETWEEN 80 AND 155 KNOTS THEREBY DECREASING LINERLY TO 1.2G'S AT 190 KNOTS.

BT

#3828

NNNMPTTUZYUW RUWTFFA4412 Ø551552-UUUU--RUWJBDA.

Z NR UUUUU

P 221500 Feb 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM STL MO

TO CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

ΒT

UNCLAS

/MSAV-R-F

FOR: SAVTE-P

SUBJ: APE 1.1 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE

IN REPLY REFEP. TO AMSAV-R-F \$2-18

A. REFERENCE IS MADE TO LETTER FROM SAMSAV-R-F TO SAVTE-P, SUBJECT AS ABOVE, 29 JAN 71.

THE REFERENCE SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE IS HEREBY EXPANDED TO INCLUDE THE FOLLOWING LIMITATIONS:

A. AUTOROTATIONAL ENTRY DURING CLIMBS ARE RESTRICTED TO CLIMB RATES OF APPROXIMATELY 500 FT/MIN.

B. AUTOROTATIONAL ENTRY CONTROL DELAYS SHALL BE HELD TO AFPROXI-MATELY ONE (1) SECOND, UNLESS PILOT CUES ARE OF SUFFICIENTLY LOW MAGNITUDE TO ALLOW DELAYS UP TO A MAXIMUM OF TWC (2) SECONDS.

BT

#4412

### DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS COMMAND PO Box 209, St. Louis, MO 63166

AMS AV-R-F

19 APR 1971

SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release

Commanding Officer U.S. Army Aviation Systems Test Activity ATTN: SAVTE-P

1. This letter constitutes a safety of flight release for day V.F.R. flight of AH-56A S/N 66-8834 for the conduct of Army Preliminary Evaluation 1.2.

2. This flight release is contingent upon the following:

a. The airworthiness of all onboard flight test equipment and instrumentation being assured by a safety inspection performed by USAASTA personnel.

b. The flight control systems being rigged in accordance with applicable drawings and specifications.

c. Constant voice communication will be maintained between the Telemetry van and the test vehicle.

d. The mechanical emergency stores jettison system must be functionally tested by the contractor prior to APE 1.2 flight testing.

e. The emergency stores jettison handle must be painted and identified per MIL-M-18012 for immediate action controls.

3. The authorized flight envelope is as described below.

a. Airspeed Limitations.

こと、こことでは、「「「「「」」」というないないないでは、「」」というないできたが、「「」」というないできたないできたから、「」、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、ここと、こ

(:) Forward Flight . . . The maximum authorized forward flight speed is 160 knots calibrated airspeed.

19 APR 1971

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release

(2) Landing Gear Extended . . . The maximum authorized flight speed for normal landing gear extension (or with the landing gear extended) is 130 knots calibrated airspeed.

(3) Butterfly Canopy (Forward and/or Aft) . . . The canopy open (forward and/or aft) condition is authorized only for ground conditions, rotor stationary, and winds of 45 knots or less.

(4) Taxi, Takeoff, and Landing . . .

(a) Tail Wheel Unlocked . . . The maximum authorized taxi speed with the tail wheel unlocked is 20 knots.

(b) Tail Wheel Locked . . . The maximum authorized taxi speed with the tail wheel locked is 70 knots calibrated airspeed.

(5) Sideward and Rearward Flight . . . These maneuvers are prohibited.

(6) Takeoffs . . . Running takeoffs only are authorized and the minimum lift-off airspeed shall be in accordance with Figure 6, Incl 7.

(7) Landings . . . Run-on landings only are authorized and maximum airspeed at touchdown is limited to 70 knots calibrated airspeed.

(8) Autorotative Descent . . . St. bilized autorotative descent airspeed shall be limited to 85 to 95 knots calibrated airspeed.

b. <u>Collective Blade Angle</u> . . . Collective/main rotor swashplate position is sensed and presented on a cockpit display in degrees. The authorized cockpit displayed collective angles as a function of airspeed are shown in Figure 4, Incl 5.

c. <u>Bank Angle Limitations</u> . . . The maximum authorized bank angles as a function of calibrated airspeed are shown in Figure 1, Incl 2.

d. <u>Sideslip Envelope</u> . . . The maximum authorized sideslip as a function of calibrated airspeed is shown in Figure 2, Incl 3.

e. <u>Descents</u> . . . The maximum authorized rate of descent is 6000 feet per minute. Flight path (dive) angle is limited to a maximum of 20 degrees with a minimum propeller beta angle of +8 degrees except during landing.

19 APR 1971

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release

f. Hovering . . . Hovering flight is prohibited.

g. <u>Practice/Intentional Autorotations</u> . . . These maneuvers are prohibited.

h. <u>Control Input Limits, Directional</u> . . . Abrupt pedal inputs in forward flight shall not exceed ±1 inch from trim or result in sideslip angles greater than that authorized by the sideslip-airspeed envelope shown in Figure 2, Incl 3.

i. Control Input Limits, Cyclic . . .

(1) Ground 100%  $N_{\rm R}$  . . . Cyclic control inputs shall be limited to t2 inches.

(2) Cyclic stirs . . . cyclic stirs at rates greater than one cycle in two seconds (0.5Hz) are prohibited.

j. Load Factor . . . The authorized load factor airspeed envelope is shown in Figure 3, Incl 4.

k. <u>Aititude Limits</u> . . . Flight above 6000 ft. dentity altitude is prohibited.

1. Weight and C.G. Limits . . . The maximum allowable cakeoff gross weight is 18,500 pounds. The aircraft shall be configured to the midcenter of gravity (c.g.) with a permissible longitudinal c.g. travel from station 299 to station 301, and a lateral c.g. travel of ±1 inch.

m. Rotor Speed Limits . . .

A CARLEY CONTRACTOR AND A CARLEY SAVE AND A CARL

(1) Steady State Maneuvers, power on or power off - 98% to 105% N<sub>R</sub>.

(2) Transient Maneuvers, power on - 95% to 105%  $N_{\rm R}.$ 

n. <u>Rotor Start Stop Limits</u> . . . The rotor shall not be started or stopped in winds in excess of 20 knots.

o. <u>Touch Down Sink Rates</u> . . . Touch down sink rate shall not exceed 9.5 feet per second.

p. <u>Wind Limits</u> . . , Flight operations shall not be conducted in winds in excess of 20 knots.

3

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release 19 APR 1971

q. External Stores Jettison . . . In the event of an emergency, TOW missile pods and/or XM-159C rocket launchers may be jettisoned in the speed range of 0 to 100 knots calibrated from a level unaccelerated flight condition. Said jettison may be accomplished with any combination of full, partially loaded or empty TOW pods and XM-159C rocket launchers. This limitation covers TOW pods mounted on the B.L. 68 pylon and XM-159C rocket pods mounted on either the B.L. 68 pylon and/or B.L. 117 pylon.

4. The engine, transmission, hydraulic system, and APU limitations and associated instrument markings are as follows:

#### LIMITATIONS

INSTRUMENT MARKING

red line

(no mark)

a. Turbine Inlet Temperature

200°C minimum at flight idle

72% idle (maximum)

(Note: Under normal conditions the flight idle TIT will be in the 400-440°C range. TIT values on the order of 200°C can be obtained at flight idle under the extremes of high altitudes and low temperature (-65°F)

200 - 671°C normal operation	green band
566°C max allowable on start up to 50% $N_g$	(no mark)
649°C max allowable on start up to idle	(no mark)
671°C maximum continuous limit	red line
671 to 707°C time limited - 30 min	yellow band
707 to 727°C time limited - 10 min	yellow band
727 - 743°C time limited - 60 seconds	yellow band
743°C inspection limitation	red line
b. <u>Gas Generator RPM</u>	
58% idle (minimum)	red line

4

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE I.2 Safety of Flight Release	19 APR 1971
LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING
Gas Generator RPM continued	
63 to 100% normal (run) operating range	green band
100% maximum continuous	(no mark)
100 to 101.5% time limited to 10 seconds	yellow band
101.5% inspection limitation	red line
c. Power Turbine RPM	
98% (power on) minimum	red line
98% to 105% normal operating range	green range
105% maximum (power on)	red line
overspeed cutoff - 113%	(no mark)
d. Main Rotor RPM	
90% minimum power off (98% minimum power on)	red line
98 to 105% normal operating range	green band
105% maximum power on/off	red line
e. Engine Torque	
C - 114% normal operating range	(no band)
114% maximum continuous	red line
f. Fuel Quantity Indicator	
0 to 390 lb low fuel level warning	yellow band
g. Engine Oil Temperature	
0°C minimum (power on)	red line

۰.

**x** '

4

¥

5

**\$**7

, 1

ž.

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release	19 APR 1971		
LIMITATIONS II	NSTRUMENT MARKING		
Engine Oil Temperature continued			
0 to 107°C normal operating range	green band		
107°C maximum continuous	red line		
107°C to 150°C for 30 minutes - emergency only above 150°C see Para 6, Emergency Procedures	(no mark)		
b. Transmission Oil Temperature			
-30°C minimum	red line		
0 to 113°C normal operating range	green band		
113°C maximum continuous	red line		
113°C to 130°C for 30 minutes and 130°C to 140°C for 10 minutes (For emergency only and with power level equal to power for level flight at 90 to 100 KIAS)	(no mark)		
i. Engine Oil Pressure			
10 psi minimum	red line		
10 psi to 45 psi idle	(no mark)		
10 psi to 75 psi	green band		
50 psi (minimum at 95% Ng)*	(no mark)		
j. Transmission Oil Pressure			
80 psi minimum	red line		
80 to 110 psi normal operating range**	green band		
110 ps: maximum	red line		
* When starting in cold weather .1 pressures greater than 100 psi can occur before oil temperatur. abilized (within three minutes).			

\*\* Special conditions apply to operation with transmission oil pressure below 80 psi, see Para. 6, Emergency Procedures.

> 6 **58** ·

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release	19 APR 1971
LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING
k. Hydraulic System Pressure	
0 to 2800 psi	yellow band
2800 to 3400 psi normal operating range	green band
3400 psi maximum	red line
Bypass mode -2 minute maximum	(no mark)
1. APU RPM	
95% minimum	red line
95 tc 100% normal operating range	green band
100 to 110%	yellow band
110% maximum	red line
m. APU Exhaust Gas Temperature	
50 to 650°C normal operating range	green band
650°C maximum continuous	red line
650 to 732°C	yellow band
732°C time limit - 10 sec	red line
n. Prop Gearbox Oil Temperature	
121°C maximum	red line

5. Ejection Seat Restrictions:

h

The ejection seat was installed in Aircraft 66-8834 for the purpose of providing emergency egress for the contractor pilot during envelope expansion flights. The ejection seat has not been qualified in this aircraft and therefore the use of the ejection seat during the APE 1.2 evaluation will be at the discretion of the aircraft Commander. The interdepartmental communication from Mr. D.R. Segner, subject: AH-56 Ejection Seat Qualification, dated 20 May 1970, contains the controlling guidelines for the use of the ejection seat.

19 APR 19/1

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safetv of Flight Release

6. Emergency Procedures:

a. <u>Checklist Emergency Procedures</u>: The emergency procedures detailed in POMM 55-1520-22-10 CL, (January 1971), Operator's and Crewmember's Checklist, for aircraft serial no. 66-8834 shall be followed with special emphasis on the following:

(1) Prop System Control Failure - page N9

(2) Proximity Device Warming - page E20. This system has been removed.

(3) Stick Centering Malfunction/Failure - pages E26, and E27.

(4) Nf Control Failure - page E28.

b. Additional Emergency Procedures. The following emergency procedures not included in the pilot's checklist should be followed:

(1) In-flight emergency egress from the cockpit should be out the righthand side to avoid possible contact with the tail rotor.

(2) Low transmission oil pressure (below 80 psi) does not require an emergency landing. Flight may be continued for a maximum of 30 min. at 90 - 100 KIAS if the following transmission oil pressure vs. transmission oil temperature conditions are not exceeded:

> 80 psi @ 113°C 78 psi @ 120°C 75 psi @ 130°C\* 72 psi @ 140°C

\* Flight above 130°C is limited to 10 minutes.

(3) Engine oil overtemperature due to oil cooler fan failure does not require an emergency landing if engine oil pressure is above 40 psi and an airspeed of 130 KIAS can be maintained.

(4) Emergency Landing Gear Extension. Epergency extension of the main landing gear is accomplished by an accumulator system designed to function at 100 knots calibrated airspeed or less.

c. <u>Emergency Hover</u>. This flight condition should be limited to the absolute minimum time necessary.

19 APR 1971

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release

7. Cautions and Warnings:

a. <u>Caution</u>. Blade moment stall has been encountered at conditions of 7° indicated collective pitch blade angle, 120 knots calibrated airspeed, and load factors of 1.8 or greater. This condition is characterized by right roll and pitch up. Recovery techniques shall be consistent with the procedures demonstrated to USAASTA pilots by Lockheed during the pilot training.

b. <u>Caution</u>. During Pre-Engine Start System Checks insure that the RPM Set Switch (Nf Beeper) has been set in the DECR position for a minimum of five seconds.

c. <u>Caution</u>. Do not apply rotor brake with engine running. Apply rotor brake only below 40% NR with engine off and TIT below 320°C. Rotor brake may be applied before engine start but must be released at powers greater than ground idle. Do not at empt to keep rotor brake on beyond ground idle when running up.

d. <u>Warning</u>. Do not start APU with rotor running and a known or suspected No. 1 hydraulic system malfunction at any time.

e. <u>Warning</u>. Landing roll deceleration must be accomplished using reverse propeller thrust and main gear braking only. Aft cyclic inputs during ground operation can overstress main rotor control components or airframe structure.

f. <u>Warning</u>. Avoid operation at  $40^{\circ}$ F or below with visible moisture present.

8. Limited Life Parts:

a. The maximum allowable operating times (MAOT) for fatigue critical component parts are as listed in Table 1, Incl 1.

b. USAASTA personnel shall assure that the specia' inspection indicated under the S.I. column of Table are performed at the intervals specified in document IDC 87-71-045, "Tracking of Finite Life and TBO Items", dated 20 Jan 1971.

9. Propeller Blade Angle Limitations:

a. Maximum allowable propeller blade angle during climb below 100 knots calibrated airspeed is +30°.

19 APR 1971

AMSAV-R-F SUBJECT: APE 1.2 Safety of Flight Release

b. Maximum propeller blade angle is +40.8 degrees.

c. Minimum propeller blade angle is -12° (with counterweights).

10. Safe Take-Off Corridor: Note: Contractor has demonstrated throttle chops from hover to 60 knots at 7 to 10 feet wheel heights.

11. Preliminary Operator's Manuals. The helicopter shall be operated in accordance with the Preliminary Operator's Manual POMM 55-1520-222-10 dated 15 March 1969 except that Chapter 7 shall be disregarded and the operating limitations set forth in this flight release shall apply. The pilots checklist POMM 55-1520-222-10CL, datea January 1971, with the two additions listed below, shall be used:

a. Tail wheel lock pin check.

b. Fuel control shaft position check to insure that it is at the shutoff step.

12. Pilot Station. The pilot station shall be the forward cockpit.

13. Flight in Turbulence. Flying is restricted to less than moderate turbulence, that is, approximately 90% of airspeed fluctuation occurrences due to turbulence not to exceed  $\pm 5$  knots and approximately 10% of such airspeed fluctuations not to exceed 8 knots and/or approximately 90% of c.g. vertical load factor excursion occurrences due to turbulence not to exceed  $\pm 0.3g$  and approximately 10% of such load factor excursions not to exceed  $\pm 0.3g$ .

FOR THE COMMANDER:

7 Incl as s/Robert F. Forsyth LTC CHARLES C. CRAWFORD, JR. Director of Flight Standards and Qualification

10

# TABLE I

ITEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.1.</u>
1.	1019765-301	M/R Blade Assy	425	15 4
		•	469	180.4
2.	1018578-303	M/R Movable Hub Assy	400	30.9
				60.2
-				180.1
3.	2602853	M/R Tension Torsion Pak	200	10011
4.	LS10066-1	M/R T-T Pak Pin (8)	1920	15.8
-				180.2
5.	LS10035-3	M/R Hinge Bolt	450	30.4
6.	740290-107	M/R Hinge Bearing	60	30.4
7.	1019772-301	M/R Fixed Hub Assy	480	30.8
8.	1010460-305	M/R Gyro Dome	440	60 7
9.	1013452-301	M/R Gyro Drive Assy	680	0017
10.	1013447-301	M/R Gyro Hub	250	
11.	1019896-101	M/R Gyro Arms	2700	
12.	1021500-301	M/R Pitch Arm	300	23
			000	30 7
				50.7
13.	1010335-325	M/R Servo Package	380	
14.	1019881-105	M/R Coll Bellcrank	260	
15.	1019989-101	M/R Coll Link	200	
16.	1013450-307	Rotating Push and	900	
17.	1009430-301	Rotating Swashplate Assy	900	
18.	1011572-305	Non-Rotating Swashplate	2600	
19.	1013916-101	Swashplate Ball Spline	1350	
20.	1001981-107	Ball Spline Housing	900	
21.	1013432-305	M/R Pitch Link	1570	60 1
22.	100723A3	M/R Collective Dampers	450	00.1
23.	673107-101	M/R Cyclic Dampers	225	
24.	1000156-177	Main Transmission (Sprag)	150*	0 1
			150	2.1
25.	1000211-103	M/R Mast (Traps, 1010)	1340	30.0
26.	1020252-105	Sprag Clutch	50	05 1
27.	670869-103	A.P.U.	1900	25.1
28.	o70825-103	Lube Pump	1500	
29.	671766-301	A.P.U. Clutch	1300	
30.	740530-105	A.P.H. Drive Shaft	1200	
31.	T-64-GE-16	Engine	1200	FO 4
32.	1020251-111	Engine Torquechaft	150	50.1
33.	671221-301	Nash Actuator Fuel Control	1200	23.2
34.	1020263-101	Engine Speed Control	1200	05 4
35.	1002063-101	Propeller Drive Sheft	1200	25.1
36.	738700-1	Propeller Gearboy	1200	
		F OCGIDUA	400	

\* Exclusive of sprag clutch.

¢

ITEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.I.</u>
37.	11FA1CB8-0	Propeller Blades	1200	
38.	738620	Propeller Actuator	1200	
39.	1015146-301	T/R Drive Shaft Assy	265	
40.	1007925-303	T/R Gimbal Ring Assy	200	
41.	1008840-303	T/R Spindle Mechanism	300	
42.	1009256-301	T/R Hub Mech. Assy	1310	
43.	1019382	T/R Spider - Pitch Control	300	
44.	1019370301	T/R Blade Assy	560	
45.	1009327-301	T/R Feather Arm	1200	
46.	1008898-305	T/R Spline Shaft	280	Inwork
47.	1001707-301	M/R Blade Attach Bolt,Fwd	470	180.1
48.	1018922-103	M/R Biade Attach Bolt,Aft	470	
49.	1020319-101	M/R Collective Clevis	2380	
50.	1014921-301	N/R Cyclic Clevis	2150	
51.	1014055-309	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2970	
52.	1014055-310	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2970	
53.	1013915-303	Pushrod Assy-Non Rotating	2970	
54.	1020312-101	Cone	2600	
55.	1009989-301	Retainer	2970	
56.	1020183-101	Link Assy	2600	
57.	1015595-313	Link Assy	2600	
58.	740596-301	T/R Tension Torsion Pack	1310	
59.	1010445-301	T/R T.T Pack Pin	1310	
60.	1009338-301	T/R T T. Pack Pin	1310	
61.	1007712-301	T/R Spindle Support Housing	200	
62.	1008361-311	T/R Drive Spindle	110	
63.	740599-301	T/R Pitch Link	900	
64.	1008899-301	T/R Bell Crank	340	
65.	1007460-301	Bellcrank, Direct Control	2070	
66.	1007462-301	Support, Direct Control	2070	
67.	1007464-301	Link Assy, Direct Control	2070	
68.	1009046-101	Rod Assy, Direct Control	2070	
69.	1001690-115	Directional Servo Assy	1200	
70.	1000663-101	Fitting, Front Beam	320	60.8
				60.10
71.	1000665-101	Fitting, Rear Beam	320	60.8
				60.10
72.	740882-301	T/R Feather Bearing		5.1**
73.	740883-301	Tail Rotor Feather Bearing		5.1**
74.	740597-303/305	T/R Drive Spindle Bearing	30/60	2.5**,***
75.	740718-301/303	T/R Gimbal Bearing	30/60	2.5**,***
76.	670925-105	Oil Cooler Fan-Vickers		**,***

\*\* Special inspection and replacement procedure based on cumulative wear.
\*\*\* Visual inspection for leakage prior to and after each flight.
\*\*\*\* Daily Inspection.

2

104-

°~;

TTEM	PART NUMBER	COMPONENT	MAOT	<u>S.I.</u>
77.	1015276-301	Spider Assy - U-Joint	680	120.5
78. 79. 80. 81	1002064-103 1002072-101 671083 671084	Prop Drive Shaft Coupling Prop Drive Shaft Coupling Cooling Fans	6300 6300 1800	1.13 1.13
82.	671085	Cooling Fans	1800 1800	

ę

.F 긐 끒 **THE** Щ 闡 . H SEE TH 8 -----jų. • 1111 KNUE S I . OALTEKATED ALESPEED ... PRELIMINARY EVALUATION 1.2 LIMITS <u>I</u>III ..... 001 - 65 BANK A BANK A MH-SGA +-+--1 mil line t 17-1 H Hit H ł

Ľ

C. Maderian Providence

. 3---



. ŗ. \* - S-Q`,



24.48



24.48

NNNNPTTUZYUW RUWTFFAØ923 1112Ø52-UUUU-RUWJBDA

ZNR UUUUU

P R 2116ØØZ APR 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM STL MO

TO RUWJBDA/CC USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

INFO RUEBBNA/CG USAMC

RUWJREA/CO LOCKHEED PLANT ACTIVITY VAN NUYS CALIF

BT

13.0 5.1

でしたですようであるよう、そのようながいたなないないないないないないないないないであるというないのである。

UNCLAS AMSAV-R-F

ACTION FOR SAVIE-P INFO AMC FOR AMCRD-FQ AND AMCSF-A

SUBJECT: AH-56A APE 1.2 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE

IN REPLY REFER TO: Ø4-26

A. TELECON BETWEEN MR. D. MACPHERSON, ASTA AND LTC FORSYTH, 20 APR 71, CONCERNING THE EXTERNAL STORES JETTISON CAPABILITY OF AIRCRAFT 1009 DURING APE 1.2 TESTING.

B. LETTER AMSAV-R-F, DATED 19 APR 71, SUBJECT: APE 1.2 SAFETY OF VLIGHT RELEASE.

1. PER YOUR REQUEST, PARA 2D AND 2E OF REFERENCE B ARE HEREBY RESCINDED. IT IS UNDERSTOOD THAT ALL APE 1.2 TESTING WILL BE CONDUECTED WITH THE EXTERNAL STORES MOUNTING RACKS SECURED IN A NON-JEETISONABLE CONDIT-ION. 2. CHANGE PARA 6B(2) OF REFERENCE B TO READ:

PAGE 2 RUWTFFAØ923 UNCLAS

LOW TRAN	SMISSION OIL PRI	ESSURE (BELOW 80 PSI) 1	DOES NOT REQU	JIRE AN
EMERGENO	CY LANDING. FLIG	IT MAY BE CONTINUED FOR	R A MAXIMUM O	DF 3Ø
MINUTES	AT 90 - 100 KIAS	S USING THE FOLLOWING I	LIMITS:	
77 PSI -	85 DEGREES	13Ø DEGREES C''		
73 PSI -	9Ø DEGREES	13Ø DEGREES C"		
7Ø PSI -	75 DEGREES	13Ø DEGREES C"		
FLIGHT /	ABOVE 13Ø DEGREES	S C IS LIMITED TO 10 M	INUTES.	
3. CHAN	NCES TO INCL 1, 1	PAGE 1.		
ITEM	P/N	COMPONENT	MAOT	S.I.
26	1ø2ø252-1ø5	SPRAG CLUTCH	15Ø	25.1
32	1Ø2Ø251-111	ENGINE TORQUESHAFT	15Ø	25.2 (5ØHR)
34	1Ø2Ø263-1Ø1	ENGINE SPEED CONTROL	15Ø	25.1 (5Ø HR)
4. ADD	THE FOLLOWING T	D FOOINOTES ON PAGE 2,	INCL 1.	
111	'REMOVE AND REP	LACE AT 50 HR INSPECTI	RN INTERVAL.	
5. ADD	PAGE 3, INCL 1.			
ITEM	P/N	COMPONENT	MAOT	S.I.
83	741357	SPRAG CLUTCH BEARINGS	5Ø	1111
вт				

Ø923

NNNNRTTUZYUW RUWTFFA 1668 1191849-UUUU-RUWJBDA.

ZNR UUUUU

R 291835Z APR 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM ST LOUIS MO

TO RUWJBDA/CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

INFO RUWJREA/CO US ARMY LOCKHEED PLANT ACTIVITY VAN NUYS CALIF RUWJHUA/CHIEF AAWS PROJ MGR FIELD OFC YPG, YUMA ARIZONA RUEBBNA/CG USAMC

ВΤ

いいまた、こことでいた。これできたいたかできたちには、お話されたないないないないないないないである。

UNCLAS

AMSAV-R-F

ACTION FOR SAVTE-P INFO FOR LOCKHEED ACT, ATTN SAVLO YUMA FIELD OFC, ATTN LTC VAUGHN AMC FOR AMCSF-A AND AMCRD-FQ

SUBJECT AH-56A HELICOPTER APE 1.2

IN REPLY REFER TO AMSAV-R-FT Ø4-36

A. ASTA TWX SAVTE-T ØØØ37, AH-56 HELICOPTER APE 1.2, 2Ø162ØZ APRIL 1971.

B. AVSCOM TWX AMSAV-R-FT Ø4-32, AH-56A HELICOPTER APE 1.2 SCOPE OF TEST, DATED 2317ØØZ APRIL 1971.

1. REFERENCE ASTA TWX PROPOSED SCOPE OF TEST FOR APE 1.2 WHICH WAS APPROVED BY AVSCOM TWX WITH EXCEPTION OF AUTOROTATIONAL ENTRIES. IN VIEW OF MAINTENANCE PROBLEMS AND APE II THE SCOPE IS CHANGED AS PAGE 2 RUWTFFA 1668 UNCLAS

#### FOLLOWS

۰.

A. AIRCRAFT WILL BE RETURNED TO LCC FOR MANEUVER/STABILITY (RIGHT WIND-UP TURNS) TO 2.ØG, STORES ON TO INVESTIGATE BLADE MOMENT STALL (BMS). IF BMS NOT ENCOUNTERED WITH STORES ON THEN INVESTIGATE WITH STORES OFF. AVSCOM -- YUMA REP AND ASTA TO WITNESS LCC TESTS AND DATA. B. AFTER LCC TESTS ASTA WILL FLY MANEUVER/STABILITY TO G LIMIT AND AIRSPEED ESTABLISHED BY ON-SITE AVSCOM - YUMA REP.

C. LONG. TRIM CHARACTERISTICS FLIGHTS MAY BE DELETED.

2. UPON COMPLETION OF FLIGHTS IN 1.B, APE 1.2 IS COMPLETED.

BT

ZNR UUUUU

R 29193ØZ APR 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM ST LOUIS MO

TO RUWJBDA/CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

INFO RUWJREA/CO US ARMY LOCKHEED PLANT ACTIVITY VAN NUYS CALIF RUWJHUA/CHIEF AAWS PROJ MGR FIELD OFC YPG, YUMA ARIZONA RUEBBNA/CG USAMC

ΒT

UNCLAS

AMSAV-R-F

ACTION FOR SAVTE-P INFO FOR LOCKHEED ACT, ATTN SAVLO YUMA FIELD OFC, ATTN LTC VAUGHN AMC FOR AMCSF-A AND AMCRD-FQ

SUBJECT AH-56A HELICOPTER APE 1.2

IN REPLY REFER TO AMSAV-R-F Ø4-37

A. AVSCOM TWX AMSAV-R-FT  $\emptyset$ 4-36, AH-56A HELICOPTER APE 1.2, DATED 291835Z APR 71.

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CONTENTS OF REFERENCE A THE MANEUVERING G LIMITS, BASED ON THE RESULTS OF LCC TESTS AND DATA, ARE ESTABLISHED AT 20.G FOR BOTH LEFT AND RIGHT WIND UP TURNS.

BT

d'and

こうし、アンション、アンシステレートに、たちななななななななななななななないのであるないないないないないないです。

1669

115

Section 1.

NNNNPTTUZYUW RUWTFFA6444 2712Ø54-UUUU--RUWJBDA.

Z NR UUUUU

P 28192ØZ SEP 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM STL MO

TO RUWJBDA/CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

INFO RUWJREA/CO US ARMY LOCKHEED PLANT ACT VAN NUYS CALIF RUWJHUA/CHIEF AAWS PROJ MGE YUMA FIELD OFC YPG YUMA ARIZ

ΒT

UNCLAS

AMSAV-EF

ACTION FOR: SAVTE-P, INFO FOR LOCKHEED, CO: YUMA FIELD OFC, ATTN: ASTA TEST TEAM AND AAWS PM REP AT YUMA.

SUBJECT: AH-56A SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE FOR RDAT 1

IN REPLY RLFER TO: AMSAV-EF

A. REFERENCE AVSCOM LETTER AMSAV-EF, SUBJECT: APE 1,3 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE, DATED 1 SEPT 71.

THIS TWX CONSTITUTES A SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE FOR THE ASTA PORTION OF RDAT 1 FOR THE AH-56A TEST PROGRAM. THIS FLIGHT RELEASE IS CONTINGENT UPON THE USE OF THE FLIGHT ENVELOPE, LIMITATIONS, CAUTIONS AND WARNINGS AS INCLUDED IN THE REF LETTER FOR THIS TEST PROGRAM. EXCEPTIONS TO THE LETTER ARE AS FOLLOWS:

A. CHANGE A/C SERIAL NUMBER TO 66-8831.

PAGE 2 RUWTFFA6444 UNCLAS

B. DELETE THE TELEMETRY REQUIREMENTS BETWEEN A/C AND TM VAN.

C. DELETE REFERENCE TO THE EJECTION SEAT.

D. -1ØCL PUBLICATION DATE IIS CHANGED FROM JAN 71 TO JULY 71.

E. DURING WEAPONS FIRING THE PROCEDURES AND SAFETY PRECAUTIONS SET FORTH IN THE INTERIM SAFETY STATEMENT FOR RDAT I DATED 28 SEPT 71 APPLY.

BT

1. 2. 1.

NNNNPTTUZYUW RUWTFFA 768Ø 2812135-UUUU--RUWJBDA.

ZNR YUUUU

P Ø821ØØZ OCT 71

FM CG USAAVSCOM ST LOUIS MO

TO RUWJBDA/CO USAASTA EDWARDS AFB CALIF

INFO RUWJREA/CO US ARMY LOCKHEED PLANT ACT VAN NUYS CALIF RUWJHUA/CHIEF, AAWS PROJ MGR YUMA FIELD OFC, YUMA ARIZ RUEBBNA/CG USAMC

BT

UNCLAS

AMSAV-EF

ACTION FOR: SAVTE-P, INFO FOR: LOCKHEED, CO: YUMA FIELD OFC, ATTN: ASTA TEST TEAM AND AAWS PM REP AT YUMA, AMC FOR AMCRD-FQ AMCSF-A SUBJECT: APE 1.3 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE

IN REPLY REFER TO: AMSAV-EFT 10-11

A. REFERENCE LETTER FROM AMSAV-EF TO SAVTE-P, SUBJECT: APE 1,3 SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE. 1 SEPT 71.

PARAGRAPH 3.E OF REFERENCED SAFETY OF FLIGHT RELEASE IS REVISED TO INDICATE THAT MINIMUM PROPELLER BETA ANGLE IS -5 DEGREES (INSTEAD OF PLUS 8 DEGREES) FOR DIVES.

BT

768Ø

## DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS COMMAND FO Box 209, St. Louis, Missouri 63166

AMSAV-EF

1 Sep 1971

SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

Commanding Officer U.S. Army Aviatic Systems Test Activity ATTN: SAVTE-P

1. This letter constitutes a safety of flight release for day V.F.R. flight of AH-56A S/N 66-8834 for the conduct of Army Preliminary Evaluation 1.3.

2. Inis flight release is contingent upon the following:

a. The airworthiness of all onboard flight test equipment and instrumentation being assured by a safety inspection performed by USAASTA personnel.

b. The flight control systems being rigged in accordance with drawings and specifications.

c. A functioning radio link directly between the Telemetry van and the test aircraft.

d. Proper functioning of flight control augmentation equipment, specifically the pitch desensitizer and roll compensator units.

3. The authorized flight envelope is as described below.

a. Airspeed Limitations.

(1) Forward Flight . . . The maximum authorized forward flight speed is shown in Figures 1 and 2, Incl 1.

(2) Landing Gear Extended . . . The maximum authorized flight speed for normal landing gear extension (or with the landing gear extended) is 130 knots calibrated airspeed.

\*\*\*\*

1.2.1

Contraction and the second second

1 SEP 1971

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APL 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

(3) Butterfly Canopy (Forward and/or Aft) . . . The canopy open (forward and/or aft) condition is authorized only for ground conditions, rotor stationary, and winds of 45 knots or less.

(4) Taxi, Takeoff, and Landing. . .

(a) Tail Wheel Unlocked. . . The maximum arthorized taxi speed with the tail wheel unlocked is 20 knots.

(b) Tail Wheel Locked. . . The maximum authorized taxi speed with the tail wheel locked is 70 knots calibrated airspeed.

(5) Sideward and Rearward Flight. . .

(a) Gross weight, 18,300. . . 35 knots sideward, 30 knots rearward.

(b) Gross weight, 20,500. . . 16 knots sideward and 16 knots rearward.

(6) Run-on Landings. . . The authorized maximum airspeed at touchdown is limited to 70 knots calibrated airspeed.

(7) Autorotative Descent. . . Stabilized autorotative descent airspeed shall be limited to 85 to 95 knots calibrated airspeed.

b. <u>Collective Blade Angle</u>. . . Collective/main rotor swashplate position is sensed and presented on a cockoit display in degrees. The authorized cockpit displayed collective angles as a function of airspeed are shown in Figure 3, Incl 2.

c. Bank Angle Limitations. . .

(1) The maximum authorized transient bank angle is  $70^{\circ}$ , with load factor not exceeding that shown in Figures 1 and 2, Incl 1, for a discrete airspeed.

(2) The maximum authorized sustained bank angle as a function of airspeed will be commensurate with that permitted by the Load Factor Airspeed Envelopes shown in Figures 1 and 2, Incl 1.

d. <u>Sideslip Envelope</u>. . . The maximum authorized sideslip as a function of calibrated airspeed is shown in Figure 4, Incl 3.

1 SEP 1971

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

e. <u>Descents</u> . . . The maximum authorized rate of descent is 6000 feet per minute. Flight path (dive) angle is limited to a maximum of 20 degrees with a minimum propeller beta angle of +8 degrees except during landing.

f. <u>Practice/Intentional Autorotation</u>. . . Autorotational landings are prohibited. All intentional autorotational descents will be terminated by powered flight at a safe altitude but in no case below 500 ft. AGL.

g. <u>Control Input Limits, Directional</u>. . Abrupt pedal inputs in forward flight shall not exceed ±1 inch from trim or result in sideslip angles greater than that authorized by the sideslip-airspeed envelope shown in Figure 4, Incl 3.

h. Control Input Limits, Cyclic. . .

(1) 100% N<sub>R</sub> . . . Cyclic control inputs shall be limited to  $\pm 2$  inches during ground operations.

(2) <u>Cyclic stirs</u>. . . Successive cyclic stirs at rates greater than one cycle in two seconds (0.5Hz) are to be avoided, 2 cps stirs of 1 (one) cycle duration are permitted.

i. Load Factor. . . The authorized load factor airspeed envelope is shown in Figures 1 and 2, Incl 1.

j. <u>Altitude Limits</u>. . . Flight above 10,500 ft. density altitude is prohibited.

k. Gross Weight and C.G. Limits. . . The authorized gross weight -C.G. envelope, is shown in Figure 5, Incl 4.

1. Rotor Speed Limits. . .

the second states of the secon

(1) Steady State Maneuvers, power on - 95% to 105%  $\rm N_R,$  power off - 90% to 105%  $\rm N_R.$ 

(2) Transient Maneuvers, power on - 95% to 105%  $N_{\rm R},$  power off - 85% to 110%  $N_{\rm R}.$ 

m. <u>Rotor Start/Stop Limits</u>. . . The rotor shall not be started or stopped in winds in excess of 20 knots.

n. <u>Touch Down Sink Rates</u>. . . Touch down sink rate shall not exceed 9.5 feet per second at 18,300 pounds. . . (570 FPM) and 9.0 feet per second at 20,500 pounds (540 FPM)

3

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

1 SEP 1971

INSTRUMENT MARKING

red line

o. Wind Limits. . . Flight operations shall not be conducted in winds in excess of 20 knots.

4. The engine, transmission, hydraulic system, and APU limitations and associated instrument markings are in accordance with the POMM 55-1520-22-10, Chapter 7, except as detailed below:

#### LIMI TATIONS

Gas Generator RPM

58% idle (minimum) red line 72% idle (maximum) (no mark) 63 to 100% normal (run) operating green band range 100% maximum continuous (no mark) 100 to 101.5% time limited to 10 yellow band seconds 101.5% inspection limitation red line Power Turbine RPM 95% minimum (power on) red line 95% to 105% normal operating range green band 105% maximum (power on) red line Overspeed cutoff - 113% (no mark) Main Rotor RPM 90% minimum power off (95% minimum red lira power on) 95 to 105% normal operating range green band

105% maximum power on/off

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT. APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

# 1 SEP 1971

LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING
Engine Oil Temperature	
0°C minimum (power on)	red line
0 to 107°C normal operating range	green band
107°C maximum continuous	red line
107°C to150°C for 30 minutes - emergency only above 150°C (see para 6, emergency procedures)	(no mark)
Transmission Oil Temperature	
-30°C minimum	red line
0 to 113°C normal operating range	green band
113°C maximum continuous	red line
113°C to 130°C for 30 minutes and 130°C to 135°C for 10 minutes. (For emergency only and with power level equal to power for level flight at 90 to 100 KIAS)	(no mark)
Engine Oil Pressure	
10 psi minimum	red line
10 psi to 45 psi idle	(no mark)
10 psi to 75 psi normal range	green Land
50 psi (minimum at 95% Ng)*	(no mark)
Transmission Oil Pressure	
70 psi minimum	red line

\*When starting in cold weather, oil pressures greater than 100 psi can occur before oil temperature stabilized (within three minutes).

5

1. 2.2

to a survey how to be survey to the survey of the survey o

~

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release 1 SEP 1971

LIMITATIONS	INSTRUMENT MARKING		
Transmission Oil Pressure (con't)			
70 to 110 psi rmal operating range	green band		
110 psi meximum	red line		
Prop. Gearbox Oil Temperature			
121°C maximum	red line		

5. Ejection Seat Restrictions:

The ejection seat was installed in Aircraft 66-8834 for the purpose of providing emergency egress for the contractor pilot during envelope expansion flights. The ejection seat has not been qualified in this aircraft and therefore the use of the ejection seat during the APE 1.3 evaluation will be at the discretion of the aircraft Commander. The interdepartmental communication from Mr. D. R. Segner, subject: AH-56 Ejection Seat Qualification, dated 20 May 1970, contains the controlling guidelines for the use of the ejection seat.

6. Emergency Procedures:

a. <u>Checklist Emergency Procedures</u>: The emergency procedures detailed in POMM 55-1520-22-10 CL, (January 1971), Operator's and Crewmember's Checklist, for aircraft serial no. 66-8834, shall be followed with special emphasis on the following:

(1) Prop System Control Failure - page E8.

(2) Stick Centering Malfunction/Failure - pages 23 and 24.

(3) Engine Control Failure - page E4 and E5.

b. <u>Additional Emergency Procedures</u>. The following emergency procedure not included in the pilot's checklist should be followed:

Page E26, In-flight emergency egress from the cockpit, should be out the righthand side to avoid possible contact with the tail rotor.

7. Cautions and Warnings:

1 SEP 1971

AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

a. <u>Caution</u>. Blade moment stall is characterized by right roll and pitch up. Recovery techniques shall be consistent with the procedures demonstrated to USAASTA pilots by Lockheed during the pilot training.

b. <u>Caution</u>. During Pre-Engine Start System Checks insure that the RPM Set Switch (Nf Beepe., has been set in the DECR position for a minimum of five seconds.

c. <u>Caution</u>. Do not apply rotor brake with engine running. Apply notor brake only below 40% NR with engine off and TIT below 320°C. Rotor brake may be applied before engine start but must be released at powers greater than ground idle. Do not attempt to keep rotor brake on beyond ground idle when running up.

d. <u>Warning</u>. Do not start APU with rotor running and a known or suspected No. 1 hydraulic system malfunction at any time.

e. <u>Warning</u>. Landing roll deceleration must be accomplished using reversed propeller thrust and main gear braking only. Aft cyclic inputs during ground operation can overstress main rotor control components or airframe structure.

f. <u>Warning</u>. Avoid operation at 40°F or below with visible moisture present.

8. Limited Life Parts:

こ、こことのないではなっていませんではないないのであるないのであるないであるという。

a. The maximum allowable operating times (MAOT) for fatigue critical component parts are as listed in the current AH 56A MAOT list.

b. USAASTA personnel shall assure that the special inspections indicated under the S. I. column of the MAOT list are performed at the intervals specified.

9. Propeller Blade Angle Limitations:

a. Maximum allowable propeller blade angle during climb below 100 knots calibrated airspeed is  $+30^{\circ}$ .

b. Maximum propeller blade angle is 440.8 degrees.

c. Minimum propeller blade is -5°.

10. Preliminary Operator's Manuals. The helicopter shall be operated in accordance with the Preliminary Operator's Manual FOMM 55-1520-222-10,
AMSAV-EF SUBJECT: APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release 1 SEP 1971

dated July 1971, except that the operating limitations set forth in this flight release shall apply where it differs from CH 7 of the operators manual. The pilots checklist POMM 55-1520-222-10 CL, (January 197i), Operator's and Crewmember's Checklist, for aircraft serial no. 66-8834, with annotated updating furnished by contractor, shall be used.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

4 Incl as

1

è

s/Robert F. Forsyth
ROBERT F. FORSYTH
LTC, TC
Actg Chief, Flt Stds & Qual Div
Directorate for RD&E

.



-

,



128

States:

5

. .

**E H** Ħ 1. H.I I.3A ...... <u>ب</u> APE **0** -11-1998 <del>----</del> .: ;.:. 0 I SIONA ------ST. 5 1 THE REPORT OF THE PARTY OF THE **Š**., S, 1..... 99 A CAN BE A CAN 12 140 129

- NG

APE I.34

ĿЕ E.H.H. 0 ₽¶<u>∎</u> ₫.<u>₩</u> Ē. 2 <u>i</u> 1 -----1 ts: 140 S. EFT OR RIGHT STOESLIE I SIDESLIR ANALE LIMITS M-56A USA 34A :::: ----.... nn ·Η Ż <u>\_\_\_\_</u> <u>. . . . . .</u> ĒĒ Ś Ŷ 111 11 Ŧ 詽

50 m

~

DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY Headquarters, US Army Aviation Systems Command PO Box 209, St. Louis, MO 63166

AMSAV-EF

2 DEC 1971

SUPJECT: Revision of AFE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release

Commanding Officer US Army Aviation Systems Test Activity ATTN: SAVTE-P Edwards Air Force Base, Calif.

1. Aircraft modifications incorporated since the APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release and subsequent flight test by Lockheed to substantiate said modifications and expand the previous flight envelope have resulted in the following revisions to the APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release. Caution shall be exercised at the high airspeeds due to weak dynamic an.<sup>4</sup> maneuvering stability evidenced during contractor tests in this regime.

2. The following revisions shall be made to the APE 1.3 Safety of Flight Release:

a. Figures 1 through 4 have been revised and are included herein.

b. Page 2, paragraph 3.a.(5) (b) - change 16 knots to 20 knots.

c. Rotor Speed Limits (page 3, paragraph 3 L (1) ), Steady State Maneuvers, power on shall be changed to 98% to 105%  $\rm N_r.$ 

d. Page 6, paragraph 7 - change title to Notes, Cautions, and Warnings.

e. Page 7, paragraph 7 e - change warning to caution.

t. Page 7, paragraph 7 f - change warning to note.

FOR THE COMMANDER:

s/Robert F. Forsyth
ROBERT F. FORSYTH
LTC, TC
Asst Chief, Flt Stds & Qual Div
Directorate for Research,
Development and Engineering
131

00.2 ALT. TIDENSITY: ÷::..: 38 -= ΞĒ APE 500 ----------E X 0 ý. -Ţ 0 8 1 5 D LOAD FACTOR ULMITS 2 ----------:.\*t: 1.... H e B -----8 ÷ Q Q 111 1 7123 et EF 1 ∰ ------ lug 1<del>1.</del> - KI ..... 1===1 

132

1.2.2

E :

TER I 1 I.3B 2.0 •.] 11 ШĒ APE цif. -; ] ., 602 비닐라 à 4 ЩE - + 1 Îų L MI ISSUED AV KNOTS :::**;**; LIBRATED V ----**0**2 1:1:± <u>.</u> . . . . . . 供 ------1 :-10 · EFE Ħ 11 ШĻ ''+÷ ÷ 1 <u>1 1</u> - He

133

\*\* \*\*\*



-





٩,

- -----

# APPENDIX D. HANDLING QUALITIES RATING SCALE

136

# APPENDIX E. TEST INSTRUMENTATION

1. Limited handling qualities test instrumentation was provided on the RDAT 1 test aircraft (S/N 66-8831). Since no quantitative data from the RDAT 1 test are presented in this report, the instrumentation list for S/N 66-8831 is not presented. Flight test instrumenation was installed in the APE 1 test aircraft (S/N 66-8834) prior to the start of this evaluation. This instrumentation provided data from the pilot panel (front seat), the photopanel, two oscillographs, and telemetry. The instrumentation was calibrated and maintained  $b_f$  the contractor throughout the test program. The following parameters were included in the instrumentation package:

### Pilot Panel

Airspeed (boom) Altitude (boom) Rotor speed Engine torque Turbine inlet temperature Longitudinal stick position Lateral stick position Pedal position Collective stick position Center-of-gravity normal acceleration Angle of sideship Angle of attack Pusher propeller Beta angle Free air temperature Gas producer speed Fuel-used quantity Time of day Correlation counter

### Photopanel

Airspeed (boon.) Altitude (bcom) Airspeed (ship's system) Altitude (ship's system) Free air temperature Rotor speed Gas generator speed Power turbine speed Fuel used Fuel flow Engine torque Turbine inlet temperature Time of day Timer (10-second sweep) Engine ignition box temperature Pilot event Propeller gearbox temperature Correlation counter Vertical speed Transmission oil pressure Engine oil pressure Oil cooler differential pressure Engine zone differential pressure Total temperature

# Oscillograph #1

and the state of the state of the

Control positions. Longitudinal cyclic Lateral cyclic Collective Control force: Longitudinal cyclic Lateral cyclic Aircraft attitude: Pitch Roll Aircraft rate: Pitch Roll Center-of-gravity normal acceleration (filtered at 2 Hz) Center-of-gravity lateral acceleration Angle of attack Angle of sideslip Main rotor index Pilot event Tail drive shaft torque Main drive shaft torque Main rotor cyclic blade angle Main rotor fixed hub flap bending at station 18 Main rotor fixed hub chord bending at station 18 Main rotor blade flap bending at station 174 Main rotor blade chord bending at station 174 Main rotor blade torsion at station 131.5 Main rotor shaft bending at zero degrees Main rotor shaft bending at 90 degrees Main rotor pitch link load Main rotor gyro arm flap bending Main rotor gyro drive torque Swashplate collective position

Swashplate roll position Swashplate pitch position Pitch load below swashplate Collective load below swashplate Correlation counter

# Oscillograph #2

Control positions: Pedal Pusher propeller blade angle (true) Control force: Pedal Aircraft rate: Yaw Vibration: Pilot seat (vertical) Pilot seat (lateral) Copilot/gunner seat (vertical) Center of gravity (vertical) Center of gravity (acteral) Tail rotor flap bending at station 5.2 Tail rotor chord bending at station 5.2 Tail rotor spindle support vertical bending Tail rotor spindle support forward/aft bending Tail rotor collective load Tail rotor blade angle Tail rotor shaft torque Tail rotor index Main rotor index Correlation counter Pilot event

<u>Telemetry</u> (A maximum of 18 parameters were transmitted for any one test. Different parameters were used, depending on the type of test. Output was provided on a bar scope, oscilloscope, and oscillograph, as well as being recorded on magnetic tape.)

Angle of sideslip Angle of attack Roll rate Pitch rate Yaw rate Longitudinal cyclic position Lateral cyclic position Pedal position Pusher proteller blade angle Center-of-gravity normal acceleration

Main rotor chord bending at station 18 Main rotor chord bending at station 174 Main rotor chord bending, reactionless mode content Gyro drive torque Main rotor pitch link No. 1 load Main rotor shaft bending at zero degrees Collective control load (below swashplate) Main rotor index Main rotor blade angle High-speed record indication and event Main rotor blade torsion at station 131 Nose vertical acceleration at station 75

# APPENDIX F. APE I.1 TEST DATA

This appendix includes the test data obtained during APE 1.1. Data obtained during APP 1.2, APP 1.3A, and APE 1.3B are presented in appendixes G, H and I, respectively. Various aircraft modifications were made during APE I. Details of these modifications can be found in appendix B. The aircraft in odifications and configuration pertinent to each APE phase will be stated at the beginning of each data appendix and not necessarily repeated on the data figures. The rotor configuration for APE I.1 was a 4-degree forward sweep and a 2-degree 20-minute droop. The longitudinal control system incorporated a velocity gradient and a man-suver gradient with a 6-lb/g design effectiveness. The lateral control system incorporated a roll desensitizer and was rigged at 60-percent Phase III design effectiveness. No other stability or control augmentation devices were incorporated in the cyclic control system. The tests were conducted at the following nominal conditions: 4000-foot density altitude, 100-percent (246-rpm) rotor speed, 18,300-pound gross weight, station 300 cg location (defined as mid during APE 1.1), and in the clean external configuration (no wing stores or store mounts). Trim airspeeds for each data point vary slightly from the presented airspeeds because of the difficulty and excessive time to obtain an exact trim speed (para 27). This variation is not considered to have significantly affected the data.

### INDEX

### Figure

こうちょう かんしょう いってい いいたい いちん いちょう いちょう しょう しょう シート・シート

#### **Figure Number**

Forward Flight Trim Characteristics	•	•								1	
Static Longitudinal Stability				•		•			2 thre	ough	5
Static Lateral-Directional Stability						•			6 thre	ough	9
Maneuvering Stability							-		10 thre	ough	14
Longitudinal Controllability				•	•	•			15 thre	ough	24
Lateral Controllability	•		•	•		•			25 thre	ough	38
Directional Controllability			•					•	39 thre	ough	48
Time Histories of Longitudinal Step Inputs						•			49 thre	ough	54
Time Histories of Lateral Step Inputs	*				•			•	55 thre	ough	65
Time Histories of Directional Step Inputs .									66 thre	ough	71
Time Histories of Collective Step Inputs			•						7	'2	
Time Histories of Longitudinal Pulse Inputs			•				•		73 thre	ough	75
Time Histories of Lateral Pulse Inputs						٠			76 thre	ough	80
Time Histories of Directional Pulse Inputs .									81 thre	ough	84
Time Histories of Takeoffs and Landings .	•			٠	•	•		•	85 thre	ough	87
Airspeed Calibrations		÷		•	•				88 a	nd 8	9
Vibration Characteristics	•								90 thre	ough	94
Control System Characteristics									95 thre	ough	99

-11

FIGURE I FLIGHT TRIM REQUIREMENT FORLARD AH-56A USA S/A 66-8834 ..... :383 -----------..... AVG AVG GROGS AVG CLG ROTOR SPEED LOCATION YMBOL WEITCHT CONF GURALICAL CONDITION - RPM миин 3780 -1**E**B .:·#i: 0 15 247 LEVEL FLIGHT 18,400 299:4 CLEAN

247 299.4 18,400 3780 CLEAN POWER DESCENT FLAGGED SYNBOLS DEWATE GEAR DOWN NOTE đ. ..... ----..... ..... 0 0 \_\_\_\_ -----1.17. 40 -----..... Hon-30 ---------

BLADELER NUI GREEN 20 Ø. 0 0 10 \_\_\_\_\_ ..... Ē 10 ¢ ¢ **ć** -ANGU ..... -#12 Ā Ţ 2 :44 5 --0 **9** d •• -..... . Q 0 -----

..... 1---0 =[... -----

20 27.1 STICK POS STICK POS -- IN FROM ,..... ------(der: ÷ -----**6 6 6** 3-1 **H** 6

LEAD FROM CENTER 8 . K -4 -----屈柱 E 100 120 10 ----1:0 CALUBRATED ATHSPEED A KNOT

528 2

# A.P.L. 1.1

	STATIC	LONG LEVA	C Z NAL SIAN	<b>T</b>		
	Al-	56/ USA	3711 D-00		DDAD	
GHOSS	0.6	AVG DENSITY	ROTOR	BLADE	BLADE	CONFIGURATION
WE I GHI	LOCATION	ALTIODE	SPEEU VRPM	VDEG	vGEG	
17,870	298.9	4900	246	7.8	10; <b>4</b> U	
		OL IO SYMBI	LS ULNOIL	1H+M		
		<b>X</b>				
		N.				
21 2 20 10						
				2		
				6		
		с <u>о</u>				
		6		<i>.</i>		
8 <b>2</b> 3						
		Ç				
		0 -0.				
		0				
		7364				
			70	•		
					<b>TX</b>	# <b>54%</b> 写-明世日出出!

.....

143

· · · Normal

States and

1....

-----

A.P.E. 1.1 :#1

.....

STATIC LONGITUDINAL STABILIT AK 56A USA SZN 66-8834 AVG AVG DENSITY ACTITUDE 3840 **A**¥G 121 ROTOR SPECO SRPM COLL PROP. BLADE ¢. 6. WIGHT BLADE LOCATIO ANGI 18,500 ANGLE CONFIGURATION DEG 299.6 249 CILEAN GEAR UP) 18.5 . ..... ÷ ..... ΞĒ

13

FIGURE

SOLID SYMBOLS DEMOLE -------RTIA ÷ ..... ā . . . N 10 111 Ó Ŧ 10 ..... \_\_\_\_

擅 VIE PROME VIE PROSTITION VELOPES FROM AL ..... **=**, **=**: ------4 -11 H . --1:-10 ----F1111 Ì Ø - F.5

filiti . ŀ -10-: # ij. ti:: -----÷. ō ± 9 ŧ t i i c 60 ∰ -----ř. 12 -Ŧ 

10 ΞŦ Ū. H 10 -1 ヨ田

**A** 1.3 NG(15 职罪 扫 -1 120 140 Ð

-----

FIGURE 4 STATIC LONGITUDINAL STABILIT ÷ HILL SEAL USA ISAN IG BERRY •\_\_ AVG C16, L09ATL0 C18 299.3 PPOP BLAD ANGL ADEG AVE AVE \*\*\*\* COCL .... - : : : : [: B.ADE ANGUS DEXISTEY ALTERUDE 2.67 GR055 RO OR SP D 铀 CONF Silvalering - 1 Ŧ 18,220 246 5 29.8 CLEAN 4030 **GEAR** E . -..... 1 # SOLID SYMBOLS DENOTE TRIP - . . . ..... ..... -10 PF ATTA-K **Ø**:+ • ÷ . **NOTO** ------------**DN** 10 **.** ΞĦ -----ļii 6 ▦ :::: E 9 0 0 6)...... ĦE, 'iL: 4 • <u>|</u> H: | -15 ·: :·· -.... 14 •: <u>-</u> 34 Struct Post I Jack ...... -----`:• --: i = 1111 1 ∎<sup>‡‡</sup> ••••• i in t ----E: ШЩ ₩ <u>5</u>.‡ 111 Ŧ 1 ---------.... 10. ÷ ----Шa ЩF. 핔 1 (A) 1.1.1.1.1 TTUDIYAT K-FUST TON BULS FROM . . 1,# ÷ 11 ...... 匣 11 <u>E51</u> **F**.] Ful ::.1 117-++ 120 160 ШË 

A.P.L. I.1

= FIGURE 5 STATIC LONGITUDINAL STABLLIT AH SCA USA IS/N \$6-8884 ------AVE AVE GROSS C C WELCHT TOOPTOO VER SIN AYC DLNS: TY ALTITIOL PROP BLAD ANGL COL BLAI ROTOR AttGL CONFIGURATION 21N 299.8 RPM DEG · vĐểể 1.1 18,620 CLEAN EUP) 31.10 246 5.0 33.8 GEAR 11-1-1-1 DENOTE TREA so to symbols of note . ••••• 111 177**:** • C ..... \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ 1 -11-CE POSITION CE POSITION CULL LIT 0-**0 0** 0 \*\*\*\* ---# i r LATERALI STICK FORCE SUBJONS 342 -----AL ILATERAL CINENESSIFICALS CENTER ALL IL ..... .... ..... -----0 ÷. -----LONGET UDI NAL-STICK FORCE FORCE PROF 3 調 1 + 1 ••• 1:1\* Ħ =111+ L. LONGETUDI IVAL LICK POSITI ION LICK POSITI ION LICK POSITI ION LICK POSITI -----o 1 H CALIBRITIC AIRSTRID ЦĒ. 146

Note of selection of the

1332

19. A. B.

A.P.E. I.I

HIGURE 6 DIRECTIONAL USA -4 LOLL PROP TRIM BLADE BLACE CALIS ANGL ANALE ALRSPEED CONFIGURATION AFG OFG INT 9.45 14 38 59 CLEAN: (GEAR DN) COLL BLADE ANGLE ADEC 9-45 AYS DFNSITY AL 1100 JET 3900 選 245 SOULD SYMPOLY DENOTE TRAN EF. **9 9** E Of TACK JEG 00 副出 1.4 ATTA . H. 0.00 c. - 0 2 r H . 中臣 **\*\*\*\***•••• -11 HH. H 0.0 ----------H **1** ÷ **H** H H . ..... 电 11 20 810 

Ű,

147

T'IN SE

<u>in</u>

Д

FIGURE 7 ΞĒ - -----Her DIRECTIONAL STABL LATERAE STATIC - [ - - - -JUSA 9/N 66-28 34 AH-B6A = .... Ξ. <u>μ</u> ŦRIM ROP EDL1 -1= AXC H AVI CAL 16 GREECHALION BLADE **BLADE** ROTOR DENSITY : I.: GROSS ATRSPE SPEED ANG E ANGLE ..... WHIGHT ~KT spec LDEG RPM EAN (GEAR UP) 99 76 118.5 4540 18,450 299:6

248 SM 10 SYNBOLS INFINITE TREM :::: -,1::: **.** ..... o ---------10 ATTACK ATTACK ADEG -0 i ji . 0 000 Q 27: ÷. ..... 1 -= 

**7**.10 2 -----Ŧ . . . . ٠., ..... ¢ = 0 = <u>=</u> = -----Ø? ..... 10 i. LUCNGITTHE INAL STICK POSSITEON VENCES TROM VENCES TROM -----Ģ. 1:-: ==== φ. :=---Ose -9 ----ii: <u>-</u>1---0

Ð ..... ..... ÷ .... -4 ..... 4 ÷Ē ÷ Щ. .... ----------Ð Ø 0 ЩĦ CHOIC. 

Щ. i.Ľ 111 111 111 e. .... H PEDAL POSITION TIES FROM **İ** θK 6 <u>:::</u>t ----**19** 20 10 10 20 -1 

s\*

STATE VOL

C.S. AL

<sup>148</sup> 

# A.P.E. I.1

1:1

ISURE 8 脚 S AD LLTY 5 ATLC ATTC Hil -11 111 THE REAL COLL A.V.s G.- G. FOTOR SPEED SPEED CONFIGURAT (IIIAR (IH) 41**B** ÉAH 4430 299.3 18.110 SOLED SYMEOLS DEMOTE TRIM ---------ц<del>Ш</del>. ..... Hili: -----<u>H</u> -----**H**HH 0-0 <del>Ø</del>O **9-10** -----10 1. o e 1 . .... :11 123 ·, [ -] En El 11. . Ë 1... HE -0.0 .-1-50 ..... STICK STICK :+1=1 ----iii. 177 **....** Ħ Ð -----**q** 4 144 E E 11 : 114 : iliti 20 61.6% 

H

Ħ

. .

A Ρ F ĩ EFGURE 9 HHHH STATIC LATERAL EIRECTIONAL TABLET AH-884 ..... AVS DENSITY CQ. AV6 C.C. KIT AND KIT AT THE REPORT OF COMPANY AND THE AT THE Allu ROTOR GRESS CINVE I GEIRATION ALTITUDE SIT WEIGH SPEED ATHSPERD LOCATION n,RPN 246 n EN SULIB-1 178 295.7 5140 18.390 CLEAN (GEAR LIP) :## ----SOUTC SYMBOLS DENOTE TRIM -Ξi \*\*\*\*\*\* 1p ATTACK 2 ...... Ø NI ------.... . 7777 ATTITUDE 10 H 出語 0 F.1.1 = -10 瞱 ..... -1:::-LONGITUGINAL STICK POSITUDIA VINCES FROM VINCES FROM ..... Ŧ ці I 5 -÷. Ŀ÷ - in нцін -3-\_\_\_\_ ΠĒ -----1 -----÷u‡ .... Ŧ 1 HI Щ HE IA τi riri a ⊞ . 3 日田 120-20 H 0 <del>I</del>D Piciti 1.13 

150

1



151

44.5

..... \_\_\_\_\_ n H -1 FEEDRE III 41 Ē -----ii Eii NANEUVERING STABIL 1TY AHHSEA USA Ξī, ..... S/N 66-68-74 1:44 :## ## AVA TRIM AV AVC EQLL: ----DENSITY GROSS VETIME ROTOR Specia ICRPN BLACE CALIB -C-C ----CONFIGURATI UCTATION CIN ANGLE **FYNBC** AIRSPEED 1.2 ngT 18.070 3280 \$6 24 : ' **|** = - ; [ 299.17 CLEAN (GEAR UP Ŧ ֯: -115 2 3380 -299.6 248 80 CLEAN (GEAR UP) 18, 20 ...... -----11111111 ..... -----..... O LEFT HID UP TURN 111111 :111: ------..... ------HE HEE ..... rotor flap pending 25000 Determined from hain POUNDS ..... 0000 N Z -----------..... -----112 5000 -..... Π 5 RAL FORCH NDS R t htt - **H** ------EH H -----÷. LATER V POCN -----.::**:::**:: -----EH: - 12 - 1 -----4 e pe 11. T. T NTERAU DK POSITION S FRON CENTE =1-**:** ···!:: Ξŧ -. **!**::: ----------..... ..... ----------STICK COLOR ΞĒ -1----2 Ħ -----15 DIGE TUDE VAL SITLOR FONCE NPOUNDS ..... :1:1 ΞĘ ----田田 ij. .⊞¶: **K** <u>\_\_\_\_</u> ----------<del>4i::</del> 1111 節罪 ERON COM ----11111 2 ie ie Ξ **A** CHES I 誦 **1**.... 罪 ++-ΞŦ 1.... 6 ĒīĒ 2.0 -H C. C. NORMAL ACCELIPATION 2. STR

152



F

- - -----

-

APE II

			7	-171										munun		12222								· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Ħ
::::		1.4	::.: <b>:</b>		1. I		1777			:	ŦĒ			FIGUR	EHE										-
			##				:# <u> </u>					M	ANHA	FRIN	5TA	BEL	I IV	###							
	÷									; <u>.</u>		АН	RA	EIS A	507M		1002.1					12 - 11 - 11 - 11			
		111-1																							-
	<u>.</u>			::::			irr		<u> </u>				4.700										FEEE.	-	-
			E			100			<b>=</b>		-										t HFH				3
+ ====						<u>.G</u> K	125	<b></b> .		- Gr	Ģ.		DEAS I	1.Y	KUIT	K		<b>i</b>	<b>- 44</b> 4	15					
		- 51	Ш	Û#		N.	16	HT .	=11	OCA	ΤI	M	ALT II	HDE -	SPEE	D	ANGL		AIRS	PEPD	CONF	TOUR	<b>TIO</b>		3
							EB		₩	- NT	TT -		vET		NPM		DEG	===	ъK						
						70		001		200	4		- 200	<b>n</b>	24.7					2	CI FAL	fre	12:11	<b>1</b>	
						110			=+	nnn	1										1. L A.K	-	10.11		-
						: 10	<u>19</u> 2	HV ::		620	ι <b>.</b> Ψ.			Maria Te	- <b>4</b> 4+t					P	24477	=1.HH	10. VI		-
					<u> </u>				<u>.</u>	- <b>Q</b> -	-11	EI.	WIND.	UPH	RN										
			HE									EGHT	WINE		LIRN.							=====	1		_
							117																		
				÷,	υų	<u> </u>																			
H.																									÷
				inn	inn	<u></u>										1	5		leters	nined	from	ma i	<b>n</b>		
H	1				22				퍀					1		4		÷	otor	flan	bend	inn			<u>.</u>
×.	12								ΞŦ																-
-				50	iñöl								1												-
là:	<b>—</b>				ΞĒ	E								2		1		<u> </u>					1		
2	3							::::l:	11																
				ΞI																					Ē
2				<u> </u>											=										-
																									-
			1																			<b>.</b>			
	Ě,	<u>7</u>																							=
$\mathbf{F}$	Ш÷	<b>7</b>		- 1										307 T	0										
HH.	2	2=							54							15		fire fire							
4		5															20-6							1	
			1																						-
	E		<u></u>					日井	≡Ì	iiiii:															
		<u>.</u>																							-
	黈		. L													1							1		
	Hi	<u>-</u>							<u> </u>									<u></u>							-
	111 111	2														-						::: <u>:</u> :::	1:2:1::		
	13.2	5					==	-	1				i d					<u> </u>							
膡	<b>N</b> . (	<b>K</b>			<u>171</u>				-				1	HØ E	2			1							Ξ
E	¥	+					-11						1	1.1-1-1	=		50				<u> </u>				1
3							••••									1	2:1	<b>*</b>							::
	in i	5				!:::::														1					
					Č				_																Ξ
F==		P			=													*****			1				=
-iF	÷	<b></b>							<u> </u>				E	<b>1</b>	<b> </b>										÷
N	Lig .				M													100					1		
		6			1											b i	Ŋ				1				Ξ
E	P									*****			1			1	- C - C	<u></u>							Ξ
臣	E							μH	H		Ŧ			9	6	<b>*</b>					1				Ξ
臣	6				Ħ		Ħ	Ħ	-					17				<b>1</b> ==							
		<b>1</b>		E			Ш													1					Ξ
1	pr		- á					E III										1							ΞĒ
H.	<u>HH</u>		F		fi						Ŧ						<u> </u>		<u> </u>						
	臣												<b>.</b>			1==									Ξ
h <del>in</del> ;	† H			E.			ШĪ,				₩Ē			*	E.										믬
E	×.										囯					1				1					
	Щi	5	ΞË	E							≣Ē							E		FEE					:
<b>F</b>					ΞШÌ		Шļ		=		<u>=</u> #				E			<u> </u> :							
臣	8	2							TH		Ħ							1.17							=
E	<u>E</u> ·l	F. T	· · · ·				曲			E I	Ш				6		40 Q								÷
in:	12:1	b;	hΞ		1	<b>1</b>	μĘ	tu III	Щ					P11			pri di li	<u>t</u> ==						444	ij
Ě	<u></u>	E	h	Ηġ					H							i Elle									
1.1	Ħ	<b>F</b>					E	Hill	***		=														
	<u>f</u> ff	EE	G	<u>i i i i</u>	<u>t ii</u>			臣王							<b> </b>	<u> </u>		1-		1		1			H
		E.			fiir		11				ŧΞ		1	in It.		-	<b>1</b>			n					H
H			H	ΕĤ		E	Ē	1			EĒ				File										Ē
1 44	<del>+++</del> #	*****	11144	****		++++	****	444 <u>77</u> 7	H++++	HHH	<del>11   [</del>	THE	****	17 F. E.	10577	TODA -	A 11 1 1 1 1 1	4 ÷-	*******	1	·····	1	******		

154

÷.,





FIGURE 18 ONCE LIDINAL CONTROL ----MIGLEUDENNAL CONTROL NES DISS Altagoa usa s/n ng-8834 = 瞔 AVG AVC C.C COLL . CALIB AIRSPEED -KI HOVIR BLADE 62055 RCIOR ..... Sile.D n.PM DCATEON 111 COME CONTACTOR WILL N S 299.8 247 18,600 11.7 HHH CIFAN (135-15 5 6) ПНЕ :------19 -------Ē \_\_\_\_\_ <u>-</u> 8. ..... **A** -0 ===== 긆 F,E ÷. 0 Ē ii ir. 3 :<u>-</u>:--1-1:11 1111 ------:1: -----: 1. <del>.</del> . MAXIMUM MAXIMUM PLTCH RATE INSECONDS ..... .11 ::<u>;</u>: 2 ₩ Q 00 0 -1-7 ÷ ----. t ∰ \_\_\_\_\_ 0 -1 --÷Π 212 # ----1/111-4 ₽E H ÷Đ ----2.5 <u>.</u>,, ÷ Q # ±# 1 # 20 ΗŪ 1111 ------1 i d HE. 訲 ЩĤ = **A#** Щ T Ę WG PUT 

157



45

			5/N £6-8834		
A.16					
SPOSS			otor alor	CALIB	
W <sup>2</sup>				KT	
12,510	299.8	4110	846 7.0		W GEAR 3:0}
				O	
5					
		\$	0 <u>0</u> 0	<b>D</b>	
6					
<b></b>					
				<b>_</b> 0	
			9-74		
		e e	-0		
					Art

159

72. 32 - 31

A.P.F. T.1

	LONGI	EUDINAL CONTROL	RESPONSE		
	AH.	56A USB 57N	56-8854		
AVG	AVC		46		
GROSS	C.C. DEN	STTY ROTOR	BLADE CAL	8	
MIGHT.	CCATION ALT	LTUDE SPEED	ANGLE AIRSI	EED CONFIGU	RATIEN.
			NDEG MK		
	49917 40	448		LUEAT 13	HAR UN
			<b>6</b> 0		
		960			
					·····
·····					
		60	<b>Q</b> .0		
		<b>X</b>			
lê <del>t</del>					
<b>\$</b> 20					
e 10					
ЦЩ,			ø		
		C.C			
S					
	4.44				
	MATCH			<u>A</u>	
	ECNGITED N	STICK DISPLA	EMENT IN THOMAS		

168

ri i Ш ₩Ħ **1** E THE CONT T ±## COND. -2 曲 **1** -94### 押申 8 ij -**6** titi i **H** ..... đ HH 🗄 111 **O** ·:--FROM F1 CT382 MATAN CT382 HE TS DENTYED F ¥II. 14 CALIBRATED ALASP 001 ΞŢ HT L ۱-19 <del>Q</del> ĴŦŦ4 - 1 -----::1. 34 j==---IV DNG 91562 91662 12 111  $\overline{\mathbb{H}}$ -----111.1 NH I ŧΨ Ħ 1.11 1.1 SUMMO (Part I 14.4Ē THE METORY METORY 15. 201 1.111 ;<u>;</u>, Ŗ ..... + ##### 5155 πЩ ŧЦ Ī 

151

HE HAT'S LARS
A.P.R. 1.1

İr.

-----

FIGURE 21 LONGITUDINAL CONTROL SENSITIVITY # # 1 AL-56A USA S/N 66-8334 ...... AVG GROSS C.G WELGHT LACATION 15,600 259.8 AVG DENSITY CONFIGURATION \*\*\*\*\* ROITOR CALIB ATRSPEED SKT ATG SPEED =,**(**,711] -----CLEAN (GEARIDN) 247 HOVER (162515 FT) 

...... ..... ---------

...... -----EEE ING TO WAY FLICH AUCELICRATION Inseconds Ø ------0--: <u>.</u> . . ----------..... 

-----IL ALGORILES ATTOON 20 

**...**•• ..... -10 \_\_\_\_ ¢ -10 Q 1

- 20 ....**.** in tri -------11

feig Ann <u>^</u>11 DISPLACEMENT & INCHES FROM TRIM LINE STOR

162

----

.

.

## A.P.E. 1.1

	E ALERTHINAS			
AVO	AVG		COLL	
GROSS	C.C. DENSITY	ROTOR	BLADE CALIS	
	OCATION ALTITUD	E SPEED	ANGLE AIRSPLED	CONFLORATION
	······································	······································	-DEC	
18,380	298.9 3350	247	6.3	GLEAN CREAK DND
<b>X</b>				
		0	QO O O	
ZZ 0				
20				
		<b>9</b>		
2 20				

163

and the second second second



south and



R SALE

~ ...

C

## A.P.E. I.1

÷.

			140												<u>-</u>
			10		<b>X</b>										
				-										8	
		- 2			6										
			- <b>1</b>	2	<b>.</b>			•				 			
<u> </u>														9	
				<b>X</b>											
					<u>n :                                   </u>										
					H-1-10		6								
-		O												-0	
		5	221	<b>K</b>						<u></u>					
			ECHC X		<u> </u>					•••••				<u></u>	
			553	<b>B</b>	C.		l Time								
		ğ											::. : <u>:</u> ::	0	
					i i di		1								
			2												6
O A														2	2
	<u>6</u>				6.95									<b>!:::</b> :.	
	<u>.</u>				- 0 D										
	¢.												·····		Č,
- 14					ē.⊨ B		<b>O</b>							8	i Citi i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
30					I									··· / ···	
<u>्य</u> म्	25	83		i i i										1.	ш
				2											M.
, c							<u> </u>				<u> </u>		1 <b>1</b>	8	
		ģ	15.1177												5
	2	10	a b g c	<u>.</u>							:	*** *** .	111. *** 11		
			Star												
							φ						· · · · · ·		
				2											·····
		10 E	20 M M	2											
	4	₿ <b>₩</b>	72-143-142											<u>.</u>	
														-	
						<b>\$</b> \$	<b>1</b>			9 <u></u>					
							SKI)		HON						
							/								
							- ruar	NU.J. 1							
				the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se	And the second sec			the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se		and the second sec			a second second diversion of the		the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second se

166

1

..... ..... FLAURE 26 LATERAL CONTROL RESEONSE AL-567 USA S/N 66-8834 . Hili AVG C.G. ANG . . ROTOR SPEED ARPM GROSS BLAUE CALIB: \*\*\* ..... :. NIRSPEED SKT CONFIGURATION OCA TIN HŦ ------247 11 8 HOVER <u>i fan</u> -----200 (GEAR DN) 4.41 (IGEVI5 FT) \_\_\_\_\_ ·ik:. Ŧ ------.... ti i i 23**4**10. <u>t==</u> -----E ---------¢ -----..... ..... ... NOLE AF • • 1 ..... O. l⊒ i ÷.,... •\_• -.:. ----.... <u>.</u>.... **†**.:= ЩШ. NAX ROLL CRIE ▦ ..... ..... :: ;;;;;: 1:17 o \_\_\_\_\_ 09 ...E 9 -..... H - - -E '1 - E .... Ŧ ..... -----..... <del>.1</del> ·· ; + WATE • · ---<u>.</u> 20 • • • **1**. ht Ē. ELER. Mark Roll -1-:::::·:: 0 C. ÷.; ÷ 曲连 -17 ...... Ċ. **H**. ΞĒ # ..... -1 1 ΞĒ = -----17.77 1.3 £FT 21441 -ACEMENT & ENCHES FROM THIM 

re star star

...

A.P.E. 1.1

				-										n.r.t mini	• •••	 
							FIGH	KE 27								
						CKAL		KUL R	t SPON	ISE						
						228	U.M.	:0/i):	b <b>Q+U</b> ≿	34		···:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::				
		AVG														
		GROS			DERICI		nn.									
		NETRI	I ACK	E FIN	ALTI				DLAL		LALI	3	<u> </u>			
									ANUL		urs.		CONF	TEURA	TION	<del></del>
		0 16							- UL G		7,61					
			r			E	/	17	8.2		- 62		<u>CLEA</u>	-{GEA	RIDN	
	-										<u></u>					
							=									
				f.												
	8															
PH	H															
				3								<b>-</b>				
14.54												· · · ·				
						0										
		-5														
	<b>Б</b> :::#															
1.22.4.2																
C i E																. <u>h:</u>
-																
王古	5														1.	
	<u>.</u>															
									n l							
		- <u>o</u> l														
		40														
	÷.															
ar											1	5				
											<i>,</i> <b>2</b>					
- 14		20						4			/					
	j			<b>=</b>						Ø						
- 21	-									Ź						. <u>1</u> 13 11
-5.																
	<b>i</b>	a la							or P							
		* 14														<u>Hi</u>
						3										
		- 36														
														3		
														R1417		
				TERN	STEL		L'ACT	MELE	14 IN	CHIN:	A lynder	Thru				
		an an an an an an an an an an an an an a				<u></u>	Here I HE		<u>1915</u>		<u>111 111 1</u> 11	1 HIT	1			

168

100

i i ng

2.

- -



the year and the

A.P.E. I.1

A.P.E. 1.1

EIGUAR 29 Au Hall Control Response USA ISAN DONBUSA Ξħ 4.4 AVG DENSIT ALTITUPE ALTI 4740 ANG C.S. LOCATION CIN AVG CALTB AIRSPEED ART Yag £0L1 GROSS NETGE ΕHP BLAD ANG TODEG ROEO SP VRPM CONFIGURATION ΠĦ 17.700 299.6 248 1.24 i i ------------ШЩ 1111 ..... .... AFT LOC AFTER SECOND Ð -----RULL M **,** - <del>0</del> - 1 **5** Đ÷ ..... H 2 iii ii ..... TIME TO MAX ROLL RATE -0 HH: • Ø Q • ( 1-- i E ...F ÷.:‡ ..... 5 ( <del>1</del> ΞĦ Ξļi Him 50 40 30 ..... .... ø 9 Ξq 1 M ROT EATE <u>\_\_\_\_</u> 御司 20 1 ШH 10 1: H H XW ΠH int ₹Щ; **O** E E E ŦĿ! 闡 禰措 Œ 11111 4 Щ. **A** .... F III. S IROM TREA <u>+</u> CLUBE ACT MENT

170

1

FIG02E 30 ..... ŢП. LATERAL CONTROL RESPONSE ALLER COAL SYN COLUMN 1..... ..... -----201.0 AVG C.G €0E AVG AVG ĒΕ ROTO) SPECO GROM CALT GROSS DENSI 74 BLADE IRSPEED NEIGH NEIGH ALTITUDE ANGUE CONFIGURATION 5840 ≈0E0 8,290 -299 248 5.3 165 REEAK 1.... ----------1.1 -----<u>.</u> 1.... ROUL ALTITUUE DOMANDE ANTIER DAVE BAR F SECUND ---------------1 -----=== 0 0.0 -----:<u>:</u>;; ..... 

ŧ

.

۰

р 5

----

.....

F.;.:

SEAR UP

: ;

-----

......

.....

.....

-----

\_\_\_\_\_

÷.

1 .

·: ....

•.:

.....

....

-----

<u>.</u>

-----

e he

Ir

1

A

2-1-1 -----..... ----EEE A LWE TO F SOLL RAITE SECONDS . ----1..... -----..... ..... Ø - C) : 8 --------------------------Ein 40 -----Ø -----9 . -----×16 30 -----⊞₽3 

20 10 ---------~ KATE: 0 E

WIN Ru. L H UDEC/SED ₽ -10 2 .... ΗĽ 20 - 20 X .... -----1111111 -讄 -----

11 HEE ------H 4 ----11111 :: 1 Ц ATONAL STICK UTOPEACONENT AND IN MANY

2.4

A.P.E. 1.1 FIGURE 31 ATERA CONTRO RESPONSE AIESSA USA SZN 68 8831 Щ ι, I ņ 11111 -----i III (III) (IIII) (III) Ηł ## COCI BLACE ANCI DOCC AVG G.G AVG GROSS ROTOB SACED JIRPM 248 **CALIB** ХТ КТ 7/9 CENTIQUENTION 0.4 ~1N 299. ÛN CLEAN COLAR UP ÷. 3570 ----ΗЩ 변화 -141 Ē ROLLATTICE CHARGE ATTER UNI-JANE SECOND 1-1-13 C.C. MOS u∰⊞] :: E HELLER MARKEN Ή. TIME LO **609 - 60** 9999 900 900 000 - -----7 ::::: ... -ip=: :1::: 目目白 :E.} T 抽曲 :1 ₩Ħ 111-11 山.王 - E E ΞĒ =l= <u> </u> 重旺 -1: 田庄 Ē ŧ Ħ ЩЩ ti.--:::: **FH** I TROP TRIN 파 Ę. ₩

172

5.00

Arres .

A.P.E. 1.1 ----Ŧ B 1111111 HOVERI IG-15 U-FL:AMU U-DESCONT ------:61 H CONDITIE <u>|</u>.... · · · · · -----00 08 ΉΞΕ POWERIN ..... THROUGH Πų POWERED DESCENT 004 ΗĒ 1.1 <u>'--</u> COME ( GURATTON Ē ÷ POLNES DERIVED FROM FIGURES 33 TANKS DENOTE GIAR DOWN SQLID SYNEOLS DENOTE PONERED D C. EMN C. EMN C. EMN -----Ť... 091 · . . . . . KY LIT EPAL CONTRON SENSILI I VIII V ANT-55A USA S/ N 66-883A :::: 444 ST010 === . 비는 -\_\_\_\_\_\_ -----Alhsee The second -HOLE TE TO -001 -1 -450 -450 -450 E.I. EBPATED 1 - 113 m isres D : 5: **N** 50146A25Y 

-

1,1 ŧ-Ţ. i<u>n</u>fini -0 ## = ----

tit tit .....E Ξl ----111111 Ci. ⊞ THE 甲出田 問題 2444 L.EE 11111 -..... 111 -**F** 

173



A.P.E. I.1



174

Star - Mars

1

1.1

34 FYCURE CONTRAL SENSI .......... JAN DE SELGA ILSIA I ŧШ rivic Denis IV ALTITUDE 121 COLL ANG 6.16. 11111 Ħ AVG CALIB ALKSPEED - KT 68055 CON BURATION 8,160 )CA ∿11: 298..8 ÓN 144 ΠHi CLEAN CLEAR DND 300 62 -1 min ii, p <del>. 1.</del> 田田山 ------11-ЩĦ ₩**F** 頭描 t11.1: 躢 • 非社 00 6**9** Q. :::: H 14 Hit. Redit 6 89 Ш 1 講 TEH! 60 備開展 41) 23 ֠†† ø +++++ -20 Щ 9 **T** Ħ ï₩ 却世 ΗĤ 2 FRIM TRIM



-\*, -

A.P.E. I.1

E

FIGURE 25 LATERAL CONTROL SERVICITY AU-56A CSA S7N 66-8834 **1** 1.171 AVG ROSS WEIGH AUB TZ 700 TVIS OCATION ALTIVOC 299.55 4740 AVC C C COLLE : ::::: HH H CAL 18 A1959EED 1-XT 1-49 ROTOR SPEEC BLADE ANGLE DEC CONFERENTION 248 CLEAN (GEAR UP) 5,

11:

£

ŧ

- .

嶃

241

..... PIL: 

33 : :: 11111 -----··: -11-1-Ē i. 

o Wek Kork LEAN ON SECONDS ΞĒ 11:12 <u>\_\_\_</u> **----**壨 3 0.0 0 100 :.t: .

-----6

Ħ

**17.49** NI CHI 

EKUM TRIM

....

A.P.E 1.1

	A	LISUR LINAL CONTRO I-SCA USA	37 SENSITIVITY 7N 66-8832		
AV5 GROSS VETOHT SIB 18,290	ANG C.S. DI DCATION AI NIN 299.7	ANG INSITY RO TITUDE SPE ATT BR 5840 24	OR BLACE ED ANGLE N SOEG 8 5.1	CALIB AIRSPEED 4KT 165	CONFIGURATION
ACCERTIO MA ACCERTIONA ACCENTIONA ACCERTIONA ACCENTIONA		9 <del>0</del> 2	G		
50 60 5			9	1	
20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 2					
20 2 - 20 2 - 20 2 - 20 2 - 20 2 - 20					
<b>≚</b> +60 +60		p			
<b>1</b> ,100		2			

178

52 - Ch.

×...(



A.P.E. 1.1



175

San - salat

÷ 4 3

A.P.E. 1.1 ΞĒ Ŧ Hin: 0 11111 -----H.ind CONDITI'N HIDVER (1) VEVEL ET SER HE: -----000 111-1 ..... Q. ..... 3-41 ----Ę ..... Č, <u>o</u> GURATI ľ 3 ..... ..... ------1. ::::::::: st: 14. 1 8 -Line Line -14.41 HOB intr HEELE-DNSI STOR5 L RESPU ------0 UERIVEO FR DENDTE GENT M. RATE NOT THI :## ECTIONAL 29 ECTIONAL CONTROL A USA S/N 66-8 A USA S/N 66-8 A USA S/N 66-8 A USA S/N 66-8 -----ATRSPEED +00 PDTRTS FALSE MAXEMIN 65 CAL IBRATED ------cu: SUGWARY DIREC AVG. AVG. LOCATION LOCATION 299-9-16 299-9-13 80 ::: ---------.... -----Ø - Ch τ**ο** ..... -----..... ---q 5.... C1 ÷ 0 •:. =.... Ē Ŧ •### i filiti 5.5 111 4.17 :17

188

S Shares

Sec. 1

----

\*

5.963-5



ŧ

**T D** 

T

40

-----

**H** 

e e 20 

8 0 4. 

+--1 Ē Ē 17 -----

-

-----

\_\_\_\_\_

E

-----= 

181

42 54

States ?

A.P.E. 1.1

						IREC	TLON		5 41 7 01	RESP	ONSE				
						A.		USA	871) 1		834				
		BRC 1	5 6	A C	6. -	DF	ISI I		OTOR		LADE	C.		AN HI	1 Å.4
			B						RPM		DEG		KT		
				<b>.</b>			acu IIII		CHC				9 <u>2</u> 	1.711.1	- cun 7 -
	HU L	20													
30		10													
		0				¥Α	# A11	i tudi	UNR	1 1 4 8	£.£.				
AW A		-10													
2-94		× 20													·····
NAX H	2	20													
E TO		¢						Q		<del>.</del>	2			*	
M11	3														
	2	40													
		20													
		20													
		10									<b>)</b>				
		¢								<b>. 6</b> 9					
	2	-10						o							
	1	- 40													
														R T	
								SP A	<b>F</b>		NCTIC	FRO			

182 

500

Sector Street

.....

12.2

.

۰.

A.P.E. I.: ्म HE .

RIQU

Ħ

12.14

FRO

EIGURE 12 DIRECTIONAL CONTROL R. SPONS AL 564 USA S/A 66 8252 1 ЖV DINST Y A PILIDE G nn i RO OR SPIE 뤸 LATE ÷ LOCATION MIN 猫伊语 CONFEGERATION 506 VRPM 4020 290.7 7.0 TOLAR (P) CLEAN HIE 

Ħ

出出

RT011 田 20 , . . . ----

UNRELIABLE ÷#:

YIWE LO WAN YAW XATE YAW XATE -F **0** 0 800 φ ŧ 4 ----------H. ------40. Ŧ 

ΞΞ 1 ₽ 20 

WAXIMAN URA BATEI ÷ Ø ¢ Ħ -1 111 

蟗 H 11.1 刵 爭 40 i li i μŢ ij

183

REDAL OTSPLACEMENT

See Sugar





A.P.E. I.1

HH:

24-2-

Ħ Hit **亚出出** ttaa diri: 111111 -----\*\*\*\*\*\*\* 11111 111 Π īŦī n, 11111 4 i 1 Щ. II. . m 445 EFF Hit HIII 001 HH 1.1... -114 -----¢ λĘ: 144 - **1** ::::: X <u>e</u>jeř E fRSPEED oj Pr Ŧ 2 고관 HH. :: <del>U</del> ЩE BRATED -Hi-T Ξij<u>Ξ</u> ..... SUTING OF READ .월표 · 🗘 CALE 말감구 -: ΞĒ 8 To: ₩IJ φ 11 圓瑾 ----AVG GROSS AVE NCIGNI NCIGNI NCIS HE ₩ \_ -뒅 ШЩ 1111 tii ф. 114. 11111 10.1 ₽<sup>∰</sup> 臣 11-1 **FL**H ĦÆ Ħ ÷ ΞĦ ####L 

APRILITY AS IN XOLLS LOND 55/010/5170-000 ALLAL ISN'S TOLINO TWOLODING

Sar y Filler

ŧ

Ш

 $\mathbf{x}_{\mathbf{y}}$ 



A.P.E. I.1 TIGURE 46 DISCILONAL CONTROL NSITIN ALEAN USA SIN 66 RB34 AVE AVE GROSS GROSS GROSS G.G. DENSITY RENSITY SCALE STN SCALE STN 18,240 298,7 4320 ROTOR BLACE SPEED ANGLE : :::::: - 1.-CALTE AIRSPEED COM -11 <u>хрр</u>и 248 HADEG HA-KIT 8.3 62 CUEAN: (SUAR DAL) ist:<sup>F.</sup> 111 頃目 Hil 1 tt tr 34-1 11:11 :Hitu ų.Ę :::E <u> - 1</u> <u>.</u> ..... 雷 用出 -11-.... Ξų. Q ------11-------14 17 - 111 F## .曲 捕用 14 İΗ 13 4 **6** ŦĦ e 璽 Щ.

H <u>------</u> 푝 HIE 

Hi 日山 ΗE e dal cise acoment e taches from trim iii: RIQU 世出日

167

\*‡-

A.P.E. I.1 FIGURE 47 DIRECTEDNAL CONTROL SCASETERS AH-56A USA - 5/N 66-8834 A¥r CENELOURATION AYG AVG GOLL BLADE 1 C C OCAT ∕IN 299.7 01NS1TY ALTI UU 141 4020 CAL B FIRSPEED KT GROSS N (G) ( 18,190 ANGLE ON CLEAN (GEAR UP 7.0 i tõ -----<u></u> -15 Ξ÷ it in the second -----**F F** T-177 **The** ::: ----...... Ē \*\*\*\*\* :-**!**: TELEVICE FORMET OW ŦĘ 2 HH. 212 **8**00 •••• - |r. 0 0 ..... ...... ł = Ð ij Ŧ -----..... . :::1::: ÷, <u> -</u> \_\_\_\_\_ 4 1 A CORFERNATION BUNSEC BUNSEC Ē 17111 2.12 60 ø - - - - - -ЩĒ. 4**0** 11 ------¢ i <u>-</u> 20 TARKING AND A 3 E. 표 ÷E 0 -TI 20 ÷ **H** 40 -ШĮ 60 <u> in fi</u> 117 F Ŧ -Ħ RIGHT T PEDAL DISPLACEMENT & INCHES PROM **IRIM** 

188

and the second second

## A.P.E. I.1

FIGURE AS DIRECTIONAL CONTON SEAS- 11Y11Y E .:' ----÷ ·...!::::: ATT-557 USA 15/11/6E-8304 -----1111-1in in the ANG AVG Avia .... : CALID BOTOR BLADE GROSS WEIGHT KLB DENESTIY 1-CONFIGURATION ANCLE ATRSPEED ALTITUDE UT SPEED adeg 5. j NICT III 16.29 5,90 248 150 CECAN (GEAR UP) 259.5 111, m. I 18:010 HI. 1: -----.... PHEN -----.... : :E-in +---11: hini: ..... <u>....</u> -11:12 ..... .... -÷ H 1.7 ъ Ч С 5 EH. Щ HETZI ir. -----0 17 -1--Q 0.0 ..... 2411 Ē :::.. -11 - # ...i:::: ----<u>.</u> t. -···· **E** H:: Ξŧ. **H** ..... Ŷ -----------H HH 2 : .--<u>iiii</u> :::::: ------#64 -----= Ŧ 副段 Ħ 0 ------------...... 1.1 : 20 Q H 5 -÷+-÷ 1:1: i.Ini 1 -1411 4112 = ..... 121-2 111 .... 13 -I⊞-1 RIGHT 出出 **THE** FIAL DISP A THEN THICKES . TROM TRIM E - in the internation

185

r in der

1.



~ ...



A.P.E. I.1



191

athe state

5.00

ЧĘ.



A.P.E. I.I

192

The states

A P.E I.I



193

1997

- Warner - Andrew - Andre - State - St



ور محر

A.P.E. I.I

.....



195

The second states



r sy lise



ولو م

25.00

1. 61.44


1 - A 22

1.1

- <u>-</u>

24 - M

24.48

1.1.1

1.5 6.1.27

A CENTRE OF CANADADA SAN

Ļ

A.P.E. 1.1



.

đ





ولنه ال



.

.....

×,



The second second



1 martin

. ۲.

\$



· Aster

3

1

. · · \*



10

1

.

•

. vy J. vez. . . 20 "Africand



X,

206

- 1×4-7-

é

.....



بغير

.

۲

.=

and the second states



÷.,

A.P.E. I.1



.....

**,**~~~

£

Å.P.E. 1



ŧ

210

1 3

12

-

a



ş

Strange States



Sec. 8 Sec.

 $r \in$ 

2 5

21.00





5 64

vi

PAR NAM



() - <sup>2</sup> 19

Ś

CAND



2 24

. .

.

,74 · M

4 P.E 1.1

Ĩ



A.P.E. I.1

24.48



216



20.2

5 M. A.

1

.

÷.

.....

ś

4

5

ŗ

в,



2-24

۵.۹.٤. ۱.۱

A.<sup>n</sup> E. L i



219

----

1

t

۲



ALL STREET

A P E I I

A.P.E. J 1 10 1 FITCH S C.G. ACCEL -ROLL -YAM S SIDESLIP ¢ TLEAN ( GEAR UP ) CONFIGJRATION YAW ATTITUDE CVRELIASLE ع PROP BLADE ANGLE 2065 32 6 F F SURE &^ R <u>E GHT LATE AL PI LSE</u> AH-56A USA S/31 66-8834 COLL BLADE ANGLE VDEG 5.1 CALIB AIRSPLED `×KT 179 R010R SPEED VRPM 247 DENSITY ALTITUDE FT 3340 C.G. LOCATION VIN 259.7 GR0SS WE IGHT `LB 18,410 11 רני' Anole of Slocal P 5 \$ \$ ..... Т P Ŷ -20ŕ ř гı 18 81 19 12 רנד בנד דאסא דערר בנד דאסא דערר WAY WAY נו<sup>,</sup> ק ۲ ۲ ر 3.1 ς.θ., δ.θ., δ.θ., δ.θ., 0.5 J Ľ ſ 11 0 S ς. Ŷ 7 18 ູ່ມ 18 LATERAL IN FROM CENTER าางช าาดช ۹0 10 ۲<u>01-80</u> 2 -<u>5</u>-20 P 7 Ē 2 -S-÷ ú. ONJ d۵ NO 134 ATTITUDES ~ DEG PITCH PITCH ים אות האמא כבעדבא בסאפודטסואאנ PITCH ~ DEG/SEC **Kylez** 

SE CONDS

I IME

.....

¢

t

221

CONTROL FOSTITOMS



А.Р Е

A.P.L. | ]

ł

ŝ



1.00

,\*\* +\* j

1.:..1.q.c





1.5

ç



The second second

2.10



<u>م</u>. بر

ţ

· 20

C. Martin



6<u>5</u>

228

r^3);

р. н. С

li in in i IGURE 88 AIRSPEED CALLERATION (BOOM SYSTEM 出物 AL-SGA MCER USA SIN CO-PERC ATTCRAFT NETHOU AVC AVG AVC ..... -----GROSS POTOR . . . . WEIGHT. CONFESTRATION ALTITUDE SPEED ]]**:**]}: ₩.B - PM 247 18 350 3300 GEAR UP ) ¢lyn ( LEI. i fiir i de la compañía de ..... 1111 ..... ..... 0 R. PA ..... 8 Ô -----------11-..... -----11 TUST 6 NOTE: O PHOTO PANEL LEVEL FLIGHT -----.... -----A AFT OOCKRIT LEVEL TETOHY Ħļ., <u> <u>a</u>nn</u> 200 TAILS DENOTE POWERED DESCENT -----------\_\_\_\_\_**T** <u>ع</u> ΞĒ \*\*\* \_\_\_\_\_A E. 4 180 4.4 ':.**!**-A A **11** ----...... ----177 ...... ... ...... -ie= ( .. ::. ø 111-:..**!**: Hit - **1**. 715-1 s karsti ja kuss Vikatis Baratis E. 47 A ÷ HHH . . . . . . . ø :::: ..... ---------------311 :::::::::: 11: 120 .... ------,..... 11:1. <u>-</u> 1 100 <u>=</u>==: Ħ -1 1 **8**2 **THE** 11 80 100 120 lr:::!i 12 200 0 180 tiii E ## ;:: TNDISALED AIRSPLED - KNOTS (COPRICIED HOR INSTRUMENT ORROR

229

.....

89 FIGURE ERATION (SHEP SYSTEM ΤĘι AIRSPEED CAL AL-56A USA -57N CC-3834 RECER ALREAD PETHOD 111 副間 AVG 4 huh!! AVC C C HEE. AUTETIDE ROTOR CONFIGURATION SPEED LOCATION NR9M H 11:: CLEAN (SEAR UP) 247.5 299.0 3870 18,360 82 JRECK NOT HT. 追望 PDS. TICH EN r Line of the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second s 10 ....iri NOCE: 3 Y LEVEL ELISIO ALL'S DEVOIL POWER D DESCR 200 li fi <u>E</u> 2 ÷... i ir -----EF.: 荢 1 : HE -----In the RM TCD ATROPATO ΞF :#7 詽 ------1 Ó 圓 臝 34 1 Hill: ÷:: u. Щ 进进 : <u> 日田</u>田 **H** 山田王 20 **149 16**0 <u>₩</u> T 臣 190 200 180 -1111 CHOICATED ALESPEED N SHOTS 臣 TRUMENT

230

1

2 - FA-

• • •

4

ŧ

A.P.E. 1.

FIGURE 1171 VIDEATION CHAPACIERTS LICS ΨĒ :::::: APG GROSS APG =i]; 133 ::::: FEIGHT DENSITY RUIDA Ξ. domp1710N+ OCATION ALTITUDE SHEED CONFIGUR FITAN ATIÛ STABLE ...... 中間 EVEL EVEL FLECHT 38,240 : <u>:</u> : : 299-0 299-5 4690 Q CLEAN CI FAN CLEAN EVEL FLISHT 247 4720 H 299 8 3929 247 18,480 MAXEMUM LIMIT MIL \_\_\_\_\_\_\$ -----H 8501A ABOVE **T** MAKIMUM LIMIT MIL H SECTA BELON 5: 4:57 CPUIS5 10 DEG DEG ..... ŧĒ · · · · · **...**, 11-1 - ------3 1.11 11:1 NOTE FLAGGERI SYMBOLS DENDTE GEAR DOWN .11 323 ₹**Z** SOLID SYMECUS DENOTE POWER DIDESLEN 11 F¥ 0.6 1:00 0 0 -----A BU :::ir 6 đ : : ĦE -1, No. :.] F f 🔛 E 1. ..... i::. ..... -----. .... .... BRATORY 4/REV = 0.18 4 d Ø ...... 71 1..... 5 !--------÷:†:\* T. EIEH 44 -11--<u>.</u> <u>-</u>+-₫∰; - H 0,1 :: Ū 0 ₩₽ all cy - H -----1277 74 He **1**, **1**, **7** 4. 1 T.H .... = 1 11 Hill 6 26 E **.** 18 i lia îr :::; 80 1 100 1 1 100 16 A lerated atespeed a knars

S. Car

A.P.E. I.1

FIGURE 91 ÷t. VIBRATION CHARACTERISTIC AN-50A USA SVA 60-9824 丰 ..... :1:: = 5 E.J FORWARD STAT (STA 124) LATERAL ------11: 1 AYG AVG AVG FLIGHT DENSI TY ROTOR -----123 GROSS CONSTICUT SPLED CONFIGURATION **OUNTION** ALL TUP: WEEDH SYMODL -**F P P**M - XIN ITVEL FLITCHT -33 CHEAN 4590 24-299 h 18,440 10 EVEL FUIGHT ELEAN 247 4720 18,320 299.5 o I TYEL FUTGET 247 SHEAN 299 8 3920 1.8,480 Δ 1111 781.2F (+ .1:± CRUISE H STOTA ABOVE MAXIMUM LIMIT MEL -----MAXIMUM LINUT MILL H SECTA BITCH CRIESE ..... 

-----DEDE **K**el 5 . In the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second -12 ..... F.DL F FLAGGED SYMBOLS DENOTE GEAR DOWN NOTES 0 sol 19 symbols denote powered discen .1 ... **2 0 3** ::: - **E** 

C UE: . 瞫 ...... **. r**. ŦŢ n in r <u>-</u> **2**100 € 11 ::: 12 ..... ..... ...... :::::: Δ : ..... 11 0.20 ------Ξď ...... **K** 11 VIERATORY ---------2 == ..... ---------=÷

> ------=1.= -0 -----..... ui li I <u>- 1</u> = THGU 27.8 2 1:12 é 6 Ĥ <u>t i F</u> in 

03 чх Ц 亜 ÷ .TĒ W E-FE E E IT: Π. Ξ Тť 180 120 140 100 80 

232

S.,

Sale - sale

.....

::**!**-. 

......

----

...

...... FIGURE 22 VIBRATION CHARACTERISTICS AR-SEA DSA 37N 63 8880 AFT SEAT (STA 1/0) VERTICAL 1-1711 1...H ROTOR AYG C.G, A/6 AVG . . . . . . ROTOR GROSS DEUSTIX ..... FLITZET SVINDL WEIGHT CONDITION OCATION ATTITUTE CONFIGURATION 

**HPM** 261 4690 245 299 - 18,440 - 18,320 Ø CLEAN 18.320 127 299 5 LEVEL FLEGHT CIEAN 4720 **F** 3920 247 ------LEVEL FLICKY 209.8 CLEAN MAXIMUM LIMIT MIL H 8501A ABOVE CRUISE -----·..; MAXIMIN I HIT MIL H 8501A BELOW ORUFSE

------÷Ŧ ..... ..... -----..... 

NGTE: FLAGGED SYMBOLS ULINUIE SIGNI DUMA SOLIU SYMBOLS DENOTE POWERED DESCENT Ł 0.6 00 0.4 ( E 0 ΞĒ 0 2 6 615 0.7 0 1

erie -e.ba. ...... 8 -----Ē -11 đ đ = C AL d i 11

-----2 0.3 0.3 u i <u>5107</u> l·t:

EV F S -----0.1 ...... ----¢. 8 101115 -----E. 1-01 ..... 0.3. = (i: ......

0 Z 4 u: 0.1 E. --6 40 60 80 100 70 140 160 789 CALLIS ATEL ATRS PLET - CNOTS Filt

H-1:1-1
APE I.1

H:

Ē,

臣

HH.

----

FLOURE DS Æ VIERATION CHARACTERIS 15A 5/N 65-05-9 AH-56A AFI SEA (SIA 70) LAURAL ANG DENSI Y AVO Sx0x AVG 114 RO OP SPEED GRUSE SYMBOL OCATION. COMPLEURATIO **N**IN 18,440 18,320 15,430 299.10 CEFAN **₽**¥El 1101 246 4590 LEVEL TE IGHT 4720 3920 247 ELEAN 299 5 EVEL FL. Q.IT 247 A 117 299 8 MAXIMUM LINI HI MAXIMUM LINI MI N 9501A ABAYYE (BUTS) H 9501A BELON CRUTSE ÷ 백분명 E BREE - DUG E ΞĒ H EE. NOTE: FLAGED SYMBOLS DEPOTE DEAR DONN SOLID SYMBOLS DENOTE POWERED DESCENT 12 H 0.3 - 44 σœ

A 18

01 8 6 6 D **J**., 1 26 0 E E - 0 Ċ đ A REALTEON W # ÷‡ .... Ē = 02 -11--111 Ed E

ubel v teruktroext Accelus Hazi (14) Neew = 14,72 Second (14) Neew = 14,72 Second (14) (14) (14) C П<u>Ш</u>Ш đ Ø ١. Ø 9 7 H ÷, ₫ Ŧ ###

出语

**H** Ŧщ iity 

120 50 10 180 詽 

Sec.



FIGURE 94 HIT VIERATION CHARACTERESTIC :# ALLISBA DSAL SVALGOISSCAL 1.11.11 GENTER OF GRAVIEY (STA 310) VERTICAL AVG AVG AVG GROSS CG. DENSITY FLEGHT ROTOR \*\*\*\* 1 WEIGHT STABOL LOCATION BLIFFUDE SPLE CONDITIC CONFIGURATION 4LB 46 PM ..... AXN. 299 h 18 140 26590 EVEL FLIGHT 77 LEAN -----e 212 212 202 4720 18,320 299.5 ..... CI.TAN EVEL FUIGHT -----18,480 299:18 CLEAN :::::: CREW STATICH MAXIMUM LIMIT MIL H 8501A AGOVE CRUISE Ē STATION MAXIMUM LIMIT MIL H SHOTA BELOW FRUSH CREN 10 9 10 10 TINCE UDED FOR REPERSIVE ----..... ---

щH. NOIL FLADOED SYMBOAS DENOTE GEAR DOWN SOLID SYMBOLS DENDIE POWERED DESCENT P 0.6 - 60 s**j 0.**4 G 1 Ð. 4 6 11 <u> ----</u> E.F. 1.9HZ

SI A H. if: ----हार्वि <u>ال</u> NO. -11-4: EHE 33 12. -----Q. 1 · • • • • • . Iltr -1-

Ð 0 ШQ 4 9 큠

in lif <u>su</u> 0 C Ð 7777 Ħ <del>, 11</del> 0.3 er V.2 201

招

d.

÷Ħ 7 Ē 0 120 60 16.1 140 -1\$1 

4

-



A.P.E. I.1

96 ĒĿ FIGURE LONDI WINAL STICK FOR ----AII - 16 A - 15 6 S/N 66 889 ...... ΗË FORCES MEASURED AT CENTER OF GRIP ÷ .... ROTORS STATIONARY NUMBER TWO HYORADILIS SYSTEM OPERATING 274: YURGULIC AND LIFETRICAL **F**E: POLER PROVIDED BY ----------扫击 GROUND POWER UNLIS COLLECTIVE POSITION = 2.7~ F...) --1-1 LATERAL CYCLIC POSITION - 1. FUL TRAVEL = LT.I. LN \*\*\*\*\*\*\*\* \*\*\*\* -----::::Ę =1 :::: ΞĒ ÷EEE ₩. -.... -----Hini -25 na Umbo -20 5 15 31 Ξ<u>π</u> FIRE -----511120 ##<u></u> ..... ----3 ..... P ð. ∎≣ :04 I 1,31-17 STICK FRAMIN ON -10 STICK CENTERING ~ OFF ±±. ALESPEED q SENSOR -11-PRESSURIZED TO fait -20 ttrit 1117 ::: H 1<u>1</u>1 · | | | | | | POSITION Hill

A.P.E. I.1

FIGURE 97 ..... TATERAL STICK FORCES AL-SCA USA 57N 46 8804 PORCES MEASURED AT CENTER Sec.P NUMBER INC HYDRAULIC THE. BYSTEN DETRATING HYDRAW IC AND DECTRICAL POWER PROVIDED BY GROUND POWER UNLTS e COLLECTIVE PDS IT ION = 2.7 HHE: LUNDE LUUINAL GYCELC POST LUN F () e TULL TRAVEL = 5.4 IN 2 *-* **1** 0 ------÷

STICK TRUM & ON SLICK CENICATING & CON ALRESTITO & SENSOR 7 OT

: 1E ------E.F. -20 air is 20 壨 ΞĒ ::=: Ξŧ 10 

<del>a</del>r -0 B --**∦**,≣ Ø HHI ill (Ot 1011 17 ----STER REMADE STER CENTERING OF ATRSTED A SENSOR 1 O - 10

# **Å** Ŧ -4 ŧŧ \*\*\* =BEF **HEALE** HIF UIFI RIGHT I ATTRAL STUK POSTERN - INCLUS 

-

State of Charles

A.P.E. I.1

FISURE 98 PEOAL TOSSES 80-56A USB S/N 00-9834 TTT-山臣 FORCE GRADIENT MEASURIE FROM THE TRIM WILL POSITION ROTORS STATIONARY 1111 NUMBER NO HYDRAULIC SYSTEM OPERATING HYDRAULIC AND ELECTRICAL POWER ROVIDED BY CROWN POWER UNITS FULL RAVEL - 4,5 IN 범크 ----Hitti **BIGHT** 50 N X X 18 1.... 1 1 1 1 1 1 -----SUM ------..... 0 A v 01 -STICK TRIN VON STICK CENTERING VOPE 2 Li kokci ΞĒ G AISPEED & SERSOR A -----¢ Ŧ 91 HTHE 3-1 TEDAL POSTON - INCLUS 

239

---

**24.4** 



240

# APPENDIX G. APE I.2 TEST DATA

This appendix includes the test data obtained during APE 1.2. No rotor or control system changes were made from the APE I.1 configurations. The tests were conducted at the following nominal conditons: 4000-foot density altitude, 100-percent rotor speed, 18,300-pound gross weight, station 300 cg location (defined as mid during APE I.2) and in the external stores configuration – two ballasted XM159 rocket pods on the outboard stations and two empty TOW pods on the inboard stations. One significant limit applied to APE I.2 testing was a maximum collective angle of 12 degrees, which precluded hovering.

٢

# INDEX

# FigureFigure NumberStatic Longitudinal Stability1Static Lateral-Directional Stability2 and 3Maneuvering Stability4

74.48

A.P.E. I.2



242

A.P.E. 1.2

-

### FIGURE 2 STATIC LATERAL-DIRECTIONAL STABILITY AN-56A USA S/N 6C-8834



\*\* •\*

٩,

A.P.E. 1 2

### FIGURE 3 STATIC LATERAL-DIRECTIONAL STAGILITY AH-56A USA S/N 66-8834



244

Star

,74 Ma

FIGURE 4 -11: MANE AVER NO STABLE Y MISSA USA STALLE BASE ::1: ŧ AVG C.C. NATION RIM COLL -AHO - A¥4 .... .## ROTOR BLADE SPITO ANGLE CALIE GR035 DUNGITY ATHSPECIL CONFIGURATION AUTITURE HE TOH I AB 1N 300.3(MID MEG Ħ - WAL :::: 9.2 1.2 9.0 748 EXT STORES GEAR UP -**1**50 i i fili 18,110 3770 ÷ 17,930, 806,8(410) 18,700, 999,4(110) 15,640, 999,6(140) TXT STORES GAR UP 3540 248 150 17,930 **H D** 154 GLEAN GEAR UP 247 3880 \*\*\* ILEAN CEAR UP 241 56 4200 ..... 20000 ġł" Determined from main 5000 rotor flap bending in in iteration -----0000 O LEFT HEND UP TURN 5000 D RIGHL NIND UP TURN 10 No SOUNDS U K . 10 3 11 €**r**•€ **1**91 -5 GST TINK Πđ ..... -₿**Ŭ** --ATERAL CK PC 1 ..... 0.2 Æ <u>u</u> -----2-..... : ..... diq. -3 -----**\_**\_\_\_\_ DAVALTIUUTINAL ST.COMFORCE ST.COMFORCE ST.COMPUS 10 i se t 5 23 ------= Ð -1444 Ð. ÷ 11 **H**. (;;; 1 물 хñ ++ 

¢

245

E

ACCHURATION

ME LOS PLANT

-File

0.5

Ξ÷

11.5

-

Ŋ

11:

# APPENDIX H. APE I.3A TEST DATA

This appendix contains test data obtained during APE 1.3A. Prior to APE 1.3A, the main 10tor droop was increased to 3 degrees and 10 minutes. A pitch desensitizer and pitch/roll decoupler were added to the longitudinal control system. Also, the maneuver gradient design effectiveness was changed from 6 to 9 lb/g. The roll desensitizer was removed, and the roll compensator was added to the lateral control system. Additionally, the right wing and horizontal stabilizer incidence were changed, and detuning weights were removed from the left horizontal stabilizer. All stability and control augmentation devices except for the lift/roll decoupler were activated for these tests. Tests were conducted at the following nominal conditions: 5000-foot density altitude, 100-percent roter speed, 18,300- to 20,500-pound gross weight, station 300 cg location (defined as aft for APE 1.3), and in both the clean and external stores configuration. The gross weight, center-of-gravity location, and density altitude stated on the static longitudinal stability, static lateral-directional stability, maneuvering stability, and controllability figures are average values for the data presented.

## INDEX

### Figure

### Figure Number

Static Longitudinal Stability					1 through 6
Time History of Release to Trim					7
Static I ateral-Directional Stability					8 through 12
Maneuvering Stability		• •			13 through 19
Time Histories of Blade Moment Stall .					20 and 21
Time Histories of Acceleration through Tr	ansitic	on.			22 through 24
Vibration					25 through 32



INNECL 

**G**EEE

0/1

-ui

N JUE ATTACK URCES

16

Θ

т.п Т.:

GROSS

WEIGHT

20,180

20

- 212

10

.....

FIGURE 2 STATIC LONG TUDINAL

UINAL STABLLIT S/N 66-8834 AH-SCA USA PROP rdil ROTOR DENSETY ANGLE CONFIGURATION ALTITURE **SPEED** ANGLE ARPM ADEG nPFA 13.7 9

Ð

NN \_\_\_\_\_ \$750 299.2 -----247 ...... ..... 1.111 -----..... ٩ 

Ē \_\_\_\_\_ -----------Ð -----..... 111111 ----

•••• \_ .... -Ŏ.

-::

<u>içi</u>

LOCATION

Ē

:....

.....

3 -----::: -----= 0

ENTICK FONUT 10 HE \*\*\*\*\* ---------

1 -----Θ ----

-10 Э. D, <u>.</u>

TITAL CONTRACTOR 10 

LONG TROFNAL STACK PCS FRAM Inverse Fram Inverse Fram Martin 11 (<u>....</u> 6 Ģ G <u>....</u>

1 -----11:1:1; i ii .... 2

20

đ 

> 60 80 10 40 CALIBRATIC ALRSH"HD & FRUTS

÷

----

÷1.== --------------···· ------1.... -----

---------=;--: ..... 

-----

GEAR DA

EXT STORES

-----

....**P** 

211

------. .... ΠË ..... 

-1-==== 

# -1-1

1

-11

# 1.111

248

3A 1111 FIGURE :..+ 11:1-STABLET TICLEONGUTUDINA ++ AH-56A USA 66 - 22.34 **SZN** 771 1<del>11</del>1 1 PROP ANG È <u>Cill</u> andss ...... E CONFIGURATION LDCATION n.JN NEIGH YNBOR 18.6 -18 RFM 5440 ...., 245 \$ 7 17,980 CLEAN GEAR DN ..... 298 .... IΞ <u>i::1</u> ..... ..... MNGLE F ATTANK F ATTANK F ATTANK F AND S ATTANK <u>- - - -</u> . . <u>.</u>.... ------•• Q--------**HD** 2 -**0**----------\* ..... 10 ----1.111 ..... ::#:: ..... 5 PEDAL POSITIÓN INCHES ERCO TULL LEFT TULL LEFT 4 = ------3 -..... Ø -----Q.... Ŧ i in . .... 122 10 -----11.1 LATERAL STICK POSITION VLINCH'S FROM CENTER CENTER FROM H ----1111 O G ----4 ġ. Ċ -10 Ē 5 5 10 90 :::: Ħ 訓責 HH. The second secon H -----Ø 甜菜 1 iii iii  $\frac{1}{1}$ 2 20 郌 9 #

P A

F



<u>3</u> A

H

Ħ

Шŧ

Ľ

II:

117



T T h

f 📅









助 ##

14

ΞÐ



150

A.P.E. I.JA

					54				U V Al S	ABL	1 Y Y						
			10			ž			\$~:99 	<b>***</b> #*			5H13	p			
STIL	¥1.		51 12 8	10	2110 IN	<b>.</b>		UDL	SP SI	20 71	ANC D	LT G	を見	LE G	COMP	ECURA	710
φ		- 18,	90	X	19.9		5440		2	47	5	8	- 28	5 - C	LUM	GEA	L E E
							0.0										
	u z										<b>)</b>						
	2																
		e e															
						¢			• • •		9						
																	<b>.</b>
											<b>0</b>						
						4											
	H.																
	Ŭ.																
	3						-0-0				0						
Ğ,	1																
											0						
	- 19 0																
											0						
							I III BANT		25			80	21				

251

ρ A F 

1.3A PIGHUE 6 STAT LO LONGITUDINAI STARTIET -<u>i.i</u> SGA USA 3/2 06-2334 RHUR COL PKOL GROBE Gie ANGLE SYMBOL ANG **王**和公 nPT **300** 20,050 ext stores Gear up 4850 5, 1.1 -1--1. jI ŧ -11 10 ••••• -----..... NOT AVAILABLE ...Ð NO NO 田田 0 \$ -----::::::: r.: !:: 9 9 **9**69 4 - 5 \*\*\*\* +++ H H 10 0 H.111 Ð Ū × ..... Ð ..... E + HF. 10 i. -EIE ------HE Ξ 0 **†**:#: 80 111 ±. ------1... <u>\_\_</u>\_\_\_ Ø 0 1111 T.T 10 Ë :[][[] ±∰ī -¢ Ē :11: 1111 ### ¶≣¦ Ein **UN** 180 200 40 160 Cae irrat 220 樹油油 CALINKATIN AIRCOLUD & CAUTS



- --

A.P.L. 1.3A

3

-

1.3A D F FIGURE 6 DIR C IONAL <u>up</u> STABLE 177 STATIC LATERAL #FF AH-56A LISA: 66 34. S/M CROSS C.G. DERSITY ROTOR WIGHT DEATION ALTITOR SPEED THE THAT ON ALTITOR SPEED THE THAT AREA PDP 51WF AIRSPIED AKCAS 59 CONFIGURATION ANGLE SYMBOL **NDEG** UDEG || 6530 244 298. 0 17,980 14.2 CLEAN SEAR DI 9.9 Ξ. ····· e.## 1117.1-1 ..... -<u>-</u> ..... :::::: i lini ni n ····· <del>....</del>Đ <u>Hiti</u> ::1:: -+= .... 1 ANGI N05E HEE 10 ভ \_ 1 1 1 ..... \_\_\_\_ 2 10 Ξ 9 9 0 Ŧ ÷н Η -40 G ----10 1 ..... Ē -----10 TUD ENAL FORCE g ē Q 1.4.7 0 • STICK F <u>\_</u> Ð ÷ ..... 9 EE: ۰*T* 2 10 H -----UDI WH NF1 0 -----------F-|} -----Tillit: πĐ **1**9 2 ЦЦП ΞĒ L NY SAN :: un: 蟗 **0-**------tni:tt 1 Ŧ ŦĿ 111 0 PEDA POSITION Ħ Ω. 3 1.1.1.1 ЩĤ 田田田 ΞĦ -199 in 2 1 1 20 R.C.I.T 311

254

ş

٩

C ALEXAL DIRECTIONAL S AF-DGA USA S/N 66 999 ÷. <u>.</u> 15 TAT ₽Ê. 5/A 66-88034 i GROSS VETCHT AIRSPER <del>IC: G</del> ROTOR SPEAD APPN DENSITY COL PROF ANG E ADGLE TOET DEG -COL SYMEOL LOCATION ALITITUDE CONFIGURATION ALB .÷‡∔ KCAS ) - 299,9 ΞΞ 245 7.8 ¢--8,330 299.9 5710 18.6 4 GLEAN GEAR UP ..... ·III · . . . . ------. . -- .... • • • • • . 1::: zab10 51 NOS US ..... ----THEN. ...... 111 . . . . Û e Q The second . ------10 ;:... 

KOLE NET UDE <u>...</u> ---------10 ...... -----Ø **9** :==1;= • -. **9**-- ( ----------f 111 ΞĒ 10 , :<del>:</del> Ţ i i i ₫ . ..... LONG FUDENAL STJCK FOROF VPOUNOS 10 ō 36 ₽: ..... 0 :#::: -----Ö - 0 88 Ð \_\_\_\_\_ -----11. 1.-.... ..... 10 ē, : : ÷ 1÷. ΪÌ 

STICK POS STICK POS CCNTER Û \*\*\* ÷O ------0 . 1 -: ----\$ = 2 Ð. .... 1772 atili 1-111

LA TRAL STUCK POS VY BOOM 0 ÷.: --t+ t ŧ Ð e Θ 3 ÷Ξ Ξ 6 ;;;;;;; 計畫量 G 1 19 Ħ 4

E3,# \*9 ÷Η H Π 13: ø iii 3 ΞĦ 20 20 1: ± 10 <u>in:</u> OF STOCKLIP ... DECR ANGLE RIGH

\*\*\*

A.P.E. I.3A



256

1.

2 martine



and a stall

189 C

12.2

D FICERE 12 ERAL OTRECTIONAL STABLE GA USA SZN 86-8880 :.:; STATIC LA ERAL PR7,0 A7,001 F 4,012 G GRD55 C.G. DENGLY WEIGHT LOCATICAL ALTITUDE 21 B SIN SFT çoil ANGLE ADTG CONFIGRATION SYNEO 180 B.9 5350 33 299.9 CLEAN GLAR UP 18,460 ..... • B 10 ...... ATTACK NOT / GILABLE Û **B** - U SC 4 <u>s</u> 10 ROLL Artifuue Durg E TU 6 RGI e e 5 10 -----: <u>-</u> 5 10 TORCE Ø 1<u>5</u> 10 -----1.111 đ Ŧ -= 080-0400 117 NOT IN IN 11 4 :#:, ŗ -----3 i je Prem 3h 0 2 20 Tip III ANGER OF STOLS

¢

A.P.E. I.3A

												****	*****		1111	11111	TIT	TTTT		1111	1111			.HTT		THE	:11.1	****	
	1	11111		++++	•	1	rt.1 <b>.1</b>	11111	*****	11111	11.1	.::::			77227	1111	1111		÷÷ ';		++++	11111	****	*****	111111		11111	*****	+++++
**** <b>†</b> !::::	1:	. 1112 .21	11111111	· ; · ; ·				1111		FRH.	D-1-1	****		++++++	mii:	2*11:	1111	*****	****	111.1			444	****	t:::.)	+++++	14414	****	****
	4	•• •• •				<u> </u>	1.11.1	11111		1.4.4	124		N		+++++	*****	***	*****	••••	****	****	****	11111	C1111			1111		
*********							1.1.1				+++	1114	****	+-+++	****	1111	:::::				11111	****	11-11	****	*****	11111	i		1111
		++- <u>†</u> <b>†</b>	. <u>t.</u> t.t* 1				: <b></b>	ALC:D	1111	-T1.Y	X64	11241	<b>н н н</b>		$\pi v$	++++++		******	****	:::*t	11+1	11111	121121		1				144
111.11 T	111111111	···	· · · · · · · · · ·				141	HHEH	υн	<u>14:</u>	19.1	÷:21	EDU		: <b>:: :</b> :						****				*****	11111		*****	
*******	**********	*****										***			****	*****	1111	*****	:::t:	1.111	****		11		111111	/ I ·			+++++
11111111	1			•	1			11111			1111	11111	1:12	11111	11117		1111			****	- + + +	****	11111	1****	1::1:	122222	:11:1	*****	++++
	·			<b>I</b> .		ι · π	13.2	CIA.	****	157		G#1	N+++	112:00		11:11		*****		++++					+++++		++++	****	****
				i		i -0				11217	11111	11.						****	111			1-111	• • • • • •	11111	*****	mm			
******	:t::t:::::t	1 1 1 2 2		i ',			11111	****			****	****	***	1. 12:11	*****	11111	121	*12222					1: 1		+++++	*****	÷•.••	*****	÷
111111		· · · · ·		1 · .	t ni	1	112121	*****	****	12.11	::-:1	*1111			11:17	+-++		*****	****		++++	1.11	t1		*****				
	<u> </u>			J		•••••	بملممة		****	+			++++	111111						1	****	****	+++++		1	111111	*****		7141
**** *		2.2.11.11	1	117 1		1.::-							1111		مه مید	*****	****	******	I	· • •	1111	11-11	1:::::		1.111		333 I	1111	
	1. XAA	88: - 1		B	1 115 110	IFF	¥ : 1	- <b>- D</b> -	flī i	312:1	:+ <b>f</b> *1	ÉĦN	1111	1:12:11	<b>X</b> 1.	<b>.</b>	+++				****	<b>₹</b> • • `		*****	* + + •	*****	111.1		
	1. 1. 1015-11	<u> 00::</u> _!		<b>U</b>	1 $2 $ $1 $ $1 $ $1 $ $1 $ $1 $ $1$	171			HI.	21144		2444	-		-11		****	to tu ct					A		11111	*****	* 114	1.3.2	1. 1.
	1	TTTL.		ti anti se		1	11:1	LH	HH.	4822	11141	TH	LH.	1		-GHI	HH4		A11	包书	2141	) M3	ι£Ω	Hi	*****	1	лын	12.7	12
evuor	M. 1:100	cur-		1. 7. 11 10	1 22 1.3	: 111	134-1	- 4	чн		++++	NH	HH.	1 1 1 1 1	: từ b	re	c Uti		un	L 71	JUJI	$\mu \pi$	120	çs —	1 + -	нан	HIN	12:11	Lift.
221101	7. 2.4	uu ii	1.00	a <u>m rea</u> te			H								++++			*****	+			1	12.22		1				
*****				11 I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	1		4		ti ti i	1++++	1. ta t	nt.	<b>*</b> ::::	111.70	C.A.	:•• Ω ••		+++++		+		1 111	*****	<b>#</b> ****	*****	tinit	*****	11111	11111
111 111		H- ++-	ree net	N'::::	11 - 1201	1 E.:-	*****	11111	77 F I	1.1.1	ан		<b>D</b> 411	1::::46		- تبا	****	*****	1111		1	2221	11177	1:12:	1.1.1.	1			
				2	1 Hat	4	1	-+-	75.2	12:22	1111	177		1	101	<b></b>			<b>E 4</b>		Q . 14	npi				1 ** 142	1 110	1.11	1
	<u>) </u>	HIT.	12.224	MT 1877	1 H.C.	111	* ***	+++++	711	T+	· · · · 4		444	4 -++++	HON	*****		TTTT.1	t+n	:t***	$\Psi_{-}$	หเบ	1H.T	11794	44.17	1 + . m	A 173	- 1 . M	44.44
	1	นมห-		ا بالهاد العد الم		ų∀-	1 *11	11111		r:::::	:::::			311111				*****	ે એ	14 8	A. **	tin:	11111	f :	1111	mm	<b>M</b>		r.::
	·1··· 1·:::1	*****		1 .	I .	4.	1 17			1 1 1	- 11	+++	*** *	j	****	::::1				1.0	TZ		tić	4	+++++	нuчч			
	+}{j#			+• <del>• • • • • • • •</del> • • • •	+	+	*****	*****	+		++++	111.1	*****		++++		1	1 +++	- H	1.1	<b></b>	<b>h</b> t::	1::::	1::		1	(111)	[]]]	(11-)
										1				*															

25,019 26,990 Horten EET ø .,; ., -1, -1, ...! Determined from liniñ. \_ flap beny rg ...... £î |  $\phi$ Ţ • 1-•• 4 ÷ 

,000 -1. **.** . . . . T.]-,000 10 ..... Ţ 5 -----------1 . . **0**69 1 14 ..... ų 퐈) ...... ÷₽Ę 1....

讍 :::E . ΗŦ <u>UII</u> ġ. handler. :::::: 1 ņ Ŧ -----E -----÷‡≣ ° ec 9 . **.** . . . -----

ATTICK POSTITION ATTICK POSTITION ATNOTES TROM CENTER \_\_\_\_\_ 7 .... HE: ..... -----iii. -----. -----1.1†1 T 11.01 늰 10 LICANSI THO TWO STATICK FORCE CEPUNITUS ----5 ŧ₽ Ţ :::::: ..... ------e Ó Ē -- ;

-----理問 44 <u>....</u> Ø POSTT O IS FROM t TE -----₫ i j E. ]]]]] 

255

A. 2 8 8

500

1.5 2.5 2.0 Ð,5 :::::: -AFFETERATION MORMAN

A.P.E. 1.3A FLGURE 14 MANEUVERING STAPILITY AH-96A USA: S/N 66-8834 - 1 - 1:2 -------- -DENSITY ROTOR ALTITUDE SPECT UFI RPM 3290 245 GROSS COLL Ç.4. LOCATION ANGLE AIRSPLED CONFIGURATION HOEG (KCAS) 5.4 120 EXT STURES MANEUVE YHOL WEIGHT 12, nt B 18 800 3DG 1 т Ю EXT STURES LEET WINE UP GEAR UP ---------TURN -----....<u>.</u> Derevatiand from main 20,000 Jo o rotor flap benting \_\_\_\_\_ 15,000 ...... 19.000 <u>...</u> 5,000 K STICK FONCE TRR havenues 1 906 - 16 | 19 CENTER CENTER ..... -:-900 - i -..... -----<u>....</u> 7..... 20 ----10-1-10-1-Ξ.Ξ L INCHES. FROM CE Q <u>-</u> -li 

260

Sterry and the

2.5

.

10.5

# A.P.E. 1.3A

								- Citru	DC	R							
							ANIETTI	CULT		171.77							
							212.07		2 23.6								
						_ДНя	56A	USA	S/N	pb+l25	34						
	- 681	¢.;			n <del>r sir</del>	FT1	RET	R	8 <b>-</b>		14						
VYURN	I-UF	49 <b>7</b> -	GLAT	iron=	AT FL	fine-	tor	5=	GT L	1185	PEED	CON	FIGUR	ATION		ALEU	IER .
	-	<b>p</b>	<u></u>		n.F		- PPL	· · · · · · · ·	ff f	181	Δ¢.						
D	17	50= <u>-</u>	290	0	621	0	241		5.4		50 r	LEAN	GEAR	-£ìb	LEFT	HIND	134
																URN	
	= :198	70	- 299		568	0	246		5.8		52	EXT	STOR	£S -	LEFT.	NAND	UP-
												<del>-</del> 6E	₩. BP			Furn.	
-		-000															
											Deter	niiner	fro	na l			
		dnu									rotor	Fiar	ben	11ng			
<b>X</b>		100															
E S		<u>,000</u>									1						
	_						r				* <u></u>						
1		,000															
											[						
	·····			{													
12	01																
	2					E											
	8							0 - E									
				3									· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			1	
	2																
	(.):(																
N N	2	· · · · · · · · ·						5-Q-	-Ø								
										Ø						·	
44	<i>i</i> n:								G								
	¥	2															
- V	2																
	1-5-11-1														1.		
				1											<u> </u>		
					1												
्रम्म									Ē						<u>,</u>		
-2010	in d																
	2								5	6							
1 X H		- D														1	
	<u>ry - 1</u>										Ē						
											Ē						
	19																
3.0	8																
128									1								
	10																
		7															
	2																
First	2.10										<u>E la la la la la la la la la la la la la </u>						
		3	6		0.5		1	0				2	0		2.5	<u>.</u>	
	** +\$` <u></u> \$}		********	*******	*****	1-1-1-1-1	ажныі	********	1:1:Hit#	11 1 1 1 1 1 1	1121111	N	1		1-+++-: 2	1-+++++++	

261

1:11

Ē

5 5

-+-

- F. - -

2.4

TGUR 16 . E. ..... MANEUVERINE STABLET Ŧ 3 AH-56A USA 57N 66-9854 .... -----------.... ..... ..... CONFIGURATION **HIM** ROTOR COLL DENSITY ..... GRCSS ....C..C ..... ALRSPEED SYMEDIC WEITCHET ALTITUDE SPELE ANGLE -2/6 ------KCAS ..... B T..... XT STORES LEFT WIND GEAR UP 3.4 191 EXI 5180 19,870 ,0 - O -..... ..... ..... 1.12 Determined from main ..... rotur flap bending. đ ---------Ş );0 ,00 Ø ..... • -----**`**⇒⊖ 5 ---------STICUES FROM CUNTER LINCHES FROM CUNTER .... 3 : Ô ..... 0 2 -----Eire ----..... 10 =:1 H 5 ιĐ Ŧ -----STOR -= Ø ..... 

ø -1---NCHES, PROM. CZM ð **J** Fii: 17 <u>n na</u> Ħ = -1.5

0.5

-D

262

FIGIRE 17

A.P.E. I.3A

1.11 -1---ANTUVERING STABILITY Ę ÷ USA S/N 66-8834 AH 56A n Hitt ting **C.G** DENSITY TREM GROSS ROIOR COLL ANGL ngeg 5,3 ALTITUDE SE10 SPEED ARPN SAHBOL WEIGHT AIRSPERD CONFIGURAT LOCATECH MANEUVE JOH n Kills LB. 1 EN · , · . . 17,790 CLEAN eet nind u<del>r</del> turn 46 299 fi 180 CLEAN GEAR UP 20,005 Ŧ -----------......... <u>.</u> 15,000 NOT AVAILABLE ALC: N -----H NOT 1,000-MATH R Ś ..... 1 5,000 ------------LAICENL 5 a -uni Chenod ~ NGT AVAILARLE 0 Ŧ ir# Ð. ШE ..... 1-֥ LENAL K. BOST TON E.B -Ē ..... ÷:--0 **0**5 S <u>.</u>... ------ T h STICK P u E. 1.E. ..... -----1 Ę ŧ ---------Ш. T to EAM Ē n -----0,-0 5 NG TED IN TAX TOPC LEPOWES ------H: Ŷ ..... **A** đ -----.i \_ C.NTER -------ļ, VGTUATAN K POSTTAO -----30 0 2 2 n# ----÷ 3 ir: -----2 n -----3.5 - 0.6 10 ΞΞ 1,5 G. XINAL ACCHIERATION & GIS <u>, 115</u>

\$

ŧ

263

المتحدث والمتحدث

FIGURE 18 MANUTVERENG STAFTLITY AL-DDA USA S/A CO-9834 ...... 1 ... 66-9804 -----::t::= COL TR 3 ROTOR DENSET 22090 C.G. CNFIGURATION AIRSPEED MANEUVER ANS: UDCATION SYMBOL nDEC HEIGH KCAS 1.18 EXT STORES 297.3 8.0 246 181 III TEFT WIND ..... 5210 19350 o GEAR FILRN ------\*\$,000 ...... ÷ Determined from main rotor flap bending 1\$,000 ≣Ē :::: Ð ..... 10,000 MARN ----------,000 ..... \_\_\_\_\_ .... ..... **:** ..... .... in: I ATERAL I CK FORU PCK FORU PCUCKUS \_\_\_\_**5** e C ----**----**Ø -----<u>.</u> . ... -----+ - -47 5 ----------F. 102 ő \_\_\_\_\_ 1 φ 0 E Ö 50 No. ----16 ..... -+ ..... ..... E ::::.:F -----.... 2 ..... ------ -----.... ---------3 · · · · · · 5 ..... -----------E 10 == 500 **I** ¢ 1 Ó 0 -0 147 ----4 ¥ ¢ = -=== E ...... <u>H</u>-3 -1= Ð Q, ..... 2 ..... -------11::: 蚩 3 0.5 1,0 1.5 2.5 đ ...... ------10 

11.00

-----



ŧ

13.20

1.







The A with the

,\*• •\*,

A.P.E. 1.3A

ŧ



Sec. S. 365



.....

nge

~ . .

ŧ


SE SAL MARDER

A.P.E. 1.34

ŧ

A.P.E I.3A

FIGURE 25 ÷ 中面 罪 **WIBRATION CHARAC** ERISTICS . ∃::tu: · HHH AH-36A USA SI/N 68 9834 FORWARD SEAT (STA 124) VERTICAL ORWARD PERSETY ROTOR DEDSETY ROTOR CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO SPIELO SPIELO CONFTINIENT AIT 111100 SPIELO 68055 C.G. Syaddi W 1937 Ioration 518 Jun 63 113520 299.0 D 20280 298.9 CONDITION G 19560 STATIC LONG GEAR UP ONG HAXIMUM LINIT MIL-H-BSGIA CRITSE <u>....</u> - **F** Ø o c 00 op. <u>.</u> HH H HHH: ŦŦ ΞĒ **D D** 66 0 0 ( 0 0 e 11 Ø ±≣ iqt Ō -₩EQ ΞΞ. **F** DO. Ħ о Ф 1 HII I -₽:Ē E. -i :#F ---------**G** 1112 T+ ŦЩ e. 9 ΗI Щ 111 - P 50 10 d. o 田田 E 126 80 1 100 160 TALLERA LED A REPLED KNOTS 271



24.18

A.P.E. 1.3A PEGINE 2A VIBBLICK CHARACTERISTICS AILSCA USA S/N 66-B854 AIL SEAT (ISTA 190) # ROTOR SPEED CONFIGURATION GRIXSS DENSITY ROTOR E G LOCATION AUTITUDE CONDITION SYNECU REIGHT ⇒ n RPM 100 C 5860 246 CLEAN GEAR UP 6 18580 STATIC LONG STATIC LONG 20280

MAXIMUM LIMIT MIL-H-BSOLA CRUISE 詽臣

`<u>+</u>!::: d **0 0** 4 E#E

iH -0.6 ::...t., 4 Ŧ 0,2 29 2 Ø 0000 Ø 1+++ 

-0 ----4 

b -

1 TH

G C 00 Φ.

**1** 9 3 6 9 100 - 120 A TRANSCO - 1 EL: - 30

273

The search



A.P.E. I.3A



ż



ŧ

A.P.E. I.3A

.... 1 FIGURE VIBRATION CHARACTERISTIC AII-56A USA S/N 66-8834 --11 -----AFT SHAT (STA 176) VERTICAL 111 11.1F C.G. i i GHT +;+++++ DENSITY RUSS ROTOR HE: CCATION VIN WEIGH **DN** ... SYMBO SPEED **UNF** I **JURA**T ION CONDITI 3 ..... мB RPM =..... -----4920 298.9 247 ÇLEAN STATEC LAT. DIR ·UP 18820 GEAR 1/1 515 ..... 1.1.1 = -----Hilli ...... Щ<u>.</u> H -11 -1------ŧ. ..... 3247 ----------..... ----------in pice ..... ----------seco a 5 in -----TIONY COLL ..... ..... Ш -1---------H 0.6 \_\_\_\_\_ . in: ==== in m -----...... ..... -----0,2 ----------.... \$00**0**00 :21 1311 8 Û \_\_\_\_\_ ..... . ==1 RUCELERAT .:‡: 03 <u>=</u> -.... -----• -----..... Ì Ø 0 ..... ΞĒ ----------Đ: <del>d</del>Ø: 0 - in ..... # -14 01 =17= t= ------:1:: 00000 L. ----II 11... ₩ ..... T iiii 1= . ÷. 00 0 0 Đ 26 0 ð - 20 - 30 u i DIG -41

277

FIGURE 32 VIBRATION CHARACTERISTICE 34 HB AII-SEA USA S/N 65-8834 -----AFT SEAT (STA 170) LATERAL GROSS C.G. DENSITY ROTOR SYMBOL WEIGHT LOCATION ALTITUDE SPEED ULS IN AFT DRPM CONFIGURATION CONDITION 2520 247 18320 208.9 GLEAN GEAR UP STATIC LAT.DI STATIC LAT DIR Ē -----:::!!::: 52 <u>Hil</u> ..... -----<u>11111</u> tee E He = -----\_1111 10:00 00000 ------1101 HH 0 111 0.3 ===== 0.2 r:q., 6 S 8/RE -------------------0, t 2 ..... ----ගාලංභි .... 51212 RATION ΞĘΞ 0 ;#=:: 0 4 -----@0**9**@ Ξŧ - D -----Ŧ 0,1 E MARK HT Ŧ ----0,05 1111 Ш **@ 59**0-9 12 2 ÷ # H ΞĘ 0,05 Ē ili<u>s</u>i 244 Ξi 11 000000 11: **B**b Ξ 1 20 36 ..... 20

A P.E 1.3A

:78

10

n c

- %. e

## **VPPENDIX I. APE I.3B TEST DATA**

This appendix contains test data obtained during APE 1.3E. Prior to APE 1.3B, the lateral control system was modified by adding 16 and 3.. hertz filters to the roll compensator, activating the lift/roll decoupling feature, reducing the lateral control effectiveness from 60 percent (APE 1.1 and APE 1.2) to 45 percent of Phase III design control cifectiveness, increasing the swashplate feedback, and decreasing the lateral for, play, breakout, and force gradients. Additionally, detuning weights were as a to the right wing and the aft collective control was detuned. All stability and control augmentation devices were activated for these tests. Tests were conducted at the following nominal conditions: 5000-toot density altitude, 100-percent rotor speed, 18.300- to 20,500-pound gross weight, station 202 (forward) to station 300 (aft) is location, and in both the clean and external stores configuration. Trim airspeeds for each data point vary slightly from the presented airspeeds because of the difficulty and excessive time to obtain an exas, trim sreed (para 27). This variation is not considered to have significantly aff . J the lata. The gross w ight, center-of-gravity location, and density altitude on the st. ic longitudinal stability, static lateral-directional stability, st ring stability, and cont.ollability figures are average values for the data mi , presc · .

## INDEX

## Figure

## **Figure** Number

Щ

TRURE 1 STABLE DTY 6-8434 USA\_ S/N COLL ANGLE CDEG innoi DENISE TY ALICE THE ME ABSID POTOR SPEED 田田 ROSS SYMBOL 1278 1278 9,8 299,1 日田 <u>HI:</u>, 

..... Hitz Q rutri ANGLE MATTACK MATTACK MATTACK MOSE NOSE **G** Ŧ. 🖽 10 

9 9 

L SHIRK POSTIT 

4 和压印 #1 

**0** NUR CONTRACTOR VIENCES FROM VIENCES POST I LON 7.6

20

CONF 15 IRATION ANGLE ÷ | + **NDEC** 1 14 CLEAN(GEAR DH) T <u>iilih</u> **=**];-·... 0 <u>.</u>

<u>3B</u>

p

۰. Щ li r. - <u>1</u>--1 ٠, it 🗉 9 7 1 .... 11 

**O** -1-15 tini E ΞŦ 副理 -----; ::: **9 9** 127 睈 ÷ 13 1124 -11

14. 詽 80 fi EE! <u>#</u> 

. . . .

2.24

5.

4#

A.P.E. I.3B

:::

PROPEZ ----------Щ<del>н</del> -"AH-561 USN 5/N 66-8854 # -----цĦ -----PROP ANCI II Reffort Spuid **7**,3 SITT COLL CHOSS G.G. ON PERMIT SYMBOL nx14 246 npec her. 181 O Ŧ 5,4 CLEANKGEAR UP) 30.0 H 日期 t The i o ¢ ini ::: 54 B Ħ Ī **5** 10 Ø ÷. 龃龉 Ш 臣臣 -----<del>Щ</del> i ir -------LAURAN STICK FOLCE VECOUNDS 10 .... Ţ <u>ф</u>т -----1= Ħ ..... Ì 10 ±± ==1:2 4 ΞĒ. j. ±: -----Q 0 -----::;:::: 1..... tz Ett. 0.... Oil 1 Ħ 10 F Ø 1 1 ₩# - **6**-Ξ ÷ O 山井井井 ŦŦ **T** Щ Ħ # ----111 <u>HIII</u> 160 140 200 1.00 0 281

ŝ

ŧ

~ ...

A.P.E. I.38

3 TIGIB TIDISAU SINEIC LONGI SEABLUERY XI)-564 (IS A 57 \*\*\*\* -PRO -----centi RULOR 50111) 1 8181 SYNBUX 211:11 113 OHE THN -01" 28 20080 45 0 247 i f 1 jp-] -41 EXIT STORE. GEAR ġ. <u>m</u>iliti M OF ANGLE OF ANITACK M TANGARERS R TANGARERS R TANGARERS R TANGARERS R TANGARERS R TANGARERS R TANGARERS 11-----Ŧ •••••• ••••• = -----\*\*\*\*\* 11171 1. **1** - 6 \*\*\*\*\*\* POSTITON VCHRS PRC 5 -Ē -----0 -In: -----..... LATINAL STRAT - IF I Ξ± ...... ------..... Щ, 11 Eie H ------------1 -1-LATERAL ACK POSITION AUCIES IRDW Lgubw BA <u>-E</u> <u>::</u>[ ----------...... -----HH I :::::: ÷ F Ħ 1 Ĭ ЕЩ : ÷==== 111 IC =t:. ----------Hit Ξ ₩Ē # 111 ----122 =<u></u>= Ξij. 11 11-1-1-LLONG RT UD 16 BEFECK PC STU BEFECK PC STU BEFECK PC STU BUND CONNERS **9.**... ₩Ē 11-<u>च</u>ाम: Щ ф #1 ++++ a 111140 200 1E 180 j 60 11111 **1:**# 12023

282

ţ

4

٢

D

.....

.....

. . .

1------

··...

•......

....

1

Ī

-----

-----

1.2

-

.....

E H

-----

---

÷

Ŧ:

4 TOXYTTUNINEXAY 1 STARTIN 5/31 66-83 **TISN** PROI ii 1+++ GROSS WE111017 - 18390 -----<u>[]</u> CONE STRATION. 4.EIE0 31 ч<u>н</u>н SYNHOL 177 B ŦĦ GEAR UP 3.7 CLIEA 1111 3840 292.3 : : : <u>.</u> <u>;</u>;;; D ÷ i . Ē Ē MUGHE NUGHE 111 . 10 -0 ;--1::: Û. 1 112 -

-• E 0. Q..... īi 11. 1 -----H 詚 ŦĿ --0 15 1<del>.</del>.... -...... 1 .1 - 91: 9 ÷E 1-1:11 1-1:11 ----

-12-1 ЩĒ -----:÷1-∺ <u>##</u>#7 1 - O ΞĽ 罰当 -**E** -11

LONGINULTIAN LONGINULTIAN VIENCIASI FILON VIENCIASI VIENCIASI FILON VIENCIASI VIENCIASI FILON VIENCIASI FILON VIENCIASI FILON VIENCIASI V 213: :::: Ţ Ţ Ţ - -----邗 1111 O I 0 E ТÌ! 1 : E E 聑 ШH 200 240 180 -149 t1+. 17 Ш÷ 11 

.

and the second

. برج

TATIC ATERAL DIRECTIONAL SIMMARY **F**.:: AT SEA USA C.0 -----TROSS IOCATION SYMBI9L I IGIT 51N 200 0 200 10 200 1 NB 7980 ..... 18070 18280 18530 -11 

38-33

ΨĿ

247 246 5260 5440 300.0 200 0 EXT STORES APE 1.3.A DEAX UP 200.9 19740 -----..... -----Points obtained from figures & through 12, appendix H and Figures 6 and 7, appendix 1 - I = I THE STREET -----

209.9

5....

5/N 65 88

DENSITY

ALTUDE

6530

4700

5390

IL STAELLE

RETOR

nRPM

244

248

246

SPEED

ŦŦ

1....

IGUR

2 12

· · · · ·

計畫

-----

<u>3 A</u> 13.8

.....

::

-----

÷

.....

===

----

Ξł.

CONFIGURATION

I FAN CHAR ON APT 1

GLEAN GEAN IN APE 113.A

OLEAN GLAR UP APE T 3.8

IL FAN GUAR DN APE

<u>i</u> F ----------..... -----------..... E ..... -----\_\_\_\_\_ 

• ĒŤ 444 COMPLEMENT COMPLEMENT INVITED \_ - 11 \*\*\*\* ----------

í. -----H .... ſ E 臣王 Ħ 200 16D 180 120 140-1 100. 80 60 A HIND ALLSO D & HIDTS

284

F IGURE 6 STATIC LATERAL JIRECTIONAL TABL AH-56A USA S/A 66-8834 ..... \_\_\_\_\_ ...... WEIGHT LOCATION ALTITUDE SPESD ANGLE ANGLE AIRSPEED ALB ALIN ALTITUDE SPESD ANGLE ANGLE AIRSPEED ALB ALIN ATT ARPM ACG ADEG ----CONFIGURATION SYMBOL ANGLE SHOLL ALLAND ..... ...... 59 4700 2.8 12070 200 1 CI FAN (SFAR (IN) O: 4700 眄 248 ł -----.... 11111 ..... ...... 10 - n .0 \_\_\_\_\_ Ð. 9--------ATTACK ----\_\_\_\_\_ , \$3 10 £. 1... ..... ----------64 10 1 11:1-0-0 \_\_\_\_\_ \*\*\*\* Ē 0 TOROL <u>\_\_\_\_</u> 1\_\_\_\_\_ -----.... ----inffi-. • • • LCNGHTU STICK STICK LCSH Đ. 9 Θ e. ..... -----10 ..... -----đ -----ALLEN CON 0. ------1..... <del>0</del> () ------2 **F** 0 ----------÷ •••••0 0 4 . -9 PECAL POSITION FECON FLUIN FROM FLUIN FROM FLUIN FROM FLUIN FROM . 9 PUSSIII 9-9 -----...... -----30 0 OF STORES OF STORES 137 PIGHT ANGUT 285

10. 1 Mar 10.

Colorado P

• •

Ð

đ



ţ

4

ţ

Шщ

------

A.P.E. I. <u>3</u>B

----

Ē

ð

	111			TITT	TT	11 TT	11111		11111	1		*****	*****	+++	* + + + +	+++++	4++++	+++++	4+	* + + + +	ŧ. +++		1	11111	1	*****	1		11111		11111	11111	1:::::	1111.	1 1 1 1 1	11111
117	***	* * * * *	****	*** *	*****	• • • • • •	*****		****	*****	*** *	*****	****	• • • • •	****	+++-	4+- +	4+ ++	*****	+++++	*****	***	*****	*****		*****	*****	*****	****	*****	*****	*****	1	1.444		*** '
***	***	** **	****	*** 1	**** *	*****			*****	***	*****	****	4 - ' - 4	***	*****	++++	41.4	イ・ディ	****			++++	*****	*****	*****	*****	*****	****	*-++		*****	+	*****	***		1 ++
+++	***		****	++++			****	*****	*****	++++	+ + + +	+++		*****	*****	****				*****		****	*****	*****	****	+	*****	*****	****		****	*****	++	<del>****</del> *	****	++++++
+++	+++	+ +-+-+-	++++	+++++	* * * * * *	► <del>4</del> +++	*****	****	****			+++++		*****	*****	4	4		1011		U.++ i	++++	*****	+++++	*** *	+++++	*-+++	*****	++++-	*****	****	4 * * * *	*****	+++++	*****	<b>†††† †</b>
· · · · ·		triania de la		****					A		****	4.4		د ـ د د د	1::::.	1		1	1		Fi			÷ • • •	+++	+ + +	*****	* * * * *	4	****	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	++	344	****	**-+	+ + + + +
<b>L</b> ++	444	* * * *	++++	+++++					44444	+++++	1	1	1	1	LITT	TILL	1	12111			11/11/1	1.1.1		44444	4 + + + + +	*****		* * * *				** **		4		****
111				1111	1114		1				11111	11.11			TAT			THE			<b>H Y H</b>		Milli	1		11411	1.11.	1			1		A + +	***	4	
111	1.1.1		مملنا	1.1.1.							1111.	11.11	1					<b>T. LAL</b>		U 1 77.	N I.I.I		11111			A . i i .	1. i.e.						1			
	ш						1		TITL			1			****		10.00						TTTT	TITI	T	11111	1	1	1		TITLE	111-1	11111	11111	TITL	
ITI.	TIT			11111			I.T.T.T.T.	11111		1-1-1		*****	*****		*****	*****	221T1	++1+1	*****	4 + + + + +		11111		1.1.1.1.1	111	11111	11111	11.11	17.73	11111	11111	11111	11111	171.1	1.111	TITL
177	777						17-7-	11111			*****	*** -	****	++++		****	कृत स्वय	<b>4 17 1</b> 7	7 77	****			111111	11111	1 7 7 7	*****		1.1.1.1	1	11111	1	TITT	1	TITL	1	17777
	***	* * * *	****	*****	*****	*****	+++++	*****	*****	****	****	++++	* * * * * *	++++	*****	****	****	****	+1++	****			11111	****	*****	*****	****		1 * * * * *	1			1.111	11111	*****	
1 * *	+++	• + +	++++	4 +++	*****	*****	*****	+++++	*****	+++++	****		* ***	4444-		A-+++	++++	A+++-	10-		E- E	++++	****	++-+-	• + + + +	** **	* * * + + -	i * *-	****	+ • + + +	****	1++ +	4+	++	****	++++
	***	****	++++	****	****		*****	****	****	++++-	*****	<del></del>		****	nni			****	4		<b>PF1</b> -4			+++++	****	+++++	****	****	****	++++	****	+++++	****	****	*****	****
	+++	* * * *		++ ++	• • • • • •	*****		+++++	****	++++	*****	+-++-	****	44 4 4 4 4	ны	A	بليد بالما	41 <del></del>			4 M + i			+++-+	****	*****	*****	+ -+	****	*****	****	+ •	*****	*****	* * *	+-+-+
	+++	++ +-	****	++++	+ • • + + •		****		****	*****	*+++*	*****	****	****								++++	****	****	****		*****	++	<b>+</b> • + + .	+ + +	*****	** *	1	+++ -	*****	++ ++
	***	****						*****	****						1						1		1	1 1 1		i	* * *	•	* * * * *	· + + + -+	4	+++-	-	4	<b>+</b>	
- ÷ ÷	÷÷ 4	<u></u>	÷1++	. <b></b>				+ + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	41-44	++++	1.1111	Listi	L::::	11111	TITL	1111	ITTE		11111	IIIII	11111			+ + + + +	L + + + +	****		+ * * * *	4	· * * * * *	4	44	1 + ++	4+++	4 ÷ ÷	4
<u> </u>			<u> </u>	1					Las i i		_		1.1	1 = = =	1	1111	1	_	1	11111		1 1 1			مفصفة	L					1					
622	ILI			1	17132						11111	11111			17	1.11		TIT	I I.	THE			THE	EX L.L.			111111		11111				14111	11111	11111	11.1
111	111		11111	11111	13711	1.0.7	1::::		111113		11111	1 1 1 1 1 1	• <b>•</b> • • •		***		11111	T1R()		TTT			ICTIC:	<b>R. 111</b>		1	11	1	1	1	1.111	11111	1111.	1.1.1.1.1.1	11212	1 · · · ·
111	111				A		1-1-1		PATE:		1	*****			** + + + +	****	<b>Y 🕶 </b> 🖬	***					1	14 9.4	11111	1.111	1	1 11/	17 77	TITI	11.11		11111	11111	1	1.7.1
111			10 11			** ***	1	+++++	11111	1-+++		*****	*****		+++++		****	+++++	• + +		· · · · ·		<b>T T T T T</b>	11111	17373	11.1	I	1	1		1	I		LILL	177	1
							_			_						_								_												
							T			<b>T T I</b>	<b>TTT</b>					1			з т												1171		1 1 1 1 1 1			
144	ΥÐ	HQ4	++++	+++++	100	HOH	F	++++	¥- 44-	T: T (	<del>10-</del>	- 71	I T I	HT.11	ne:	1115	ᆱᄃ	<del>111</del> +	I A	- Alfri	-		+++++	<b>~</b> #+	****	÷	+ -++	***	1-11	H # 1	++++	· • • • • •	11111		<del>81\/+</del>	-++
D,	۲ħ	Bt		1		ЮH	<b>F</b>	11:6	БA	ŦĦ	<b>₩</b> .;	ΠA.	LT:	ΠIJ	DE:	1.1.1	PE	ED:	1 A	<b>d</b> iti		≕A	ШK	511	11-5	<b>i i</b>	1.54	11:±	titt	K#L	11-0	<b>N</b>	1144	441.	Ψ¥I	;#
F	ΥĦ	₿ţ	L:	E	WE .	ЮH	I.	H.C	K.A	T.I.	11	A	Ē	ΠIJ	DE		肥	<b>₽</b> ₽₽		<b>di</b> fe	HE:	=₿	蓝	Þ₽1	142		20	lt:#	ţU	K#1		11	119	uvt.	Ψ¥I	<b>;</b> #
E	ΎΙ	ÐÇ,			<b>#</b>	ŔН	I.	4.	ΓĄ.		1	A	I	ΠU	PF.			<u>FII:</u>		<u>t</u> tti		=#	ᄨ	pr i	12		30	lt ±	þU	K#	10	1.		<b>441</b> :	μ¥Ι	H
F	ΎΪ	₿Ç	L		<b>//</b>	ЮH	Ē	1.6	ι.			A	I		<b>PF</b>					di Gi Initi		#	B	DI L			1.31		<u>tiu</u>	KA		1		<b>441</b> .	UVI	H
F.	۲ <b>Π</b>	₿ţ			<i>#</i>	QH Q		1.6	Â			A			<b>PE</b>					dig Fil		-1		ÞF I FAS			31		<u>tiu</u>	KA I		N		UN1.	UVI	1
<b>F</b>	1	₿ţ				ЮH 8		1.6				A	.] 1	T T	DE	1			<i>f</i>	DE DE		-8		ÞF1 CAS			10		bU	KÆ I		N				H
<b>H</b>	۲ <b>۱</b>	Bţ				ЮH 8		1.0	СA NI			A		T	DE 		PE RP		<i>f</i>	DE DE	e G	-8	IX X	ÞF1 CAS			1.01		bU 	KÆ I	10					
		B(				RH B		1.6	KA NI			A		T	DE 		PE RP			DE DE		- 1	IX X	DP1 CAS			40.		μU	KÆI	10	N				
<b>5</b>		Bţ				QН 8		4.6			1N	A		T	DE.					DE		<b>^</b>	ЦХ Х				AC.			KÆ I		N				H L
	YD 	BÇ.	<b>L</b>								1N -	A		T	DE.					DE		*	цк К о				<u>дс.</u>		uU E N	K /A   	10		e r			
	Y I	BC C	<b>L</b>			QH 2 10r		1.6	6.1 1.1			A 4	-	T		1	RP RP		. f	146 DE 7		<b>-N</b>					46.	lt t Ct	uU FA	KÆ I	10	N				H D
	Y)	B(				8 8 100			6A 61 101	1 1 1 2		A 4	- 1 84	T T	DE.					DE 7		<b>^</b>		511 CAS D			46.	lt = C±	uu EA	KÆI N	10		<b>.</b>	L K	uv: IN	H D
	Y N	В( Ф			ис 13 18	8 8 100			6A 61 101	1 1 1 1	11	A 4	- 84	T T	DE.		RP RP 48			DE 7		<b>N</b>		D D				lt = C1	UU EA	KÆ I	10				UVI IN	D.
	Y <b>n</b>	В( Ф				8 8 100			6A 61 01	1 1 1 2	11	A 4	- 84	1 1 0	DE.		PE 21 48			DE 7		<b>^</b>		D D				C1	EU EA	KA N	10					D.
<b>A</b>	()	Ø			ис 18	8 9 100			6A 61 01	1 1 1 2		4	- 84		DE 					DE 7		<b>^</b>						C1	EU EA	KÆI N	10					D.
	Ϋ́́Λ	D D				8 8 300			64 61 101			4	84		<b>DE</b>	1	RP RP 48			DE 7		*	1K 1K 8					C1	EU EA R	KA N UP	10				IN RN	Ð
	Ϋ́́Λ	Ø			71 18	8 300			64 61 01			4	- 84		DE	n				DE 7		<b>^</b>	1K 1K 18	5P1 CAS 0				C±	EA R	KAI N UP					UVI IN Riv	D.
	Y I	Ø				8 8 101				1 N 2		4	84	1 1 0			RP AP			DE 7		1	8	5 <b>P1</b> CAS				C±	SU EA	KA N UP					IV IN RN	D.
		đ				8 300			64 1 101	1 1 2		4	- 84	<b>T</b> <b>T</b>	<b>DE</b>		РЕ 81 48			DE 7		_A	8					C1	GU CA	KA H UP				UNI I K I II	UVI IN RN	D.
	Y I	Ø			94 1.5 1.5	9H 10C			64 61 01	1 N 2		4	84	) 1 0			PE RP			DE Z		<b>A</b>	8	>r1 CAS 0				C1	EU EA	KA I I IIP			E.F	UNE I K I I	IV IN RM	D.

Ē <u>FUED</u> .# -----Hitti 1:1:1 ----**T**.... ..... 44 ηĒ :1: 詽相 H -\_\_\_\_\_ E 111 

LAT ORAL ÷ 5 .... = \_\_\_\_\_ -0 ð :::::: .... 5 L -----<del>انتي</del> ------= ..... -----CINER 1 r. -----4 \_ ------2.F÷ ---------------<u>...</u> E# H \*\*\* 12111

UNCRES FROM CI • ..... ÷ Q 8 ------..... =HHH 122 2 -----.... Ŷ -1.HH 4 4 11:0 --------

AVEL THE ENVIL THE FORCE APPLICATES Ø 5 ----------<u>144</u> LONGT LONGT LONGT LONGT LONGT LONGT LINCHES FROM CENTER LINCHES FROM CENTER LINCHES FROM CENTER LINCHES FROM CENTER ==::= Ø 1.... 1:1 1.11 Ш ĒĘ -----E. Ø ΞĦ # <u>i:::</u>: THE .... 圖 

- **1**3 Ħ Ħ . .... 25 1.5 2.0 Ξ 1 0.5 0 Ē ŧ. T. ACCEPTATION V GIS IOHMA , . **HEE** ----# -++ IIII

287

- Contract - Contract

A.P.E I.3B FIGURE 9 MENEOVERING STACILITY <u>iii</u>i S/11 (16 8894 ÊĦ 1111.H ALLBEA (ISA 11 Hitti \*## C.G. DENSITY ROTOR LOCATION AUTIFUDE SPEED COLU TRIM ANGUE AIRSPEED CONFIGURATION MANEUVER ### GROSS SYMBOL WEIGHT <u> v</u>fi **WAE**C -----KOAS WEB : HİH 5.8 4630 242 0 18420 119 GLEAN THEFT WIND 300.8 UP TURN GEAR UP # :::::: ..... HE -----..... ЩЩ Щŧ ..... **₩** -----LATERAL STUCK FORGE «POWIDS 5 ----Till Here 0 Ö 5 :<u>----</u>-11 ШH ĦΠ ..... NIT R İ ..... 0 K POSITI E ...... **O ,** -------#### 2 :-LI ST -----\_ D..... ..... **/**---Ξ ete 10 K HORGE OUNDS -----DINA Ē - ------124 ψiç i n 0 Ğ, .... ..... 1 Ŧ LTAL LTAN LECALER 0 ..... ::: <u>.</u> ..... ġ, 8.7 -1 LONG T STICK 2 = -----101 1.5 0.5 2.5 Ð 2.0 詽 ICENAL ACCEPTION Ē -11 31 Ë -**H** <u> - - - -</u> ÷

288

9. . . S

------

NAC NO POLICE

~ ...

ſ

ł

ŧ

٩

1

														MAT		E E	I GU RIN	RE G	SE SE	) A.B.J	11	TY										<u></u>			
													AH	-	A		SA	\$		1ă		85													
				Ċ	æ	5			. (			DE	NS.			R	oto	R	4	ILL			TR	IΜ		:.: :, :									urn
\$	YИ	BŪ	••••	Ц	51 (					10	1	AL				S		D		HUL DEC	6	A	RS KO	PC AS	Đ	C	ONF	11					MA.	4E1	NLK.
	Ö			1	85			13	Ю,	2		4	57	<u>)</u>			247						15	<u>1</u>				CI	ΕA	¥ П		1. 	E.F.	H	IND.
						 			1																			141		и(. 			Ŷ		
							1				::::: :::::				1:11			1.4										,							<u></u>
																			<u> </u>																
																				:			_								-				
14																																			
			韻			¢														۰. C															 
			56																				Q.			1									
		Ľ																																	
				c	2																														
		171		5		Ð																												,	
		2	2 I	2																															
						1														÷C		¢-	Q	X	<u>)</u>		i,			•			1		
						2																												: :: 	
		- <b>S</b>	26	1																															
																	2 2 2						Ņ	÷.	) 										
						Ħ												****		æ	2	0	Ø							-					
			21.9 21.9 7	3		Ē												, <i>2</i>	2																
																																+			
						0																													
														<u>.</u>																		<u></u>			
				f																					• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •								::···		
						<b>₹</b> 111																						iii E				••••			
			#10 8 8																<del>م</del> يوز 												:				
			Ş																																
11-11				i.																															
11-11																	i.n									- 2	h				2	6			
														G	1			 AC	ĊĒ	E	AT			6	i.s			<u>111</u>							

P F

A 35 FIGURE 1 MAN HIM RING STAROUTTY ΞĦ Hit ġĒ. ΞĒ AIL-56A LISA S/N 66-8834 -----SYMBOL WEIGHT UNSLIT **WORK** TRIM COLI 1414 ..... V ALTIIVOE SPERO SET SPERO SADO 247 - LOCATION ONF I SURAT MANE YER 300 CIEAR GEAR UP . IND: EFF: 0 18230 iiP IURN HE E ..... 117 E -Ele HE -----------Ð ..... ±Ħ \*\*\*\*\*\* 0 o e e (**T**) LATERAL SIJCKI POSITION LATERAL NUNCKES TROW CENTRA L 1 11 ### -----H. 1.446.4 3 0-0-0 183 -----÷¢ .... ..... -----------=E): Ø ..... -----LONGET UNITAL STICK FORCE Fright Public Fright Public .... 111 0.... ...... EE Ē EHH #.H.; Щ 1------G Đ 'iiit' 0 0 0 副調 ΕĒ #### 11111 ..... 2.5 ±161 -----

2.0 G'S 1,0 1.5 0.5 5 NORMERACE G. G. H <del>II.</del>HH

290

. THE

-

ŧ

4

ŧ



291

Sar - Caller

A.P.E. I.3B

J

ENGURE 113 MANUMERING STABLE **\_\_\_\_** -----ATHER USA SZN 65-8884 Ħ ROTOR GRUSS CDL TRI SPC10 247 Anci E ATRSPEED CONFIGURATION DES MICAS 3.8 152 CLEAN GEAN DP MANENVER HEIGH SYMBOL 19 17810 CLEAN GEAH DP HIGHT NEND 5500 UP TURN: -----..... ---------------E ------- -------------\_\_\_\_\_<u>\_</u>\_\_\_\_\_ -----------Ē ..... ..... ------ΞīΞ. = ------5 -1------2 ----------..... - |---1--..... -----..... H # -----ΞĒ -----Ēģ ł 77 E rĺ -----HE 壨 ŧ₽ =1 Ŧ 1.11 ₩ţ щĦ 1 <u>-----</u> 3 2.5 2.0 -ΗË -----1,1 19 цü 

292

•



i

4

<u>A.P.E. I.</u>3B



293

Edward Stars

- the set



----

FIGURE 116 MAMEUVERING STITEL 117 AH-56A, JSA S/N 66-9834 †#P Hann EROSS CLS. DENSITY ROTOR COLL TRIN SYMBOL NEIGHT LOCATION ALTITUDE SPEED ANGLE ALRSPEED CONFIGURATION MANEUVER ST. VET ARM COLS SKCAS 18040 - 293.0 - 4660 - 248 - 5.5 - 381 - CLEAN LEFT MANEUVER GEAR UP - UP TIRN

ŝ

1

iiifi

-----

1

出出 ╟╤╢╧ 1111111 5 ALEXAL STICK FORCE - -Ø 

**0** ∵.Ħu 1.1 4: N N : **|**== 4H. and the second second 

I LONGTUDI VAL S IGK DOCA VEDUNDS ME ANSI PARTE 

崋 

Ē 2,0 25 F -HE

295

1435

STA.

-





ŝ

i.

:

•

297

1... 11.11 249 38 ·0 14 田田臣 ЩТГ, 4 曲神 с. с.ч نب ا م 1:1: 1 8 Щ, ..... ШH Щ<u>і</u>: bota fned CONDITION -±4 4 ..... 111 Potras of through 1 :<del>63</del>:1 AND SEN 8 CLEAN (GEAR DY CAL STORES (GEAR CLEAN (GEAR DY CLEAN (GEAR DY CLEAN (GEAR DY CLEAN (GEAR DY COMFLEURATIO i in H H 1120 11 KN015 FIGURE A9F LONI KOL RESPONSE A USA S/N 66-8834 -----BO THE TOUL =1;; ц. . 15 KO K- 10 K- 1-\_\_\_\_\_ ÷. --0 .... .,.... A11-56A TY R0108 4001 SP9108 5248 2488 2488 2488 2483 HH £, ·:‡-1010 <u>u</u>u∰ F .... 1-1-2.20 Φ.... 127 FIL 2 -11-1 =1 Se Ø 5 ΞĒ ЩĤ n.<u>1</u>11 d 4:1-2 FE C **ir**!: 

A STATE STATE

ŝ

•

A.P.E. 1.3B



38 Δ p F FLOORE 21 齫刑 AND SENS TIVI CONTROL RESPONSE LONGITUDINA JSA S/1 66 2824 AH 50A **UAI** TB RETOR CDI DENSITY COMPIGURATION ANCEL NIRSPEFD NKT SPEED LOCATION SIN SYMBOL NDEG RPM CUEAN (LEAR ON) CUEAN (LEAR ON) 11850 2409 5740 747 9,6 7 7 299.3 300 0 0 -1 ЩЩ ;;;;f<u>r</u>t ACCELERATION ACCELERATION SCIENCIES ACCELERATION ACCELERATION <u>i</u>ttir Sin ef E ø 0000 Έ ARE MAY PLUX 20 HE. ШĒ 1 Ø 10 **H**E -----:11 6 ----21 MALITERIAL AL (#1 BU C 000 ..... 0 ŦĒ 2 <u>1</u>1.1 0 21 0-<u>6</u>2-0 Ð <u>111</u> 11,14 **!** Шų **93** 25 

o Construction, S. LCK, DISPLACEMENT 1 2

ALT . 1 

300

Service of States

....

ž

A.P.E. I.3B



STATULE STATE

**B** - 11 Ħ

9 28 

▦ Ħ <u>i zai</u> ..... TTV TROTOR CONLU-TITUDE SYNERD TARGET CONCURSES NAME CONCURSES NA une 23 D. Response Ane S. S.M. 66-8634 

CONTROL Control Séa USA **S6A** ÷ \*\*\* N **7** 

ž 1111

411 

1

iii. e hörnts obtalsned from Troures 24. thru 26 11 ..... φÐ 

0

**0** 

0

tio -

**---**

0

120 × 1

ALRSPER

CAL LERATED

09

Ħ H

H

Ï Ŧ.

ii. 11

H.

Ø 

· · · · · · <u>.</u> ÷. ΗĿ ŧ Ŧ 

÷: 45 lii i.: 

Sara Asta



Service Service

JALLRAL nca ioa Nin SYMBOL 200 S 

**F** 

4760

5 30

e (995)

26

9.0

**O** 

Q

-t:

18370 :::: 蚶 o

80 1 == 60 40

Notes sector 20 • 20 0

-40 :# 

眭

CONTROL RESERVED CONTROL RESERVED E 564 CONTROL SAN DE SEVE E 564 CONTROL SAN DE SEVE THUT CAL TH 1011 ROTOR AIRSPEED ANGLE SPETD nuKT ...... CLEAN(GEAR LEY) 9.7 59 ÷. **100** 247 7.6 

т<u>т</u>3В

#

詚

Ŧ

Щ. Ц

<u></u>χĽ

三日日

-

-

1. 1---

----

Ρ A

**I** 

CONTINUEATION

Щ 

E R -----Ļ Ē -- ----曲 <u>- 188</u> 

-王 王 ATTITUDE LEVAVALLABLE ROL ----E Ŧ

Ð E la ₩ 

圃 

IROT

THE

sar i valente.

R


~ ...

₩Ē ;;::: ЩЩ EJ₩ 299 200 N CONDITION N HOVER (196-15 FT) R UP HOVER (196-15 FT) P HOVER (196-15 FT) P HOVER (196-15 FT) 711 - **G** - X -83 0.94 from figures -----...... 副題 Ħ e ext stores gen up ext stores gen u e etenn gene up e elenn gene up COMET GUIRATION ЩТ... obtained TIXITY ALL CONTRICT RESPONSE AND SENSITIA TUDE SPECIFIC COLLINE ENDERING REPORT STORES AND SENSITIA REPORT STORES E Ŷ -----------e Son to S 120 KNOTS # G HH ШĦ ATESPIE Ş. -----. . . . 1 680 9 360 1 5510 0 5510 Ē ----------BKATE -CAL ET. 1:1: ; ------٠÷ ΞË **Q** South WEIGHT 111 144 ------÷t ----Em ιĦΕ <u>g</u>#F Ŧ ΞĒ ŦŦ ę ЩП Ħ Ŧ ii l :Hiti ====== 1141 .1 ₩Į Hili-聑 **D** NEW VIJSTO VOJ KUJE PO INDUSTO VIJSTO TVIDA DALE DISZOVSZOBO I PO DISZOVSZOBO NIMA DISZOVSZOBO I PO INOVIJENO I PO INOVIJENO TVIOT PO IN 田 

306

and all and all



3 B

1.

ŗ

1

# **11** 

TRIM

;;;;=

<del>40)</del>

----















307

AUSAUNE

A.P.E. I.3 B LONAL CONTROL RESTONSE AND STREETIVITY AL-SCA DISA TRAD STREETIVITY 

JIRECTIONAL CONTROL RESPONSE AMULIANSI LIVER

MILLINGA
USA
37N 6648834

GROSS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
COLL
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
COLL
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
COLL
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
COLL
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
CALTB

METORS
C.C.
SCINSTIN
ADTON
ALTITION

METORS
SCINSTIN
ADTON
ALTITION
ALTITION

METORS
SCINSTIN
ADDEC
ATOSPTED
ADDEC

METORS
SCINSTIN
ADDEC
SCINSTIN
ADDEC

METORS
SCINSTIN
ADDEC
SCINSTIN
ADDEC
SCINSTIN

METORS
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN

METORS
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN
SCINSTIN

METORS
SC il!! 111 SYMBL 30**0 6**1 ##1,6##伊 Fiit 邗田 ĒĿ. ЩĘ ηĒ E HH π÷ 20 臝 Iri 



i

Ś

309

---

l

ł

t



1994 - Y

ŧ.

Ş



l

ŧ

ł

;

t

311

<u>ाण्ड्र</u>ास्





ĺ

ŧ

:





đ

315

100

\* ...

į

ŧ

ž

ŧ



Ĩ

l

\*



ROTOR ..... TALL ROTCK POPER UNAWAILARS ..... -----11111 ------3 iii) :::F: 

NGT TUO TWAL ..... Fil-2 ----------12 E )...... Ì -----D. . -----..... ...... - ---------....

Ξ 0 ------T ----ЩP †∐i≓ Φ 2 -----

∰ <u>Hi</u> HUMA 11 # .... .... ill. 21 ΗĒ 1111 11: 1,1 H ir:: 214 10 20 20 10 80: ALESPERO L KNOTS Ξī 317

-1. F. 103





2000 - 14

and the

l

A.P.E I.3B



319

A. 30

- ...

1 mil

1:2:4

PIELL

.....

A PDUNDS

2

H.

E O NG

Р E I 3B А

譜

::ir

Ē

.:-::÷

----

11

= HIGURE 41 LOACITUD INAL STICK COLUES KHU 41 . Ŧ ...... ORCES MEASUREL AT CHAITS . -----÷. -----TOTERS STAFTONARY \*\*\* NUMER IN OFFICE :: ---------------. O SENSOR AIRSPHED = 0 -----STICK CINTERING OFF COLLECTIVE BLADE ANGLE = -----2.8 -----

TATERAL STICK CUNTERED ..... <u>.</u> -55 T ÷. ------40 ------== 25 -----e Ø 20 2 / 15 : :: Ø ø \_\_\_\_\_ ..... 1.:11 ----

-----ΠÐ ---------F 5 ::±•? ----..... 5 ..... ΞĦ 111-1 10 Ø 15 N N 20 -..... 

25 -1 1 30 ++++ 177 7 13 35 Ħ ÷ -An THE . TORILIZED LONGTHIN INAL STICK RESITION & INCLUSION C NTER 

E SET.

أيرقمه

1.50







A.P.E. 1.3B ILCURE 45 LATERAL STICK FORCES ATLECA DEC:578 66-89856 PORCHE MEASURID AT CLITER OF GRIP ROTORS STATIONARY NUMBER TWO FYDRAULIC SYSTEM OPHRATING DYDRAULIC AND CLICTRIC POWER FROVIDED BY GROUND POWER INSTE COLLECTIVE BEADE ANSIE = 2.8 STICK CENTERING OFF LONGITUDINAL STICK CENTERED ΗĒ ł 1 LONGITUDINAL STUCK CENTERUD <u>i</u> -----1 -iiin: ----------h Here 4 343 . . . . . 1.12 ΞĒ. **E** 20 ele entre de la companya Enterna de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de la companya de **200**0 Evel Projections: -----10 ..... **\$** :f#HE -20 <u>п</u>.,, ΞĒĒ l ni -20-**xicht** Ħ Ŧ ii: STICE POSITION V INCHES FROM CONTRA 4

324

- UL CON

ŧ

ALC: NO

		I FORCES	
	A#456A 13	A SZN N-8834	
		mrox 1	
	ROIDES STATICNARY		
	NUMBER TWO HYERAUL SC		
	stsiun operating		
	moralite and alle ok	¢	
	POWER PROVIDED BY	ISRCIUND	
	1'ULA     RAV     - 7 . D . 10.	1945/S	
59		P I I I	
		p = p p + z	
40			
		$\neq \neq \varphi$	
		es /	
20			
Z		æ	
10		8	
	23		
	l gg		
	<b>9</b>		
	9		
	I ISOAL POSTILON 6	INTIME FROM THE LITE	

325

The set while the

et an man and a second

1161211		
UNCI	<b>JASS</b>	u-ied

Security Classification				
DOCUMENT CONTI	ROL DATA - R	& D		
Security (Instition of title, body of abstract and indexing a security its Alliva ACTIVITY (Corporate author)	unotation must be e	24. REPORT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION		
US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS TEST ACTIVIT FDWARDS AIR FORCE BASE, CALIFORNIA 9	Y 3523	UNCLASSIFIED 26. GROUP		
ARMY PRELIMINARY EVALUATION RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AH-56A CHEYENNE COMPOUND	ON I AND ACCEPTANC HELICOPTER	E TEST I,		
4 DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and inclusive dates) FINAL REPORT 18 December 19	70 through 27	7 May 1971		
AUTHOR(S) (First name, middle initial, last name) <b>N</b> FLOYD L. DOMINICK JR., Project Engineer GAR GARY L. BENDER, Project Engineer PAU RANDY D. McCLELLAN, Engineer MAR	Y C. HALL, L L G. STRINGI VIN W. BUSS	TC, TC, US Army, Project Officer/Pilot ER, MAJ, CE, US Army, Project Pilot 5, Project Pilot		
CREPORT DATE MARCH 1972	78. TOTAL NO O	F PAGES 7b. NO OF REFS		
RDTE PROJECT NO. 1X123625D192 b project No. AVSCOM PROJECT NOS 70-02 and 717	USAASTA PROJECT NOS. 70-02 and 71-17			
	9b. OTHER REPORT NO'S) (Any other numbers that may be assigned this report)			
d	No	one		
Distribution limited to US Government agencies of Other requests for this document must be referred ATTN: AMSAV-EF, PO Box 209, St. Louis, Miss	nly; test and d to the Com ouri 63166.	evaluation, March 1972. manding General, AVSCOM,		
12 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 12 SPONSORING MILITARY ACTIVITY US ARMY AVIATION SYSTEMS COMMA ATTN: AMSAV-EF PO BOX 209, ST. LOUIS, MISSOURI 631				
The Army Preliminary Evaluation I and a Acceptance Test I were conducted periodi helicopter by the US Army Aviation Syst 23 December 197). These engineering tests army evaluation of the aircraft at various s Primary test objectives were to gather stability of the AH-56A, to assist in determining flight of previously identified problem areas. None encountered in the contractor's development control migration with airspeed was not object to provide rapid deceleration and to control excellent feature. Five deficiencies and 54 s are (1) excessive pilot workload due to u characteristics at low airspeed seriously impairs unaffected by conditions of darkness or adver and loss of control during some maneuvering decay following simulated engine failures wh present transient limit, (4) inadequate direct (5) excessive vibration levels in portions of th should be a prerequisite for an airworthine correction of the shortcomings is desirable. To envelope size for future Army ests until co Further testing of the AH-56A is recommer	portion of a cally on the ems Test Act were divided in tages of the ca and control da envelopes for fu- of the rotor program were tionable. The co- ol airspeed ind hortcomings w inacceptable s the capability se weather, (2 flight condition ich allows the cional control e flight envelo ss release for wo deficiencies rrection of the inded.	the Research and Development AH-56A Cheyenne compound tivity between 30 January and no five distinct phases to permit ontractor development program. At to provide an early assessment uture Army tests, and to examine dynamic instabilities previously noted during these tests. Lateral capability of the pusher propeller dependently of dive angle is an were identified. The deficiencies tatic lateral-directional stability to operate at minimum altitudes ) uncommanded aircraft motion ns, (3) rapid rate of rotor speed rotor speed to drop below the margins in sideward flight, and pe Correction of the deficiencies operational Army aviators, and warrant a reduction of the flight ose deficiencies is accomplished.		
DD 1 NOV 65 1473	<del>الدينية العدر مين الكريني العر</del> 	UNCLASSIFIED		
	and the second second second second second second second second second second second second second second second			

UNCLASSIFIED

.

		LINK A		LINK B		LINK C	
	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WΤ	
Army Preliminary Evaluation I Research and Development Acceptance Test . AH-56A Cheyenne compound helicopter Stability and control deta Airworthiness Flight envelopes Five deficiencies and 54 shortcomings	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT	ROLE	WT	
						80	
		UN	CI_ASS	IFIED		,	

. . . + .